




Any business, like the Rubik’s cube, may

have 43,252,003,274,489,856,000

strategic options for one correct solution.

But unlike the Rubik’s cube, business

solutions involve people and emotions and

the right solution depends upon your vision

and goals.
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India Infoline is among the largest,
most diversified and de-risked
financial services players in India
today.  

Our pedigree
Started in 1995 as an

independent business research

and information services provider;

now evolved into a one-stop

financial services provider.

Managed by competent

professionals with impeccable

track record and with a deep

understanding of the Indian

financial services space.

Our product offerings 
Broking (Retail & institutional,

equities and commodities)

Credit and finance

Asset management

Wealth management 

Insurance distribution

Investment banking

Our presence
Headquartered in Mumbai, India. 

Pan-India distribution network,

comprising 758 business locations

(607 branches, 151 franchisees)

in 346 cities; international

presence in Dubai, New York and

Singapore.

Listed on the BSE and NSE.

|India Infoline Limited
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Our memberships 
NSE, BSE (securities trading).

MCX, NCDEX and DGCX

(commodities trading).

NSDL and CDSL (depository

participant)

Registered as a Category-I

Merchant Banker.

SEBI-registered Portfolio Manager.

India Infoline Investment Services

Ltd. and Moneyline Credit Ltd. are

registered with RBI as non-deposit

accepting non-banking financial

companies.

Our portal
www.indiainfoline.com, the

Company’s flagship portal, is

recognised as the most

comprehensive information

resource centre with an incisive

analysis of Indian business, 

finance and investments.

Commenced operations

1995

Promoter’s holding

33.4%
As on March 31, 2008

FII holding

27.5%
As on March 31, 2008

India Infoline team 

14,000+
As on March 31, 2008

India Infoline clients 

800,000+
As on March 31, 2008
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Our vision
To become the most respected Company in

the financial services space.

Our milestones

1995
Incorporated as an

equity research and

consulting firm with a

client base that

includes leading FIIs,

banks, consulting

firms and corporates. 

1999
Restructured the

business model to

embrace the internet;

launched

www.indiainfoline.com;

mobilised capital from

reputed private equity

investors. 

2000
Commenced the

distribution of personal

financial products;

launched online equity

trading; entered life

insurance distribution

as a corporate agent.

2004
Acquired commodities

broking license;

launched Portfolio

Management Service.

|India Infoline Limited

Vision elaborated from the perspective of various constituencies

Employees Customers Shareholders Society

Best place to work in Deliver value De-risked business Governance

Rewarding career Delightful experience Sustained growth Innovation

Personal development Integrity & transparency High returns Global respect
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2005
Listed on the Indian

stock markets.

2007
Launched a proprietary trading

platform; inducted an institutional

equities team from the incumbent

leader; formed a Singapore

subsidiary; raised over USD 300 mn

in the group; launched consumer

finance business under the

‘Moneyline’ brand.

2006
Acquired membership of

DGCX; launched

Investment banking

services.

2008
Launched wealth

management services

under the ‘IIFL Wealth’

brand; set up India

Infoline Private Equity

fund.

Our mission
To become a full-fledged financial services
company known for its quality of advice,

personalised service and cutting-edge
technology.
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During the last few months, risk

awareness and aversion have increased

across the world. While during periods

of easy liquidity, most market

participants underestimated and

underpriced this risk, there is a

widespread concern given the record

price of crude oil for its impact on

inflation and disposable incomes.

However, what is more worrying is the

incidence of inflation in food products,

the first time such an instance has

occurred in decades. What is alarming

is its feared impact on the bottom of the

pyramid, threatening political and social

stability in countries and reflected in

stock markets and currency markets

volatility the world over. 

Like market participants, many

businesses also undermine the

significance of risk in favourable

periods, when they are single-mindedly

pursuing business growth and profits.

The pursuit of the latter is quantified

and reported quarterly and then

multiplied by a factor for the

computation of shareholder wealth. The

leveraged response to risk and rewards

is even greater in financial services. Our

systems, processes and controls have

stood the trial by fire on days of extreme

volatility and proved robust enough to

handle multi-sigma deviations. We

continue to invest in strengthening these

risk management systems for the benefit

of customer and company.

We remain sanguine about Indian

economy’s capacity to sustain long-term

growth, with services accounting for a

bulk of the incremental growth. We are

also confident that financial services

industry will grow manifold over the

next 5-10 years. However, what we

cannot deny is that the growth curve

will not move steadily upward but more

likely to be a scary roller-coaster in

gradient. 

The management of your Company is

therefore focused on building a business

model that will be progressively de-

risked, through a five-pronged strategy:

People driven by an owner’s

mindset: While companies would like

to claim how well they invest in

people, it works the other way round

for us. We create owners out of

people not only through a financial

stake but also through autonomy to

take decisions, make mistakes, learn

from them and grow their confidence,

careers and competence. It is our

experience that when we have such a

model of liberal ownership, people

invest their heart, soul and mind in

the business. The sheer energy and

vibrancy of our workplace is attracting

an increasing number of professionals

with an exceptional track record. We

are also extremely selective about

people who join us at the leadership

level with an emphasis on their

alignment with the Company’s long

term vision, goals and values.

Capital: Nobody can over-emphasise

the importance of being adequately

capitalised in a financial service

business like ours. During the last

financial year, we raised over Rs 11

bn in our Company and its

subsidiaries. This will allow us to

invest in our core businesses and

sustain growth.

Operational excellence: Even in the

worst of times, we resist mindless

cost-cutting. However, what we do

emphasise is the highest level of

operational excellence where we can

maximise value and customer delight.

We continue to invest significantly in

technology to reduce recurring costs

and shrink turnaround time,

enhancing our customer experience. 

Business mix: We remain focused on

financial services. We are building

teams with professionals possessing

the best credentials, broadening our

service offerings to encompass the

Chairman speaks 

‘De-risking our business for sustained growth.’
Nirmal Jain, Chairman, India Infoline Group

|India Infoline Limited
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entire range of financial services

(except commercial banking). The

beauty of this business model is that

while it leverages the existing

infrastructure of people, technology

and processes, it generates multiple

revenue streams, reducing our

vulnerability to a single business or

cycle. As a result, our business model

is akin to a Rubik’s Cube with six

faces of different but vibrant colors

and yet part of an integrated cube. 

Global expansion: Your Company has

already commissioned subsidiaries in

major global financial centers. We

now propose to leverage the ‘India’

edge and build research capabilities

to cover regional markets. We will

focus on our core competence and

domain understanding of financial

services; we will leverage our

research and relationships with

institutional investors to expand

overseas, effectively mitigating risks

associated with a single geography. 

As you are aware, we have established

a competitive position in the area of life

insurance distribution and retail broking.

During the year under review, we added

two new engines of growth, namely

institutional equities and investment

banking. I am pleased to say that we

gained a credible traction in both within

a short period. Our team is now

confident of graduating these businesses

to leadership positions within their

respective spaces. In the area of

institutional equities, our research

reports have received wide acclaim from

fund managers, corporates as well as

other bodies. We proved our investment

banking capabilities by successfully

advising placement of a GDR issue, the

third largest till date from India, in an

adverse environment. As I write this, we

have done the groundwork to add

another powerful engine of growth in

the form of Wealth Management

business through a subsidiary. We have

put together a team of professionals

with the best credentials with a

substantial stake in the subsidiary.

Presently, there are a number of global

uncertainties affecting our business,

added to the haziness about domestic

policy decisions during an election year.

This is not the first time that we are

passing through such a chaotic

environment, nor presumably the last. I

am an optimist and believe that sooner

than later oil prices will subside,

inflationary pressures will abate and the

Indian markets will see a pull back. The

central elections will be behind us in

2009, and the structural growth drivers

will be back in play. Leaving aside near-

term volatility that could last for a few

months, the medium-term outlook

continues to remain reasonably sound. 

We believe that we are building an

organisation that will not only survive

such turbulence through competent de-

risking, but also emerge stronger. As we

have demonstrated in the past, if we

manage risk and uncertainties better

than our peers, such times will emerge

as periods of great opportunity, helping

us fortify the foundation of our business

and improve competitive position.

Nirmal Jain

Chairman, India Infoline Group
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Profitability
610-basis point increase in EBIDTA

margin from 33.2% in 2006-07 to

39.3% in 2007-08. 

70-basis point increase in net margin

from 26.9% in 2006-07 to 27.6% in

2007-08. 

25.3% return on average capital

employed in 2007-08 compared to

28.7% in 2006-07.

Shareholder value
Enhanced basic earnings per share

from Rs 16.3 in 2006-07 to Rs 35.6

in 2007-08. 

A final dividend of Rs 6 per share

translating to a payout ratio of 25.1%

in 2007-08 against Rs 3 per share in

2006-07. 

Proposed 1:5 stock-split.

Business divisions
Broking: In the equities broking

business, the Company increased its

market share on the NSE from 2.2%

in 2006-07 to 3.4% in 2007-08. It

reported one of the highest gross

broking yields of 11.6 bps during the

fourth quarter. Average daily

commodity volumes increased 44%

to Rs 0.2 bn. 

Insurance: Life Insurance Agency

income increased by 80% to 

Rs 1.1 bn during the same period.

Credit and finance: The consumer

finance business (brand name

'Moneyline') gained traction with the

loan portfolio increasing from Rs 940

mn in December 2007 to Rs 3.3 bn

in March 2008.

Investment banking: Revenues

increased 473% to Rs 0.2 bn

following increased traction and

induction of experienced

professionals.

Asset Management: Mutual fund

distribution income increased 27% to

Rs 0.2 bn.

Wealth Management: The Company

formed a separate subsidiary (IIFL

Wealth Management Ltd.) and

inducted seasoned professionals to

spearhead this initiative.

Presence 
Commissioned offices and

subsidiaries in Singapore and New

York to offer wealth management

services to the NRI community. Going

forward, it also plans to offer broking

and regional research- based services

from these locations.

2007-08 in retrospect

|India Infoline Limited
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Added 190 business locations in

2007-08, increasing the number of

business locations from 568 as on

March 31, 2007 to 758 as on

March 31, 2008. 

New business verticals
Strengthened the institutional equities

business with a four-member senior

management team inducted from the

incumbent market leader; that helped

boost sales, trading and research. 

Commenced the consumer finance

business under the Moneyline brand;

business portfolio size was Rs 3.3 bn

as on March 31, 2008.

Increasingly de-risked
portfolio
The Company distinguished itself

through its rich product range and

service offerings comprising broking,

consumer finance, insurance, asset

management, wealth management and

investment banking. These businesses

are synergistic yet diverse, resulting in

an effectively de-risked business model.

While equity broking was the single

largest revenue contributor in 2007-08,

the consumer finance and investment

banking businesses are growing rapidly.

Road ahead
The Company has formed a separate

subsidiary, IIFL Wealth Management

Ltd, to provide focused wealth

management services to Indians,

resident as well as non-resident.

The Company has applied for an in-

principle approval for sponsoring a

mutual fund.

The Company has applied for an

insurance broking licence to IRDA

and is working out a blueprint to

distribute life insurance products of

multiple principals and general

insurance products.

Online & other 
Media 15% 

Online &
other Media 8%

Revenue split 
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“The important thing about a problem is not its solution, but the strength we gain in finding the solution” – Anonymous
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Business segment -1

Broking
Highlights, 2007-08

Revenue from equity broking business grew to Rs 5.9 bn in 2007-08

from Rs 2.3 bn in 2006-07.

Revenue from the commodities broking business grew to Rs 166.4

mn in 2007-08 from Rs 120.3 mn in 2006-07.

Achieved gross broking yield of 11.6 bps in fourth quarter mainly due

to improved turnover mix.

The institutional equities business saw a scale-up during the year

following the induction of senior experienced personnel. 

155%
Revenue growth

200%
Increase in

customer base

Our Institutional
equities business is
conducted under
the 'IIFL' brand
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Achievements 2007-08
Retail broking business

Increase in business locations to 758

(607 branches and 151 franchisees)

against 568 locations in 2006-07.

Nearly tripled client base to 0.44 mn

against 0.15 mn as at end March

2007.

Substantial improvement in branch

productivity.

Institutional business
The hiring of experienced personnel

helped s       ubstantially scale up

institutional equities business during

the year. The Company is now

empanelled with almost all large

institutional investors, domestic and

foreign.

The product was re-launched during

the year under the IIFL brand. A

strong research, sales and  trading

team is now in place. Detailed

research coverage was initiated on

over 120 stocks and a number of

thematic, sector-specific and stock-

specific reports were published. The

‘Inside India’ report, a detailed

compilation of 25 maps covering

various facets of the Indian economy

and industry, proved to be one of the

most acclaimed reports produced by

sell-side research. 

Higher contribution from this segment

was one of the key drivers of

revenues, market share and average

yields.

Commodity business
38% growth in revenue from Rs

120.3 mn in 2006-07 to Rs 166.4

mn in 2007-08.

More than 10,000 new clients

added.

While the market wide fall in Equity volumes was about 29%, the broking revenue for the
Company fell by only 11% in the fourth quarter of 2007-08.

|India Infoline Limited
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44% growth in average daily trading

volume.

Proprietary trading platform,
‘Trader Terminal’
Rationale
Typically most brokers use trading

platforms which are developed and

managed by vendors. But this usually

hampers the addition of features as per

client requirement in time and in line

with the regulatory norms. The Trader

Terminal solves all these problems

admirably since it has been developed

in-house. 

Features of Trader Terminal
Trade in BSE, NSE, cash and

derivatives all in one screen.

Live, real-time access to your DP,

Ledger besides funds transfer and

funds payout.

Customisable risk management

policies.

Low bandwidth consumption, works

fine even on an ordinary dial-up.

Real-time, tick-by-tick update and

streaming quotes.

One-click access to multiple technical

analysis tools.

Research inputs powered by Forbes-

acknowledged research.

Equity broking (Cash and FAO)

Equity Brokerage (Rs mn) Average daily volume (Rs mn) Number of clients NSE market share (%)
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“Focus 90% of your time on solutions and only 10% of your time on problems.” – Anthony J. D'Angelo
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Business segment -2

Credit and finance
Highlights, 2007-08

Revenue growth of 470% during the year to Rs 1,646.9 mn in

2007-08 from Rs 289.4 mn in 2006-07.

Raised Rs 4,382 Mn and Rs 259 Mn from Orient Global Tamarind

Fund Pte. Ltd. (Orient Global) and Bennett Coleman & Co. Ltd.

(BCCL) respectively.

Monthly origination crossed Rs 1 bn in March 2008 compared with

an average monthly origination of Rs 320 mn in the third quarter of

2007-08.

Portfolio size of Rs 3.3 bn (March 31, 2008) against a portfolio of Rs

940 mn in December 2007.

New products launched during the year are loans against mutual

funds, personal loans, loans against commercial property and

promoter loans. 

Initiated multiple customer touch-points; at the branch, over the

internet, over the telephone, which generated a good response.

Created application and behavioural science-based credit-scoring

models for objective and fast underwriting. The models are currently

under implementation.

470%
Increase in business

income

Rs  

3.3 bn
Portfolio size

Our consumer finance 
business is conducted
under the 'Moneyline'

brand
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India Infoline Investment Services Ltd,

with its subsidiaries Moneyline Credit

Ltd and India Infoline Distribution Co

Ltd, is engaged in the business of

consumer finance, SME financing, loan

against shares and distribution of

financial products.

Loans 
Overview

Started the distribution of own 

loan products under the ‘Moneyline’

brand in August 2007, mainly

offering secured products (including

mortgage loans) and unsecured

products (including personal loans,

business loans for self-employed

individuals and SMEs).

Currently present in 30 key Indian

locations.

Portfolio comprises mortgage loans

(75%) and business/personal loans

(25%). 

Key strengths
Access to India Infoline’s vast branch

network and distribution platform to

originate and service loans, enabling

the Company build scale at a faster

pace, significantly lower fixed cost

and also a shorter time-to-market.

Relatively easy access to capital

leveraging on the India Infoline

parentage.

Capitalising on the opportunity of

cross-selling to the existing customer

base.

Behavioral risk scoring techniques,

analytics, credit bureau usage and

centralised underwriting processes

leading to a competitive advantage

over other lenders who predominantly

employ a decentralised and manual

underwriting process.

Industry optimism
India’s loan-to-GDP ratio, at 0.3, is

much lower than its South-east Asian

peers. India's consumer-finance-to-

GDP ratio, at 0.1, is also lower than

its Asian peers.  

Retail lending is expected to touch Rs

5,750 bn by the end of 2009-10 at

a CAGR of 25%. (Source: The

Financial Express, April 09, 2008).

|India Infoline Limited

Source: CRIS-INFAC Source: FICCI

Outstanding retail finance portfolio Mortgage as % of GDP 
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Road ahead, 2008-09
Expanding geographical presence to

100 key locations in 2008-09.

Leverage India Infoline’s existing

distribution network to expand reach.

Innovation in distribution channels to

increase awareness and volumes. 

Introduce new products to match

diverse credit needs.

Focus on maintaining portfolio quality

by catering to the mid prime and

prime customer segments having

proven credit performance.

Improve customer servicing through

multiple touch points.

Continuous investments in technology

to simplify processes and systems.

Loan against shares
Overview

Conducts this business under its

subsidiary India Infoline Investment

Services Ltd.

Leverages the existing broking client

base

Portfolio of ab   out Rs 6 bn as on

March 31, 2008.

Key strengths
A rapidly growing customer base and

a wide reach leading to a competitive

edge in the loans-against-shares

business. 

Capital infusion during the year, will

help grow the loans-against-shares

business. 

Industry optimism 
Demand for Loans against shares is

linked to vibrancy in the capital

markets.

Robust systems and a large client

base in the broking business

providing large brokers (like India

Infoline) a competitive edge in the

loans-against-shares business relative

to smaller brokers or banks. Smaller

brokers have uncompetitive funding

limits and costs. 

Competition from commercial banks

in this business is limited because

their exposure to capital markets is

capped at 5% of their loan book and

Rs 2 mn per customer for loans

against securities.

Source: RBI

2007-08
Q2 Q3 Q4

Disbursal volumes

Mortgage loans 106 291 433

Personal loans / 

Business loans 587 1,229 1,416

Disbursal value

Mortgage loans (Rs mn) 188.3 562.0 1,720.8

Personal loans /

Business loans (Rs mn) 55.9 141.3 650.6

Indian urban and semi-urban window of opportunity
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“You have to risk going too far to discover just how far you can really go.” – T.S. Eliot
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Business segment -3

Insurance
Highlights, 2007-08

80% increase in insurance agency income.

Raised Rs 1,969 Mn from Orient Global.

Retained its position as the leading corporate agent for ICICI

Prudential Life Insurance Co Ltd, India’s largest private sector life

insurance company.

80%
growth in life

insurance agency
income

187,695
lives covered
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Overview
India Infoline entered the insurance

distribution business in 2000. It is the

largest corporate agent for ICICI

Prudential Life Insurance Co Ltd, India’s

largest private sector life insurance

company.

Strengths
A strong distribution network. 

High on the ‘Insurance distribution

learning curve’. 

Research-led advice to clients on

investment options based on the

customers’ financial condition and

aspirations.

Industry optimism 
The penetration of insurance in India

as a percentage of GDP was 4.8%.

Of this, life insurance accounted for

4.1% and non-life insurance 0.6%

(Source: The Hindu Business Line,

24.2.08).

A projected rise in India's life

insurance premium from 1.8% of

GDP to the US level of 5.2%, UK

level of 6.5% and South Korean level

of 8% (Source: The Hindu Business

Line, 25.12.07).

Projected doubling of the life

insurance market to USD 100 bn in

five years (Source: India Insurance

2012: Fortune Favours the Bold

report by McKinsey) with a need to

extend beyond narrow single-

premium policies and unit-linked

insurance products.

A projected increase in the payment

of average premia by an Indian

household from Rs 1,300 to Rs

4,100 by 2012. India's ratio of life

insurance premium to its GDP of

around 4% (6-9% in the developed

world) could rise to 6.2% by 2012 in

line with the country's evolving

demographic profile. 

A projected increase in insurance

coverage of almost 40% of India’s

urban population and 35% of its

rural population by 2012 as against

the prevailing levels of 30% and

25% (Source: The Financial Express,

11.9.07).

Outlook
The Company plans to migrate to the

insurance broking model; it has

applied for a license to the IRDA.

This will broaden its insurance

product portfolio and enable it to

market products of multiple insurance

companies.

It plans to distribute general

insurance products; it perceives

opportunities in cross-selling credit-

linked home insurance products to

customers in the consumer finance

business. 

It plans to strengthen its capability to

handle increased volumes,

comprising investments in call

centres and workforce automation

processes. 

|India Infoline Limited

Inside_Pages.qxp:Inside pages  6/16/08  12:29 PM  Page 20



21Annual Report 2007-08 |

India Infoline was the first corporate agent to be
licensed by the IRDA in 2000.

Lives covered Business locations Agency income (Rs mn) 
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Business segment -4

Investment banking
Highlights, 2007-08

Earned revenues of Rs 1,61.5 mn during the year, up 473% y-o-y. 

Successfully acted as the sole placement advisor for a GDR issue of

USD 151 mn. 

Facilitated capital mobilisation of over USD 200 mn during the year.

Experienced senior personnel were inducted into the team and the

total team size nearly doubled.

473%
Revenue growth
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“Fear of failure must never be a reason not to try something.” – Frederick Smith 
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Overview
The Company’s investment banking

effort witnessed an accelerated growth

during the year. Re-launched under the

IIFL brand, the thrust and the focus of

this business stream has been to

leverage on proven secondary market

placement capabilities, the institutional

research product, deep corporate

relationships, retail distribution strengths

and wealth management capabilities.

The team size has increased

significantly with the addition of

experienced personnel. 

The Company successfully advised

capital raising programmes of over 

USD 200 mn, across a wide spectrum

of clientele, in both the listed and

unlisted space. The successful

placement of USD 151 mn GDR issue

of a mid-sized construction and

development company, in which the

Company acted as the sole placement

advisor, illustrated the strong distribution

reach with the global and domestic

institutional investors base. The

Company is in the process of

strengthening its M&A capabilities.

Given the large and growing capital

needs of India Inc., the market

opportunity to act as advisors in

structuring and raising capital remains

attractive. M&A will also likely gather

further momentum, in the coming years.

The Company’s endeavour will be to

remain focused on client needs and

optimise fee income potential through

judicious deal selection, superior

transaction structuring and timely

execution.

Key strengths
Strong placement capabilities across

institutional, high net worth and retail

investors.

Strong reach among the leading

business groups in the country.

Deep knowledge of regulatory and

operating environment to structure

client solutions.

Separate and focused attention for

small and medium enterprises. 

Road ahead
Develop and increase the visibility of

the IIFL brand among Indian

corporates.

Significantly build the investment

banking team to originate and

execute more transactions.

Build credibility in the Indian market

as a genuine solution provider to

clients.

Leverage existing relations from

within the India Infoline group to

grow the business.

|India Infoline Limited
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Business segment -5

Wealth management
Highlights, 2007-08

Incorporated IIFL Wealth Management Ltd., a wholly

owned subsidiary.

Incorporated IIFL (Asia) Pte. Ltd., a wholly owned

subsidiary in Singapore, to capitalise on a large Asian

NRI base. 

Inducted a team of experienced professionals to

spearhead this initiative.

Designed structured products to be launched to cater to

various customer risk-return profiles.

Our Wealth Management
business is conducted
under the 'IIFL Wealth'

brand
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“An investment in knowledge always pays the best interest.” – Benjamin Franklin 
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Overview 
India Infoline launched its wealth

management business by setting up a

subsidiary, IIFL Wealth Management Ltd

(IIFL Wealth). This subsidiary’s

management team comprises

professionals with a rich experience in

wealth management and private

banking. It has already a PMS licence

from the SEBI. 

IIFL Wealth manages money for high

net worth individuals and small and

medium-sized enterprises through

investments in various asset classes like

equity, mutual funds, real estate, fixed

income and structured products, among

others. It offers portfolio management

services across all these asset classes,

targeting families with a financial net

worth in excess of Rs 50 mn.

A part of the Company will be owned by

employees, aligning the interests of the

relationship managers, client and the

Company.

Key strengths
Strong alignment of interests — in

terms of the fee structure — between

the client and relationship team.

Differentiated profit sharing fee

strategy; while the standard practice

comprises profit sharing on the basis

of absolute returns, at India Infoline it

is done on the basis of a ‘delta’

wherein the fee structure is based on

returns exceeding benchmark returns. 

Access to the widest range of asset

classes – the Company provides

unbiased advice towards either in-

house or third party structured

products. 

Road ahead, 2008-09
To build an image as a provider of

innovative products by introducing

new and differentiated products to

cater to the needs of the HNI

segment.

Significantly scale up assets under

management.

To emerge among the top three

companies in the Indian wealth

management space across the next

few years. 

Industry optimism
India’s GDP expanded by more than 8%

across five years and this growth is

expected to sustain over the foreseeable

future.

In India, there are approximately

70,000 individuals with an annual

income higher than USD 1 mn. 

The report titled "Overview of Indian

Wealth Management Market" reveals

that over the next four-five years, the

revenue from wealth management

service is expected to contribute to over

one third (32-37 percent) of full-service

financial institutions. (Source: Business

Line, Jan 23, 2008.)

The Indian market has been segmented

by wealth management service providers

into four categories, namely: the mass

market (investible surplus USD5,000 to

USD25,000); the mass affluent

(USD25,000 to USD1 mn); the high

net worth (HNW USD1 mn to USD30

mn) and the ultra-high net worth (ultra-

HNW greater than USD30 mn).The

lower rung of this pyramid is currently

clocking tremendous growth at 30% for

mass affluent and 27% for mass

market. (Source: Business Line, Jan 23,

2008.)
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The Indian opportunity
The wealth management industry 

currently registers a 30%-plus growth rate; 

and by 2012, India’s wealth management market 

is expected to be USD1 trillion, 

with approximately 42 mn households, 

over three-fold increase 

from 13 mn households today.

Source: World Wealth report 2007, CapGemini

Financial wealth forecast - Global HNIs 
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“You have to take risks. We will only understand the miracle of life fully when we allow the unexpected to happen.” – Paulo Coelho 
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Business segment - 6

Asset management 
Highlights, 2007-08

Applied for an in-principle approval to sponsor a mutual fund.

Added about 70,000 new clients in 2007-08.

Increased distribution mobilisation by 44% and distribution income

by 27.3%, due to an increased focus on equity funds. 

Constituted 2% of the Company’s total income.

About
160,000
clients

(as on 
March 31, 2008) 

Applied for an in-
principle approval to 

Sponsor 
a Mutual

Fund
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Overview
India Infoline is one of the leading 

pan-India mutual fund distributors for all

the leading asset management

companies. India Infoline targets the

retail segment, leveraging its existing

distribution network to reach prospective

clients. 

Strengths
Credible vendor-neutral platform

accompanied by comprehensive

unbiased research on the

performance and prospects of various

funds. 

Online distribution of mutual funds

facilitating an exhaustive product

comparison, informed selection and

minimal paperwork.

Doorstep service to customers

through product advice, information

dissemination, document and 

cheque collection.   

Industry optimism
India will retain its position as one of

the world’s fastest growing asset

management markets. The country will

see total assets in its fund industry

growing to Rs 12.8 tr (USD 325 bn)

over the next five years*.  The Indian

mutual fund market is expected to report

an 18% compounded annual growth

over the period.

* Cerulli Associates

794.6

1,396.2 1,495.5

2,318.6

3,263.9

5,327.2

|India Infoline Limited

Source: AMFI

Mutual Fund AUMs rising steadily (Rs bn)
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Road ahead, 2008-09
Filed for an in-principle approval for

sponsoring a mutual fund.

Continue the retail focus with an

enhanced focus on advising

investors.

Optimism beyond the horizon

A Boston Consultancy Group study indicates that managed assets in India are

expected to grow by 22% per annum to more than USD 1 tr by 2015. Almost 40%

of this growth is expected to be derived through mutual funds. The market for mutual

funds alone is expected to grow to USD 520 bn over the next decade.

** Invest India Incomes and Savings Survey 2007, by IIMS Dataworks

Only 5.3 mn individual earners in India have invested in a mutual fund, a mere 1.65% of the
country’s earning population** 

Source: NCAER

(Mn Population)

   Increasing mass-affluent and affluent segments

Annual Household Income

Rich (above $1,15,000)

High Income ($57,000 - $1,15,000)

Consuming Class ($23,000 - $57,000)

Working Class ($10,200 - $23,000)

Needy (below $10,200)

2

9

48

221

726

9

17

74

285

710

20

33

120

404

613

2001-02 2005-06 2009-10 (E)
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“Risk management at India Infoline is not
just one part of our business strategy but our
very business.” 
- Mr. R Venkataraman, Executive Director

India Infoline is in a business where

fortunes and realities change every

minute. 

India Infoline has developed a

comprehensive and integrated risk

management framework, comprising a

clear understanding of strategy, policies,

initiatives, norms, structured reporting

and control. This approach ensures that

the risk management discipline is

centrally initiated by the senior

management but progressively

decentralised, extending to managers at

various organisational levels, helping

them mitigate risks at the transactional

level.

The consistent implementation of this

framework is stringently monitored by

the compliance and internal audit

teams, supplemented by mandatory and

voluntary audits; the periodic reports of

the internal and external teams are

reviewed regularly by the senior

management. This disciplined system

and process review across all business

functions and geographies enable us to

capture an accurate image of the

organisation’s position at all times; it

also facilitates the immediate arrest of

any aberration. 

The risk management discipline at India

Infoline is reinforced through workshops

which are conducted by the training

team - an approach that helps percolate

it across all levels. These workshops

help the Company identify all possible

downsides and the probability of their

occurrence, the foundation of its

business de-risking. 

The priority is reflected in the institution

of the Company’s corporate risk

management team, comprising full-

fledged professionals as well as

experienced regional internal audit and

compliance teams headed by a Chief

Internal Auditor and a Chief Compliance

Officer. This team meets periodically to

review key risks that could impact the

Company, their corresponding de-risking

initiatives and their effectiveness.  

The result is that at India Infoline,

business decisions balance risk and

reward. This management of risk is

aligned with the Company’s positioning

and progress on the one hand as well

as consistent return aspirations, credit

rating and risk appetite.
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The fortunes of the financial services

industry are influenced by the country’s

economic progress. Any event adversely

affecting the economy can have a

dampening effect on the industry and,

in turn, on the Company.

Though the management is sanguine

about the long term prospects of the

Indian economy in general, and

financial services in particular, it is also

aware of the short term risks in terms of

market volatility. To address the same, it

is focused on building a de-risked

business model through a strategy

focused on:

People - Based on its ‘Owner

mindset’ philosophy, India Infoline

has a team of highly motivated

employees who act and operate as

owners. An exciting and vibrant work

place, coupled with attractive

compensation and growth options

has made India Infoline a preferred

employer. During the year under

review, the company has successfully

managed to attract highly skilled and

experienced professionals at key

positions to drive critical functions

and businesses. It has also

successfully managed to grow the

Feet-on-street for its retail businesses. 

Capital – The company has raised

over USD 300 Mn in the parent

company and its subsidiaries to grow

its businesses. A low debt equity ratio

implies that the company can raise

debt as well when needed. 

Operational excellence – India Infoline

continues to make investments in

technology and systems to reduce

turn around time and automate

processes by reducing the need for

human intervention. This will hold

the company in good stead when

business volumes fall, especially

during volatile times. 

Multiple business streams – Multiple

business streams ranging from

commodities and equities broking to

wealth management to retail

distribution of life insurance to

investment banking act like a natural

hedge against a downturn in any

particular segment..  

Industry risk
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With an increasing proportion of

revenues accruing from the broking

business, the Company may not be

perceived as the preferred financial

intermediary for discerning investors

seeking comprehensive business

solutions beyond just broking.

At India Infoline, our goal is to emerge

as a 'one-stop financial services shop'

for retail and institutional investors. The

Company currently offers the entire

range of financial services to its

customers (except bank deposits).

The Company has established a

presence in the following:

Mutual funds, as distributors for

almost all asset management

companies in India.

Life Insurance, as the largest

corporate agent of ICICI Prudential

Life Insurance Co. Ltd., the country’s

largest private sector life insurance

company.

Consumer finance, under the

‘Moneyline’ brand.

In 2007-08, the Company diversified its

product portfolio in the following manner:

Boosted the institutional equities

business through the induction of

experienced personnel from the

incumbent market leader.

Established a subsidiary, IIFL Wealth

Management Ltd to provide wealth

management services to high and

ultra-high net worth individuals

within and outside India.

The Company’s investment banking

business is also gaining traction.

Besides this, the following steps were

taken to strengthen this perception:

Applied for an in-principle approval to

sponsor a mutual fund.

Awaiting clearance from the IRDA for

an insurance broking licence.

The perception risk is also being

addressed through branding and

communication initiatives. The

company's marketing communications

highlight the fact that we are a one stop

shop for financial services and that we

have attained critical size in multiple

businesses. We also conduct investor

meets across the country where we get

an opportunity to directly interact with

customers and get feedback which is

used to fine tune our communication.

India Infoline has leveraged different

communication tools, namely website,

media, analyst meets and annual

reports to emphasize this differentiated

positioning.

Perception risk

An increasing number of players in the

financial services sector could lead to

stiff competition, making customer

retention and business growth a

challenge.

Over the years, India Infoline has

managed to grow all its businesses

despite stiff competition from banks,

established distribution houses and

existing NBFCs. In all our businesses,

we have not only faced competition but

also increase our lead. We have

invested heavily to create significant

business entry barriers that would not

just deter competition but would emerge

as catalysts for sustained growth. The

business growth and large customer

base were achieved in the face of

increasing competition due to the

following differentiating factors:

Research: The Company draws its

origins from the equity research

space, widely admired for its research

capabilities. Independent and in-

depth research on sectors and

companies coupled with a track

record in spotting winners

consistently ahead of the market has

strengthened the Company’s image in

the investing community.

Diversity: The Company provides

complete financial solutions to retail

and corporate investors.

Reach: The Company has one of the

widest distribution networks with a

presence across 25 states and 346

cities through 758 business locations.

Its online trading platform eliminates

geographical boundaries. New

business verticals can be dove tailed

with the existing network without the

need to incur major investments.

Technological superiority: The

proprietary Trader Terminal has

enhanced service delivery, introduced

real-time risk management,

strengthened efficiency and increased

delivery speed.

Expertise: The Company added skill

sets across various businesses. It had

established itself in the retail

businesses; it now inducted seasoned

professionals from the incumbent

market leader to kick-start its

institutional business. These multiple

skill-sets provide the Company with

the necessary bandwidth to manage

its various businesses across the

financial services landscape.

Competition risk

|India Infoline Limited
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Human resource risk

The speed of trade execution, reliability

of access and delivery of service are key

success determinants in an online

broking business, requiring robust

infrastructure and cutting-edge

technology. In this technology intensive

environment, any disruption of service

or systemic algorithms could affect

clients and the Company.

The criticality of an enduring IT

infrastructure is reflected in a single

statistic: a significant portion of the

broking business for the Company (the

largest revenue contributor) is now

online. The Company has invested in

cutting-edge technology to provide

clients with world-class experience; the

Trader Terminal, India Infoline’s

proprietary broking platform, is

testimony to this commitment. Some of

the key technological positives of the

Company include the following:

Multiple options for internet

bandwidth and inter-connectivity

leading to zero downtime in

connectivity.

Sophisticated firewalls to protect the

IT infrastructure against external virus

attacks; investments in technology to

detect inadequately protected nodes

across the infrastructure.

Restricted access to the software

development and logic areas of the

organisation with the provision of an

audit trail. 

The Company invested significant

resources in 2007-08 to strengthen its

technological advantage through the

following initiatives:

Replaced multi-trading platforms

(equities and commodities) with an

in-house developed, sophisticated

and feature-enriched Trader Terminal.

The Trader Terminal facilitates real-

time risk management across diverse

parameters to address the growing

needs of an increasingly challenging

business environment; it providers

greater flexibility in executing trades;

it disseminates knowledge and

provides numerous first-time features

to users.

Initiated the web-based browser

version of the trading platform,

providing investors with the flexibility

to login and check their accounts

from any location.

Created a sophisticated disaster

resource centre in Bangalore to store

data leading to 24x7 information

availability.

Overhauled the core network switches

to the best-in-class Cisco switches,

leading to zero down time.

Installed a Multi-Protocol Label

Switching (MPLS) network

connecting all locations with the

advantages of lower bandwidth cost,

faster data transfer, swifter

applications and additional

applications.

Technology risk

The criticality of the right mix of people

in a service business is aggravated by

the relative unavailability of qualified

and trained people. Besides, attrition

can stagger organisational growth. 

The Company recognizes the need to

focus on its human resources and it

aims to emerge as the preferred work

place by offering rewarding and

enriched careers to its people. 

India Infoline has managed to attract the

best talent because of its meritocratic

work culture and attractive

compensation philosophy of making

owners of employees. The Company’s

emphasis on its people assets is

reflected in a simple statement: ‘A

happy employee = a happy client’. The

Company fosters a healthy work culture,

endorsing ethical practices, providing

training and encouraging a work-life

balance through the following 

initiatives:

A rigorous training calendar for every

member.

Initiation of schemes to motivate

performance, namely the Chairman’s

Club and the Extra Miler’s Club.

An open communication policy and

an automated redressal mechanism

for time-bound grievance redressal.

The installation of an organization

wide HR automation solution to

streamline HR processes.
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A violation of or non-compliance with

the regulatory norms, which change

frequently to keep pace with the

dynamic external environment, could

stagger the Company’s growth and

tarnish its goodwill. 

The financial services business is

compliance-intensive, marked by different

regulators and laws depending upon the

business segment of one’s presence. The

Company created a full-fledged

compliance cell run by professionals with

rich and varied experience. They ensure

that all regulatory norms are met by the

Company. 

This team continuously monitors all

regulatory agency websites and

published papers and articles to identify

emerging regulatory requirements

applicable to its business with a

forward-looking implementation

framework and strategy. Every new

process and proposal undergoes strict

legal and compliance scrutiny.

In 2007-08, the Company embarked on

the following initiatives to ensure full

compliance:

Made available periodically updated

compliance manuals across all

departments and functions for a

smooth compliance with all regulatory

changes.

Conducted regular training sessions to

sensitise employees to the need and

criticality of being compliant.

Institutionalised the monitoring

system at the corporate, branch and

zonal levels by way of dedicated and

specialised audits; submitted

compliance reports to the audit

committee. 

Conducted regular audits of functions

and systems (systems audit, know

your client audit, off-market

transaction audit, quarterly and half-

yearly statement and the PMS audit,

concurrent audits for pay outs and

inspection of sub-brokers).

Instituted the system of frequent the

internal audit of al l branches and

functions.

Regulatory risk

Wrong identification of new businesses

and inability to scale up these businesses

can adversely affect the Company's

resources- financial and human.

At India Infoline, strategies are

formulated by the senior management

based on an analysis of various trends.

The decision of the Company to diversify

its business portfolio and start new

verticals (wealth management,

investment banking and institutional

equities) was based on the following

rationale:

Institutional equities: The BSE Sensex

rose 47% in 2007, rising for the sixth

successive year. The country’s

emergence as a preferred investment

destination was evidenced in the

following numbers:

The number of FIIs registered with

the SEBI doubled to 1,219 between

March 2001 and December 2007. 

Foreign institutional investors invested

a record USD 17.3 bn in Indian

equities in 2007.

Wealth management: India was

identified by Forbes as the biggest

source of billionaires in Asia, followed

by China, Hong Kong, Japan and

Australia. The wealth amassed by

Indian billionaires — estimated at USD

340.9 bn by the magazine — was

nearly 31% of the country's total GDP.

The magazine put the number of Indian

billionaires at 53 and the GDP share of

their wealth at more than four times of

the global average. India’s wealth

management industry is growing at

30%-plus; the country's wealth

management market is expected to grow

from 13 mn households to around 42

mn households by 2012. As per the

latest report by Celent, a Boston-based

financial research and consultancy firm,

wealth management service is expected

to contribute over a third of the revenues

of full-service financial institutions over

the next four-five years. 

Investment banking: India Inc. raised

more than Rs 1 lakh crore through equity

and convertible securities, the highest in

a calendar year (2007). The total funds

raised through initial public offer (IPO),

follow-on public offer (FPO), qualified

institutional placement (QIP), rights

issues, overseas equity and convertible

bonds doubled to Rs 1.45 lakh crore

during the year. Equity issues mobilised

Rs 58,722 crore in 2007, of which Rs

33,912 crore was accounted for by 100

initial public offerings (75 in the previous

year). As more Indian companies

mobilise capital to grow rapidly, the

investment banking sector will grow.

The cornerstone of execution for these

businesses was building teams of

professionals to execute the 

business plan

Corporate risk
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The unavailability of low-cost funds

could derail the Company’s growth,

impacting performance and image. 

Over the years, the Company has

exercised prudence in matching its

growth with its funds flow, ensuring

accurate asset-liability matching. Over

the last year, the Company’s capital

investment in its business was Rs

1,574.8 mn and its financial strength

was reflected in the following numbers:

Raised over USD 300 mn in the

group

Low debt-equity ratio of 0.3 in 2007-

08, representing scope for mobilizing

additional low-cost funds.

A cash profit of Rs 2.2 bn in 2007-

08, a growth of 140% over the

previous year.

Free reserves of Rs 16.5 bn as on

March 31, 2008, comprising 67% 

of the total capital employed and a

growth of 513% over the 

previous year.

The Company’s prudent business

policies and measures enhanced

liquidity:

Ensured timely liquidation of client

dues through an institutionalized

mechanism of periodic reminders,

followed by the sale of security in

case margins were breached.

Rolling cash management practice

through cash flow statements,

enabling the tracking of fund

shortfalls; such gaps were bridged by

availing of proactive additional

overdraft facilities.

The new business verticals were

largely fee-based revenue models

requiring minimal working capital

outlay, enhancing the Company’s

liquidity.

Resource risk

Debt-equity Free reserves (Rs bn)
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Directors’ Report

India Infoline Limited

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the 13th Annual Report along with the audited statements of accounts of your

Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2008. 

1. Financial results
A snapshot of the financial performance of the Company and its major subsidiaries for the year 2007-08 is as under:

(Rs mn)

Revenues Profit before interest, Profit after tax

depreciation and tax

India Infoline Ltd 6,724.4 2,772.5* 1,286.9 

India Infoline Investment Services Ltd 1,522.1 1,208.9 315.5 

Moneyline Credit Ltd 113.2 (19.4) (20.7)

India Infoline Distribution Company Ltd 18.4 (71.3) (56.0)

India Infoline Marketing Services Ltd 405.0 129.7 75.3 

India Infoline Insurance Services Ltd 688.1 (4.2) (41.7)

India Infoline Commodities Ltd 170.1 14.7 8.3 

India Infoline Media and Research Services Ltd 823.8 98.1 63.0 

Other subsidiaries 96.9 62.4 51.2

Inter-company adjustments (326.1) (169.2) (42.5)

Aggregate 10,235.9 4,022.2 1,639.3 

* Before exceptional items 
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A snapshot of the stand-alone financial performance of India Infoline Limited is as under:

(Rs mn)

2007–08 2006–07

Gross total income 6,724.4 2,867.2

Profit before interest, depreciation and taxation 2,772.5 983.4

Interest and financial charges 211.6 63.9

Depreciation 194.4 123.3

Profit before tax 2,366.5 796.2

Taxation - Current 793.4 260.7

- Deferred (20.3) 2.4

- Fringe benefit tax 10.9 11.9

- Short or excess provision of income-tax 5.3 0.0

Net profit for the year 1,577.2 521.2

Less: Extraordinary items (Net of tax) 290.4 0.0

Less: Appropriations

Dividend:

Interim dividend 0.0 149.6

Proposed final dividend 342.6 0.0

Dividend distribution tax 58.2 21.0

Transfer to general reserves 131.0 53.0

Add: Balance brought forward from previous year 474.1 83.5

Add: Other adjustments 

(profits of India Infoline Securities Private Limited added pursuant to merger) 0.0 93.0

Balance to be carried forward 1,229.1 474.1
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2. Review of operations
The Company has emerged as a strong

player in the financial services space

and continues to scale new heights 

on a sustained basis year on year. 

On a consolidated basis, the Company’s

income posted a strong growth of 

140% to reach Rs 10,235.9 mn, 

while profit after tax rose by 111% 

to Rs 1,598.8 mn. 

Income from the core business of

equities broking grew by 155% to Rs

5,896.6 mn, whereas life insurance

agency income grew by 80% to Rs

1,065.5 mn, income from distribution

of mutual funds grew by 27% and stood

at Rs 190.9 mn. The income from

financing grew by 450% to Rs 1,937.5

mn, whereas income from merchant

banking activities grew by 473% and

stood at Rs 161.4 mn. The other

businesses viz., commodity broking and

online & other media also showed

healthy growth.

The Company continues to strengthen

its network and by end of year had 758

business locations spread across 346

cities and towns. The employee strength

also rose significantly to 14,105 as at

March 31, 2008. 

3. Key initiatives
Your Company has taken several new

initiatives during the year. The new

institutional broking business set up

during the year has started showing

results and is expected to grow even

further. The institutional broking division

(IIFL) has entered into an exclusive

partnership with Auerbach Grayson &

Company, Inc., a New York-based

brokerage firm to offer US investors

premium access to invest in India’s

capital markets. Through this

partnership, IIFL will offer Auerbach

Grayson’s institutional clients in the US,

on-the-ground research and trade

execution. This tie-up will enhance your

Company’s distribution reach in the US.

The Company has launched consumer

finance business under the brand name

’Moneyline’ which has received a very

encouraging response. The Company’s

product offerings include personal loans

for salaried / self-employed people, loan

against residential, commercial and

industrial property as collaterals, apart

from business loans and loans against

securities.

The Company has identified Wealth

Management as another area of growth

in the future. In this regard, it has setup

a subsidiary, IIFL Wealth Management

Ltd., to provide focused services to its

clients. A seasoned wealth management

team has been established with proven

professionals from the industry. New

products are to be launched from the

first quarter of the coming year. 

With the addition of experienced

professionals your Company’s

investment banking services have also

gained significant traction during the

year. 

Keeping in mind long-term requirements

and expansion plans for the group,

your company has procured offices at

strategic locations in Ahmedabad, Pune,

Delhi, Rajkot and Chennai during the

year through a wholly owned subsidiary,

IIFL Realty Ltd.

4. Dividend on equity shares
Considering the strong performance and

in line with the payout policy, the

Directors recommend a dividend of Rs 6

per share of Rs 10 (previous year Rs 3).

The total outflow on account of dividend

payout (including dividend distribution

tax and surcharge), if approved at the

ensuing Annual General Meeting, will be

Rs 400.8 mn (previous year Rs 170.6

mn). The dividend will be paid to all the

shareholders, whose names appear in

the register of members/ beneficial

holders list on the book closure date.

5. Changes in equity capital
During the year, the following changes

were effected in the capital of the

Company: 

a) The authorised share capital of the

Company was increased from Rs 0.8 bn

to Rs 1 bn, pursuant to the approval of

shareholders in the Extraordinary

General Meeting of the Company held

on January 17, 2008.

b) Upon the exercise of balance

conversion of 1,000 optionally
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convertible bonds into equity shares, the

Company had allotted 588,235 equity

shares to DSP Merrill Lynch Capital Ltd

on June 7, 2007, at a conversion price

of Rs 170 per share as per the terms of

preferential issue and SEBI (Disclosure

and Investor Protection) guidelines. 

c) Upon the exercise of 2,600,000

equity warrants issued to promoters on

February 7, 2006, the Company had

allotted 2,600,000 equity shares on

August 6, 2007, at a conversion price

of Rs 170 per share as per the terms of

preferential issue and SEBI (Disclosure

and Investor Protection) guidelines. 

d) The Company has allotted

3,700,000 equity shares to Orient

Global Tamarind Fund Pte. Ltd.,

Singapore on January 30, 2008, on

preferential basis at the price of Rs

1,500 per share as per SEBI (Disclosure

and Investor Protection) guidelines.

e) During the year, the Company

allotted 47,500 equity shares pursuant

to exercising of options by the

employees under the ESOP scheme

2005. 

6. Deposits
During the period under review, your

Company has not accepted/ renewed

any deposits within the meaning of

Section 58 A of the Companies Act,

1956, and the rules thereunder.

7. Subsidiary companies
As at March 31, 2008, the Company

had following major operating

subsidiaries:

India Infoline Investment Services Ltd

Moneyline Credit Ltd 

India Infoline Distribution Company Ltd 

India Infoline Marketing Services Ltd 

India Infoline Insurance Services Ltd

India Infoline Commodities Ltd 

India Infoline Media and Research

Services Ltd

IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd 

IIFL Realty Ltd 

IIFL Wealth Management Ltd 

As approved by the Central Government

under Section 212(8) of the Companies

Act, 1956, copies of the balance sheet,

profit & loss account, report of the

Board of Directors and report of the

auditors of each of the subsidiary

companies have not been attached to

the accounts of the Company for

financial year 2008. The Company will

make available these documents/details

upon request by any member of the

Company. These documents/details will

also be available for inspection by any

member of the Company at its registered

office and also at the registered offices

of the concerned subsidiaries. As

required by Accounting Standard- 21

(AS-21) issued by the Institute of

Chartered Accountants of India, the

Company’s consolidated financial

statements included in this Annual

Report incorporate the accounts of its

subsidiaries. A summary of key

financials of the Company’s subsidiaries

is also included in this Annual Report.

8. Management Discussion
and Analysis
The Management Discussion and

Analysis Report for the year under

review as required under Clause 49 of

the Listing Agreement, is given as a

separate statement in the annual report.

9. Disclosure of employee
stock options 
Besides the existing Employees Stock

Option Scheme 2005 (ESOP 2005)

providing for 25,00,000 stock options

to the employees, the Company also

implemented an Employees Stock

Option Scheme 2007 (ESOP 2007),

under SEBI (Employee Stock Option

Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase

Scheme) Guidelines, 1999, as approved

by shareholders on October 20, 2007.

The ESOP 2007 provides for

1,500,000 stock options.

During the year, the Company has

granted 1,000,000 stock options

(1,500,000 stock options granted in the

previous year) to the employees under

its ESOP 2005  and 655,000 stock

options under ESOP 2007 out of the

ESOP pool consisting of unissued and

lapsed options.
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Following are the disclosures in terms of Clause 12 of the SEBI (Employee Stock Option
Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999.

Particulars ESOP 2000 ESOP 2005 ESOP 2007

Options outstanding as at 2,000 1,500,000 0

the beginning of the year

a Options granted during the year 0 1,000,000 655,000

b Pricing formula Rs 10 The exercise price may be The exercise price may be 

decided by the Compensation  decided by the compensation

Committee in accordance with committee in accordance

the Securities and Exchange with Securities and Exchange

Board of India (Employee Stock Board of India (Employee

Option Scheme and Employee  Stock Option Scheme and

Stock Purchase Scheme) Employee Stock Purchase

Guidelines and any  Scheme) Guidelines and any

amendments thereto, subject  amendments thereto, subject

to a maximum discount of 25% to a maximum discount of 

to the market price. 25% to the market price.

c Options vested 0 137,500 0

d Options exercised 0 47,500 0

e Total no. of shares arising 0 47,500 0

as result of exercise of options

f Options lapsed * 0 150,000 11,000

g Variation in terms of options None None None

H Money realised by exercise 0 7.13 0

of options (in mn)

I Total number of options in force 2,000 2,302,500 644,000

* Lapsed options include options cancelled/lapsed.

J Employee-wise details of options granted to:

- Senior management Mr. Nilesh Vikamsey, 6,000

Independent Director

Mr. Kranti Sinha, 

Independent Director 5,000

- Any other employee who receives a grant in any Mr. Prabodh Agrawal 200,000

one year of option amounting to 5% or more of 

option granted during that year
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Particulars ESOP 2005 ESOP 2007

- Employees who were granted option, Nil Nil

during any one year, equal to or exceeding 

1% of the issued capital (excluding warrants 

and conversions) of the Company 

at the time of grant

K Diluted earnings per share pursuant to issue Rs 20.1

of shares on exercise of options calculated in 

accordance with AS 20 'earnings per share'

l Pro forma adjusted net income and earning per share

Particulars Rs

Net income as reported 1,286,868,137

Add: intrinsic value compensation cost 59,974,467

Less: fair value compensation cost 171,803,467

Adjusted pro forma net income 1,175,039,137

Earning per share: basic as reported 24.3

Adjusted pro forma 22.2

Earning per share: diluted as reported 20.1

Adjusted pro forma 18.4

m Weighted average exercise price of options ESOP 2005 ESOP 2007

granted during the year whose

(a) Exercise price equals market price NA NA

(b) Exercise price is greater than market price NA NA

(c) Exercise price is less than market price 700.2 1,004.6

Weighted average fair value of options granted during the year whose

(a) Exercise price equals market price NA NA

(b) Exercise price is greater than market price NA NA

(c) Exercise price is less than market price 542.0 622.9

n Description of method and significant assumptions The fair value of the options granted has been estimated using 

used to estimate the fair value of options the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Each tranche of vesting

has been considered as a separate grant for the purpose of 

valuation. The assumptions used in the estimation of the same has

been detailed below:
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10. Directors
Mr. Sanjiv Ahuja, resigned as an

Independent Director from the Board of

the Company on October 23, 2007.

In accordance with Section 255 and

256 of the Companies Act, 1956, and

with Article 137 of the Articles of

Association of the Company, Mr. Nilesh

Vikamsey, retires by rotation and, being

eligible, offers himself for reappointment

at the ensuing Annual General Meeting

of the Company.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section

260 of the Companies Act, 1956, 

Mr. A. K. Purwar was appointed as an

Additional Director on the Board of the

Company on March 10, 2008. 

Mr. Purwar would hold office up to the

date of the ensuing Annual General

Meeting. The Company has received

notice in writing from a member

proposing the candidature of Mr. A. K.

Purwar for the office of Director, liable to

retirement by rotation.

Brief profiles of the Directors proposed

to be appointed/ reappointed;

qualification, experience and the names

of the Companies in which they hold

directorship, membership of the Board

committees, as stipulated in the Clause

49 of the Listing Agreement are

provided as an annexure to the Notice

convening the Annual General Meeting.

11. Directors’ Responsibility
Statement 
As required by Section 217 (2AA) of the

Companies Act, 1956, your Directors

confirm that:

|India Infoline Limited

Weighted average values for options granted during the year

Variables ESOP 2005 ESOP 2007

Stock price 905.7 1,103.3

Volatility 73.4% 74.1%

Risk-free rate 7.7% 7.3%

Exercise price 700.2 1,004.6

Time to maturity 4.4  4.0

Dividend yield 1.9% 1.87%

542.0 622.9

Stock price: Closing price on NSE as on the date of grant has been considered for valuing the grants.

Volatility: We have considered the historical volatility of the stock from the date of listing of the shares of the Company on 

NSE till the date of grant to calculate the fair value.

Risk-free rate of return: The risk-free interest rate being considered for the calculation is the interest rate applicable for a 

maturity equal to the expected life of the options based on the zero-coupon yield curve for government securities.

Exercise price: The exercise price may be decided by the Compensation Committee in accordance with the Securities and

Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) guidelines and any

amendments thereto, subject to a maximum discount of 25% to the market price.

Time to maturity: Time to maturity / expected life of options is the period for which the Company expects the options to be

live. The minimum life of a stock option is the minimum period before which the options cannot be exercised and the

maximum life is the maximum period after which the options cannot be exercised.

Expected dividend yield: Expected dividend yield has been calculated as an average of dividend yields for the two financial

years preceding the date of the grant.
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(a) In the preparation of the annual

accounts, the applicable accounting

standards have been followed;

(b) Appropriate accounting policies have

been selected and applied consistently

and that judgments and estimates made

are reasonable and prudent so as to give

a true and fair view of the state of affairs

of your Company as at March 31,

2008, and of its profit for the year

ended on that date;

(c) Proper and sufficient care has been

taken for the maintenance of adequate

accounting records in accordance with

the provisions of the Companies Act,

1956, for safeguarding the assets of

your Company and for preventing and

detecting fraud and other irregularities;

(d) The annual accounts have been

prepared on a going concern basis.

12. Conservation of energy,
technology absorption,
foreign exchange earnings
and outgo
The additional information required in

accordance with Sub-section (1)(e) of

Section 217 of the Companies Act,

1956, read with the Companies

(Disclosure of Particulars in the Report

of the Board of Directors) Rules,1988,

is appended to and forms part of this

report.

13. Corporate Governance
Report
Your Company has complied with all

the mandatory provisions of the revised

Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement. As

part of the Company’s efforts towards

better corporate practice and

transparency, a separate report on

Corporate Governance compliances is

included as a part of the Annual Report. 

A certificate from the Statutory Auditors

M/s. Sharp & Tannan Associates,

Chartered Accountants, regarding

compliance with the conditions of

Corporate Governance as stipulated

under Clause 49 of the Listing

Agreement is attached to this 

report on Corporate Governance.

14. Particulars of employees
In accordance with the provisions of

Section 217(2A) of the Companies Act,

1956, and the rules framed thereunder,

the names and other particulars of

employees are set out in the annexure

to the Directors’ Report. In terms of the

provisions of Section 219 (1)(b)(iv) of

the Companies Act, 1956, the Directors’

Report is being sent to all the

shareholders of the Company excluding

the aforesaid information. The annexure

is available for inspection at the

registered office of the Company. Any

shareholder interested in the said

information may write to the Company

Secretary at the registered office of the

Company.

15. Auditors and Auditors’
Report:
M/s. Sharp & Tannan Associates,

Chartered Accountants, Mumbai, the

Company’s Statutory Auditors, retire at

the ensuing Annual General Meeting

and being eligible offer themselves for

re     appointment. M/s. Sharp & Tannan

Associates have sought re-appointment

and confirmed that their re-appointment

shall be within the limits of Section

224(1B) of the Companies Act, 1956.

The necessary eligibility certificate under

Section 224(1B) of the Companies Act,

1956, has been received from them.

The Audit Committee and Board of

Directors recommend the appointment

of M/s. Sharp & Tannan Associates,

Chartered Accountants, as the Auditors

of the Company.

The notes to the accounts referred to in

the Auditors Report are self explanatory

and therefore do not call for any further

comments.
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Annexure to the Directors’ Report
Information relating to conservation of energy, technology absorption and innovation, and
foreign exchange earnings/ outgo forming part of the Directors’ Report in terms of Section
217(1)(e) of the Companies Act, 1956.

(a) Conservation of energy
The Company is engaged in providing

financial services and as such its

operations do not account for substantial

energy consumption. However, the

Company is taking all possible measures

to conserve energy. Several environment

friendly measures have been adopted by

the Company such as:

Installation of capacitors to save

power

Installation of TFT monitors that save

power

Automatic power shutdown of idle

monitors.

Creating environmental awareness by

way of distributing information in

electronic form.

Minimising air-conditioning usage.

Shutting off all the lights when not in

use.

Education and awareness

programmes for employees

The management frequently puts

circulars on the corporate intranet,

IWIN, for the employees, educating

them on ways to conserve electricity

and other natural resources and ensures

strict compliance with the same.

(b) Technology absorption
and innovation
The management understands the

importance of technology in the

business segments it operates and lays

utmost emphasis on system

development and the use of best

technology available in the industry. The

management keeps itself abreast with

technological advancements in the

industry and ensures continued and

sustained efforts towards absorption of

technology, adaptation as well as

development of the same to meet

business needs and objectives.

Software: During the year, the Company

has developed and deployed the Trader

Terminal, its proprietary Trading

platform, which is more user friendly

and has rich features that are superior

to the other Trading platforms available

in the market. The Company has also

successfully developed a browser-based

trading platform using .NET technology

which is light and at the same time

provides its users rich experience. Back-

office software has been developed in-

house on .Net technology that gives us

far more flexibility and advantage. We

could successfully migrate few back-

office operations to remote locations

with in-house developed software. The

management believes in making the

best use of technology and available

resources.

Network: The management has invested

considerable resources in deploying the

latest technologies in areas of wide area

networking using MPLS, video

communications, VoIP, automated

diallers and other customer relationship

management (CRM) tools and software.

Storage consolidation using EMC has

helped us meet the ever- growing

demand on performance and better

manageability. Your Company could

successfully consolidate its core network

using CISCO high-end switching and

routing that resulted in zero downtime

and better performance.

(c) Foreign exchange
earnings/ outgo
a) The foreign exchange earnings of the

Company were Rs 33.9 mn.

b) The foreign exchange expenditure

was Rs 27.5 mn.

|India Infoline Limited

Inside_Pages.qxp:Inside pages  6/16/08  12:49 PM  Page 48



49

Your Company's broking, demat and software
development services have received the coveted ISO
27001:2005 international certification during the

year. They are now fully compliant with all the
prescribed management systems which ensure
security of the information assets therein. The

certification has been awarded by TUV, the reputed
German certification authority.

Annual Report 2007-08 |
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Management’s discussion and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations 

India Infoline Ltd operates in the

financial services space covering a

broad range of activities, including

Broking (both retail and institutional),

Life Insurance, Wealth Management,

Credit and Finance, Asset Management

and Investment Banking. The major

operating subsidiaries of the Company

are India Infoline Investment Services

Ltd, India Infoline Distribution Company

Ltd, Moneyline Credit Ltd, India Infoline

Marketing Services Ltd, India Infoline

Insurance Services Ltd, India Infoline

Commodities Ltd, India Infoline Media

and Research Services Ltd, IIFL Realty

Ltd and  IIFL Wealth Management Ltd.

Sources of funds
Share capital
Your Company’s share capital increased

by Rs 69.4 mn during the year under

review due to the following: 

1. Conversion of 2.6 mn warrants

issued to promoters.

2. Exercise of 47,500 equity shares

issued to employees under the ESOP

2005.

3. Conversion of 1,000 optionally

convertible bonds (OCBs) issued to DSP

Merrill Lynch Capital Ltd (DSP ML)  to

equity.

4. Preferential issue of 3.7 mn equity

shares to Orient Global Tamarind Fund

Pte Ltd (Orient Global). 

|India Infoline Limited

India Infoline 
Investment 
Services Ltd

India Infoline 
Marketing 

Services Ltd
India Infoline 

Media & 
Research 

Services Ltd
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Reserves and surplus
The Company’s net worth rose to Rs

17,709 mn as on March 31, 2008 –

up 445% over the previous year – due

to addition of Rs 12,564 mn to the

share premium account, consequent to

capital raising as detailed above, and

retained earnings. The Company’s book

value per share rose more than five-fold

to Rs 310.1 per share. Summary of

reserves and surplus is provided in the

table below:

As on March 31 2008 2007

Equity shares (No.) Rs mn  Equity shares (No.) Rs mn  

Share Capital - beginning of year 50,167,198 501.7 45,100,851 451.0

OCB - DSP ML 588,235 5.1 4,117,647 41.2

Promoter Warrants 2,600,000 26.0 -   

ESOP 2000 Plan - 0.3 948,700 9.5 

ESOP 2005 Plan 47,500 0.1 -   

Preferential allotment - Orient Global 3,700,000 37.0 -   

Share Capital - end of year 57,102,933 571.0 50,167,198 501.7

(Rs Mn)

As on March 31 2008 2007

Securities Premium Account 

Opening Balance 1,783.7 1,124.9

Addition during the year 12,564.2 658.8

Closing Balance 14,347.9 1,783.7

General Reserves : 

Opening Balance 83.0 30.0

Addition during the year 131.0 53.0

Closing Balance 214.0 83.0

Special Reserves : 

Opening Balance 18.5 – 

Addition during the year 63.2 18.5

Closing Balance 81.7 18.5

Employee Stock Options Outstanding 242.8 48.4

Less : Deferred Employee Compensation Expenses (-171.9) (-37.4)

Closing Balance 70.9 11.0

Foreign Exchange Fluctuation Reserve 

Opening Balance (-0.6) – 

Addition during the year 13.1 – 

Closing Balance 12.6 -0.6

Profit and Loss Account 1,813.3 809.5

Preaquisition profit of Moneyline Credit Ltd. (-0.1) (-0.1)

Total 16,540.3 2,705.0
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Share premium

|India Infoline Limited

(Rs Mn)

As on March 31 2008 2007

Balance - beginning of year 1,783.7 1,124.9 

Add: Premium on OCB conversion by DSP ML 94.1 658.8 

Add: Premium on Promoter Warrants 416.0 –

Add: Premium on ESOP exercise 6.7 –

Add: Premium on Preferential allotment to Orient Global 11,791.0 –

Add: Premium on Preferential allotment to Bennet Coleman 256.4 –

Balance - end of year 14,347.9 1,783.7

In November 2007, your Company

raised Rs 3,043 mn for its credit

businesses from Orient Global for a

22.5% stake (3,962,903 equity shares)

and Rs 200 mn in January 2008 from

Bennett Coleman and Co. Ltd. (BCCL)

for a 0.98% stake (173,650 equity

shares) in India Infoline Investment

Services Ltd. The Company again raised

Rs 1,339 mn from Orient Global

(1,320,967 equity shares) and Rs 59

mn from BCCL (57,883 equity shares)

in February 2008 through a rights

issue. Subsequent to this capital raising,

Orient Global holds a 22.28% stake,

while BCCL holds a 0.98% stake in

India Infoline Investment Services Ltd.

These funds are primarily intended to be

used for expanding the product portfolio

and increasing the reach of our credit

businesses.

In January 2008, your Company raised

Rs 1,969 mn for its insurance business

from Orient Global for a 10.53% stake

(2,000,000 equity shares) in India

Infoline Marketing Services Ltd. The

money so raised is being used to

expand the business further.

Application of funds
Fixed assets 
During the year, the Company’s gross

block rose by 60% to Rs 1,474 mn in

line with the growth needs of the

business. Capital work-in-progress stood

at Rs 1,214 mn. The Company is

investing in a tele-calling and back

office facility in Chennai, which is

expected to get operational by the third

quarter of calendar 2008.
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Fixed Assets (Rs Mn)

As on March 31, 2008 2007 Growth %

Computers 508.8 310.0 64%

Electrical Equipment 118.5 63.7 86%

Furniture & Fixture 498.8 343.7 45%

Office Equipment (Air conditioners, etc) 246.8 140.0 76%

Premises 14.2 – –

Vehicles 0.8 0.8 –

Software 58.3 32.8 78%

Non-Compete fees 27.4 27.4 –

Gross Block 1,473.6 918.4 60%

Less : accumulated depreciation 495.7 301.1 65%

Net block 977.9 617.3 58%

Add : capital work in progress 1,214.1 – –

Net fixed assets 2,192.1 617.3 255%

Depreciation

as % of revenues 2.7 3.5 

as % of average gross block 23.6 23.2

Accumulated depreciation 

as % of gross block 33.6 32.8

Cash and cash equivalents (Rs Mn)

As on March 31, 2008 2007

Cash balances 7.9 7.2 

Bank balances in India

Current accounts 1,349.3 431.1 

Deposit accounts 1,921.5 818.0 

Unclaimed dividend account 0.7 5.6 

Bank  balances held by subsidiaries outside India 

Current accounts 14.9 4.8 

Deposit accounts 270.5 –

Total cash and bank balances 3,564.8 1,266.7

Deposits (reported under 'Loans & Advances') 228.2 134.8 

Investment in liquid mutual funds (reported under 'Investments') 5,884.3 0.4 

Investment in Certificate of Deposits (reported under 'Investments') 3,660.0 –

Total cash and cash equivalents 13,337.3 1,401.9

Cash and equivalents / assets 41.2% 17.9%

Cash and equivalents / revenues 130.3% 32.9%

A statement of movement in fixed assets is given below:
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Since a significant portion of business activity of the Company is conducted by its various subsidiaries, the consolidated financial

results are a more accurate representation of the performance of the Company and hence we have used it in the management’s

discussion and analysis. 

Income (as per the Consolidated Indian GAAP)
The following table sets forth the revenue earned from the Company’s different business streams:

(Rs mn)

Particulars Year ended March 31, 2008 Year ended March 31, 2007

Equity brokerage and related income 5,896.6 2,313.5

Financing & Investing 1,937.5 352.4

Life Insurance Agency income 1,065.5 592.9

Online and other media income 782.9 645.1

Mutual Funds etc. distribution 190.9 150.1

Commodities brokerage 166.4 120.3

Merchant Banking 161.4 28.2

Other Income 34.7 54.7

Total Income 10,235.9 4,257.2

Since a substantial portion of the capital raising was done in January 2008, pending use of funds has been deployed in liquid

mutual funds, certificate of deposits and bank deposits.

The standalone financial results of India Infoline Ltd as per Indian GAAP
(Rs Mn)

Income Year ended March 31st, 2008 Year ended March 31st, 2007

Equity brokerage and related incomes 5,896.6 2,313.5

Mutual funds etc distribution 190.4 –

Merchant banking income 74.1 28.2

Online and other media income – 356.1

Other income 563.3 169.4

Total income 6,724.4 2,867.2

Expenditure 

Direct costs 1,666.2 738.2

Employee costs 1,347.9 558.8

Administration and other expenses 937.8 586.8

Interest expenses 211.6 63.9

Depreciation and amortization 194.4 123.3

Total Expenditure 4,357.9 2,071.0
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Equities brokerage and related
income 
It comprises the income received from

broking-related activities in the cash and

derivatives segments of both the BSE as

well as NSE. During the year, the

Company’s revenues from this stream

rose by about 155% over the previous

year and market share rose to 3.4%

(from 2.2% in FY07) due to scale-up in

the institutional equities business,

improved productivity of our branch

network and overall buoyancy 

in capital markets. The Company’s

average daily turnover was Rs 24,330

mn. Its retail client base almost tripled

to 0.44 mn. As at end-March 2008, the

Company had 758 business locations

(607 branches and 151 franchisee

outlets) spread over 346 cities and

towns. 

Financing and investing 
income 
The income from financing and

investing stood at Rs 1,937.5 mn

during the year – up 450% over 

2006-07 – constituting 19% of the total

income. Your Company launched the

consumer finance business under the

brand name, ‘Moneyline’. The

Company’s product offerings include

personal loans for salaried/

self-employed people, loan against

residential, commercial and industrial

property as collaterals, apart from

business loans and loans against

securities.

Moneyline’s portfolio stood at of 

Rs 3.3 bn as on March 2008. It has

also established its presence in 30 key

locations across India. 

Life insurance agency income 
The income is generated from the sale

of life insurance policies as the

corporate agent of ICICI Prudential Life

Insurance Co Ltd. The Company has

retained its position as the largest

corporate agent for ICICI Prudential Life

Insurance Co Ltd. Your Company has

also applied for an insurance broking

licence.

Online & other media  
Income is generated from the sale of

space on our web property

www.indiainfoline.com and related

marketing and promotional activities.

This also includes revenues generated

by way of sponsorship and sale of our

research reports and customised

assignments. During the year under

review, your Company’s website,

www.indiainfoline.com, continued to

remain the preferred advertising

destination for some of the biggest

names in India and abroad such as

Google and Yahoo, among others. The

company's website was also favoured by

leading Mutual Funds and Life

Insurance companies for their online

advertising.  The Company’s online &

other media income grew by 21% in

2007-08 to Rs 782.9 mn and formed

8% of the total income.

Mutual funds and other investment
product distribution income 
Income generated by distribution of

personal investment products like

mutual funds, fixed deposits, IPOs,

government bonds, etc. rose 27% to 

Rs 1.9 bn and contributed 2% of the

total income. During the year under

review, your Company has applied for

an in-principle approval for sponsoring

of a mutual fund. 

Commodities broking income 
It is the brokerage and related income

generated from executing client trades

on the two commodity exchanges –

MCX and NCDEX. Our average daily

volumes grew 45% during 

the year to Rs 1.8 bn. Our client base

increased to about 23,000 as on March

2008. Our overall market share on both

exchanges increased to 1.4% in FY08

from 1.1% in the previous year.

Merchant banking income 
With the scale-up in institutional broking

activities and resources, your Company

has witnessed significant traction in this

segment. The revenue from this

business was Rs 161.4 mn in FY08 –

up 473%  over the previous year. 

Expenditure 
The following table sets forth the

expenditure that the Company incurred

under various heads:

Annual Report 2007-08 |
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Expenditure (as per the Consolidated Indian GAAP) (Rs Mn)

Particulars Year ended March 31, 2008 Year ended March 31, 2007

Direct cost 2,169.8 917.8

Employee cost 2,425.8 1,063.1

Administration and other expenses 1,615.2 863.7

Financial cost 912.6 117.1

Depreciation 282.0 149.2

Preliminary Expenses 3.0 0.3

Total Expenses 7,408.4 3,111.2

Direct cost
It consists of brokerage related charges,

exchange and statutory charges,

marketing and commissions and

investment-related costs. As we entered

newer segments of business and scaled

up operations in our existing businesses

in 2007-08, our direct costs shot up by

136% over the previous year, reaching

Rs 2,169.8 mn.

Employee costs 
It forms the largest single expense head

at your Company, underscoring the fact

that our business is all about people. In

an eventful year, when your Company

made a major foray into a number of

businesses such as institutional equities

and investment banking, credit and

financing and wealth management, the

right kind of human resources were

needed to be put in place. Your

Company continues to successfully

attract talented individuals from across

the industry. Employee costs grew by

128% in 2007-08 to Rs 2,425.8 mn,

accounting for 33% of the total cost.

The total headcount stood at 14,105 as

of  March 31, 2008. This is an

outcome of the overall growth in all

businesses, especially broking, credit

and finance and distribution of life

insurance. 

Administrative expenses 
Our administrative expenses rose 

by 87% over the last year to 

Rs 1,618 mn and accounted for around

22% of the total expenditure.

Administrative expenses grew at a

slower rate compared to our revenue

growth, thanks to the operating

leverage-led gains and improved

productivity of our branches. 

Depreciation expenses 
These expenses have risen by 89% over

2006-07 to Rs282 mn largely due to

the investment in technology and

infrastructure with the growth in

business demand and also expansion of

branch networks. We depreciate

hardware and software assets on a

straight-line basis over three years. 

Deferred tax asset and liabilities 
We calculated our deferred tax assets

and liabilities as per the provisions of

the Income Tax Act, 1961.

Working capital 
Our working capital has grown by 

Rs 8.0 bn largely due to an increase 

in loans and advances in line with the

increase in our broking revenues.

Sundry debtors and loans and advances

also increased in line with the growth 

in the size of the various businesses.

Risk management systems and
internal control
Risk management is at the core of our

successful business operations. We

have a full-fledged professional and

experienced internal audit and
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Your Company’s entire back office operations and the head office received the coveted ISO
27001:2005 international certification during the year.
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compliance team with a regional

presence for better coverage. 

Besides, your Company’s entire back

office operations and the head office

received the coveted ISO 27001:2005

international certification during the

year. The Demat Services and the

Software Development Centre of the

Company have also been similarly

certified. Your Company's broking,

demat and software development

services are now fully compliant with all

prescribed management systems which

ensure security of the information assets

therein. The certification has been

awarded by TUV, a reputed German

certification authority.

Human resources
Our total employee strength of the

Company and our subsidiaries stood at

14,105 on March 31, 2008. This is in

line with the growth in our businesses

including retail equities broking, credit

and finance and distribution of life

insurance, besides the building up of

specialised teams for our institutional

equities, investment banking and wealth

management verticals.

Your Company significantly strengthened

its human resources team during the

year under review by hiring experienced

HR professionals for the senior level.

Besides, given the scale and pace of

growth of various businesses, members

of the HR team are now posted at zonal

offices across the country in addition to

the corporate office. With Owner

Mindset being one of the tenets of the

organisation, it is our continuous

endeavour to unleash the entrepreneur

within each employee. Towards this

end, the culture at your Company is one

of responsibility and concomitant

empowerment at all levels. This has

aided us a lot in attracting and retaining

talent across businesses. 

We have identified training as one of the

core focus areas under the human

resources domain. Extensive modules

have been developed in-house to

educate new entrants about the culture

and skill-sets required for their jobs at

India Infoline. A Continuous Training

Program (CTP) has also been developed

to provide regular need-based training

inputs to the employees. 

Cautionary statement
The statements made in this report

describe the Company’s objectives and

projections that may be forward looking

statements within the meaning of

applicable securities laws and

regulations. The actual results might

differ materially from those expressed or

implied depending on the economic

conditions, government policies and

other incidental factors which are

beyond the control of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

1. Corporate philosophy
At India Infoline, Corporate Governance

is viewed as an ethical and moral duty.

We believe that Corporate Governance is

a system of structuring, operating and

controlling a company to achieve long-

term strategic goals and ensuring

interest of all the stakeholders, including

shareholders, creditors, employees,

customers and suppliers; complying

with the legal and regulatory

requirements, apart from meeting 

the environmental and local community

needs. It is about commitment to

values, ethical conduct of 

business and responsibility 

towards the stakeholders and 

society at large.

India Infoline has adopted the best

corporate governance practices, based

on following principles:

A strong, professional and

independent Board with rich and

varied experience 

Accountability for functioning and

transparency in conduct

Systematic and timely disclosure of

all material information

Adequate risk management and

internal control systems

Compliance with the applicable rules

and regulations

Independent verification of financial

reporting

Value creation for stakeholders

India Infoline understands that the

customer is the purpose of our business

and every customer is an important

stakeholder of the Company, performing

ethically and efficiently to generate long-

term value and wealth for all its

stakeholders.

The report on Corporate Governance, 

as per the applicable provisions of

Clause 49 of the listing agreement is as

under:

2. Board 0f Directors
(a) Composition of the Board
The Board of Directors of the Company

comprises the optimum combination of

Executive and Non-Executive Directors,

all of whom are leading professionals in

their respective fields. The brief profiles

of the directors are as follows:

Mr. Nirmal Jain (Chairman & Managing

Director)

Mr. Nirmal Jain is an MBA (IIM,

Ahmedabad) and a Chartered and Cost

Accountant, founded India Infoline Ltd.

in 1995. Beginning his career with

Hindustan Lever in 1989, he

successfully handled a variety of

responsibilities, including exports and

trading in agro-commodities. 

He founded Probity Research and

Services Pvt. Ltd. (later re-christened

India Infoline) in 1995; perhaps the first

independent equity research company in

India. Mr Jain was one of the first

entrepreneurs in India to seize the

Internet opportunity, with the launch of

www.indiainfoline.com in 1999. Under

his leadership, the company not only

steered through the dotcom bust and one

of the worst stock market downtrends but

also grew from strength to strength.

Mr. R. Venkataraman (Executive

Director)

Mr. R. Venkataraman, Co-Promoter and

Executive Director of India Infoline Ltd.,

is a B. Tech (Electronics and Electrical

Communications Engineering, IIT

Kharagpur) and an MBA (IIM

Bangalore). He joined the India Infoline

Board in July 1999. He previously held

senior managerial positions in ICICI

Limited, including ICICI Securities

Limited, their investment banking joint

venture with J P Morgan of the US,

BZW and Taib Capital Corporation

Limited. He was also the Assistant Vice

President with G E Capital Services

India Limited in their private equity

division, possessing a varied experience

of more than 17 years in the financial

services sector. 

Mr. Sat Pal Khattar (Non-Executive

Director)

Mr. Sat Pal Khattar is a Member of the

Presidential Council of Minority Rights,

Chairman of the Board of Trustees of

Singapore Business Federation and is

also a life trustee of SINDA, a non-profit

body, helping the under-privileged

Indians in Singapore. He joined the India

Infoline Board in April 2001. Mr Khattar

is a Director of many public and private

companies in Singapore, India and Hong

Kong including Chairman of Guocoland

|India Infoline Limited
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senior-partner at Khimji Kunverji & Co.,

Chartered Accountants, a member firm of

HLB International, a world-wide

organisation of professional accounting

firms and business advisers, ranked

amongst the top 12 accounting groups in

the world. Mr. Vikamsey headed the

audit department till 1990 and thereafter

also handled financial services,

consultancy, investigations, mergers and

acquisitions, valuations, due diligence,

etc. He is an ICAI study group member

for the introduction of the Accounting

Standard - 30 on financial instruments -

recognition and management and also

on the study group for the related

auditing standard, Member of Auditing

and Assurance Standards Board of ICAI,

on the Managing Council and heading

the Corporate Members Committee of

The Chamber of Tax Consultants (CTC),

Member of Law Review, Reforms and

Rationalisation Committee of Indian

Merchants’ Chamber (IMC), Legal Affairs

Committee of Bombay Chamber of

Commerce and Industry (BCCI) and

Accounting & Auditing Committee of

Bombay Chartered Accountants' Society.

Mr. Vikamsey is also a Director of Miloni

Consultants Private Ltd, HLB

Technologies (Mumbai) Pvt. Ltd. and

HLB Offices and Services Private Ltd.

Ltd listed in Singapore and its parent

Guoco Group Ltd. listed in Hong Kong,

a leading property company of

Singapore, China and Malaysia. A Board

member of  Gateway Distriparks Ltd. he

is also the Chairman of the Khattar

Holding Group of Companies with

investments in Singapore, India, the UK

as well as across the world.

Mr. Kranti Sinha (Independent

Director)

Mr. Kranti Sinha — Board member

since January 2005 — completed his

Masters from Agra University and

started his career as a Class I officer

with Life Insurance Corporation of India.

He served as the Director and Chief

Executive of LIC Housing Finance Ltd

from August 1998 to December 2002

and concurrently as the Managing

Director of LICHFL Care Homes (wholly

owned subsidiary of LIC Housing

Finance Ltd). He retired from the

permanent cadre of the Executive

Director of LIC; served as the Deputy

President of the Governing Council of

Insurance Institute of India and as a

member of the Governing Council of

National Insurance Academy, Pune,

apart from various other such bodies.

Mr. Sinha is also on the Board of

Directors of Hindustan Motors Ltd, and

Cinemax (India) Ltd.

Mr. Nilesh Vikamsey (Independent

Director) 

Mr. Nilesh Vikamsey – Board member

since February 2005 - is a practising

Chartered Accountant for 23 years and

Mr. A. K. Purwar (Independent Director)

Mr. A. K. Purwar has been appointed as an

Additional Director (Independent Director)

on the Board of the Company with effect

from March 10, 2008. After completing his

Masters degree in Commerce from

Allahabad University in 1966, Mr. Purwar

joined State Bank of India and became its Chairman in 2002. He was also the

Chairman of Indian Banks Association in the year 2005-2006. Mr. Purwar has also

been awarded: ‘CEO of the year’ Award from the Institute for Technology &

Management (2004); ‘Outstanding Achiever of the year’ Award from Indian Banks’

Association (2004); ‘Finance Man of the Year’ Award by the Bombay Management

Association in 2006. After retiring in 2006 he has got involved in academics with

IIM-Lucknow, IIM–Indore and NMIMS-Bombay as well as in private equity, and is

setting-up a healthcare-focussed private equity fund. He is associated with various

premier institutes like the Export Import Bank of India, NABARD, Bombay Hospital

Trust, etc., as an advisory/ or Member of Board/ committee. Mr. Purwar is also an

Independent Director in leading companies in telecom, steel, textiles, autoparts,

engineering and consultancy. 

New addition to the Board
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The other Board and Board Committees in which the Director is member or chairman are as under:

Name of the Director Relationship with Directorships in India Other Membership of other Board 

other Director under Section 275 directorships2 committees3

of the Companies 

Act, 19561

Member Chairman

Mr. Nirmal Jain N.A. 11 2 NIL NIL

Mr. R. Venkataraman N.A. 11 1 NIL NIL

Mr. Sat Pal Khattar N.A. 8 60 NIL NIL

Mr. Sanjiv Ahuja* N.A. 4 8 1 NIL

Mr. Kranti Sinha N.A. 2 Nil 1 2

Mr. Nilesh Vikamsey N.A. 1 3 NIL 1

Mr. A. K. Purwar** N.A. 7 5 2 Nil

Note:

* Mr. Sanjiv Ahuja, an Independent Director resigned as the Director of the Company on October 23, 2007.

**Mr. A. K. Purwar, an Independent Director, joined the Board as an Additional Director of the Company on March 10, 2008.

1. Directorship held by the Directors, as mentioned above, does not include directorships in private limited companies which are neither a subsidiary nor holding

company of public company, foreign companies and companies not carrying business for profit.

2. Other directorships are those, which are not covered under Section 275 of the Companies Act, 1956.

3. The Committees considered for the above purpose are those prescribed in the Listing Agreement viz. the Audit Committee and Share Transfer and Investor

Grievance Committee.

(b) Meeting of the Board of Directors 
The Board meetings are convened after giving proper notice and detailed agenda. The Board meets at least once a quarter and the

time gap between two Board meetings is not more than four calendar months. The Board of the Company met eight times during

the last financial year on April 25, 2007, May 25, July 4, July 30, October 23, November 26, December 24 and January 22,

2008. 

The attendance of Directors at the Board meeting and the last Annual General Meeting is as under: 

Name of the Director Total Board meetings Board meetings attended Annual General Meeting dated

June 20, 2007, whether attended

Mr. Nirmal Jain 8 8 Yes

Mr. R. Venkataraman 8 7 Yes

Mr. Sat Pal Khattar 8 3 No

Mr. Sanjiv Ahuja* 5 2 Yes

Mr. Kranti Sinha 8 8 Yes

Mr. Nilesh Vikamsey 8 7 Yes

Mr. A. K. Purwar** 0 0 N.A.

Note:

* Mr. Sanjiv Ahuja, an Independent Director, resigned as the Director of the Company on October 23, 2007.

**Mr. A. K. Purwar, an Independent Director joined the Board as an Additional Director of the Company on March 10, 2008.
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The following information is given to the

Board either as a part of agenda of the

meeting or by way of presentation

during the meeting:

Annual operating plans, budgets and

performances.

Quarterly, half yearly and annual

results of the Company and its

subsidiary companies

Minutes of meeting of the Audit

Committee and other committees of

the Board of Directors

Minutes of all the subsidiary

companies

Information on appointment of all the

key managerial personnel below the

Board level

Significant regulatory matters

Detailed risk analysis 

Details of potential acquisitions or

disinvestments

Details of potential joint venture or

collaborations

Details of investments 

Compliance of statutory regulations,

listing agreements

Significant investments, transactions

and arrangements of subsidiary

companies

Such other material and significant

information

The Board performs the following

functions in addition to overseeing the

overall business and management:

Review, monitor and approve major

financial and business strategies and

corporate actions;

Assess the critical risks facing the

Company – review options for their

mitigation; 

Ensure that processes are in place for

maintaining the integrity of

• the Company

• the financial statements

• compliance with law

• relationships with customers, 

suppliers and other stakeholders

Delegation of appropriate authority to

the senior executives of the Company

for effective management of

operations.
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(c) Details of Directors’ remuneration
The details of remuneration paid/ payable during the year ended March 31, 2008 are as follows:

Name of the Salary and Commission Cont to PF  Sitting fees Stock options No. of Equity Convertible

Director perquisite and other granted shares held warrants*

funds 

Mr. Nirmal Jain 12,234,380 Nil 19,011 Nil Nil 10,227,181 1,311,250

Mr. R. Venkataraman 8,662,500 Nil 15,871 Nil Nil 3,964,502 370,112

Mr. Sat Pal Khattar Nil 5,00,000 Nil 120,000 Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Sanjiv Ahuja Nil 5,00,000 Nil 80,000 Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Kranti Sinha Nil 5,00,000 Nil 390,000 5,000 Nil Nil

Mr. Nilesh Vikamsey Nil 5,00,000 Nil 310,000 6,000 Nil Nil

Mr. A. K. Purwar Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

* Issued to promoters and others on July 4, 2007 as per SEBI Preferential guidelines.
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(d) Periodic review of compliances
of all applicable laws 
The Company has adopted a system

whereby all the acts, rules and

regulations applicable to the Company

have been identified and compliance

with such acts, rules and regulations is

monitored by a dedicated team on a

regular basis. The Company obtains

report on compliance from all the heads

of departments on a periodical basis,

which is monitored through surprise

inspections and internal audit. A

compliance certificate by the Chief

Compliance Officer and Company

Secretary in respect of various laws,

rules and regulations applicable to the

Company is placed before the Board on

a quarterly basis and reviewed by the

Board. 

3. Audit Committee
The Audit Committee of the Company

comprises two Independent Directors

and one Non-Executive Director. The

Committee is chaired by an Independent

Director, Mr. Nilesh Vikamsey, a

qualified Chartered Accountant and

diploma holder in information system

audit. All the members of the Audit

Committee are financially literate and

possess thorough knowledge of the

financial services industry.

The Audit Committee of the Company

met four times during the last financial

year on April 25, 2007, July 30,

October 23 and January 22, 2008. The

gap between two Audit Committee

Meetings was not more than four

months:

The scope of the Audit Committee

includes the references made under

Clause 49 of the Listing Agreements as

well as Section 292A of the Companies

Act, 1956, besides the other terms that

may be referred by the Board of

Directors. The broad terms of reference

of the Audit Committee are:

To supervise the financial reporting

process and all financial results, 

Review statements and disclosures

and recommend the same to the

Board; 

Review the adequacy of internal

control systems of the Company,

including the scope and performance

of the internal audit function; review

of related party transactions;

reviewing with management

performance of internal and statutory

auditors and fixing their

remuneration; 

Holding discussions with Statutory

Auditors on the nature and scope of

audit, ensuring compliance with all

the applicable accounting standards;

compliance with the listing and other

legal requirements and the

Company’s financial and risk

management policies and 

Compliance with the statutory

requirements.

The minutes of the Audit Committee

meetings form part of the agenda papers

circulated for the Board meeting.

4. Compensation/
Remuneration Committee
Upon resignation of Mr. Sanjiv Ahuja

|India Infoline Limited

The constitution of the Audit Committee and attendance of each member of the Committee is given below:

Name of the Designation Non-Executive/ Profession No. of Committee

Members Independent Committee Meeting

meetings held attended

Mr. Nilesh Vikamsey Chairman Independent Chartered Accountant 04 04

Mr. Sat Pal Khattar Member Non- Executive Lawyer 04 03

Mr. Sanjiv Ahuja* Member Independent Certified Public Accountant 03 02

Mr. Kranti Sinha Member Independent Corporate Consultant 04 04

Note:

* Mr. Sanjiv Ahuja, an Independent Director resigned as the Director of the Company on October 23, 2007.
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from the Board of the Company, the

Compensation/ Remuneration

Committee was re-constituted on

October 23, 2007.    

The Compensation/ Remuneration

Committee comprises two Independent

Directors and one Non-Executive

Director with Mr. Kranti Sinha

(Independent Director) as the Chairman

of the Committee and Mr. Nilesh

Vikamsey (Independent Director) and

Mr. Sat Pal Khattar (Non-Executive

Director) as members. The

Compensation/ Remuneration

Committee reviews and makes

recommendations on annual salaries,

perquisites, performance-linked bonus,

stock options, pensions and other

employment conditions of Executive and

Non-Executive Directors and senior

employees. The Committee conducts

discussions with the HR department

and lays down suitable remuneration

policies for the employees.

The Compensation/ Remuneration

Committee also administers the

Company’s stock option plans. The

stock options granted by the Committee

have been discussed in detail in the

Directors’ Report. 

The Committee met nine times during

the year under review on June 19,

2007, July 18, September 7, October

8, October 19, November 14,

December 18, January 23, 2008 and

March 25.

5. Share Transfer And
Investor Grievance
Committee:
Upon resignation of Mr. Sanjiv Ahuja

from the Board of the Company, the

Share Transfer and Investor Grievance

Committee was re-constituted on

October 23, 2007.

The Share Transfer and Investor

Grievance Committee comprises Mr.

Kranti Sinha, Independent Director as

the Chairman and Mr. Nirmal Jain and

Mr. R. Venkataraman, Executive

Directors as the members. The

Company Secretary of the Company acts

as the Secretary to the committee. The

Committee met six times during the year

on June 30, 2007, July 30, August 16,

September 14, December 31 and

February 29, 2008. 

During the year, the Company has

received 49 complaints from SEBI/ stock

exchanges / MCA/ investors. All

complaints were redressed to the

satisfaction of the shareholder. No

complaints were pending either at the

beginning or the end of the year. There

were no shares pending for transfer as

on March 31, 2008.

The name, designation and address of

the Compliance Officer of the Company

are as under:

Name and designation :

Mr. Nimish Mehta, Company Secretary

Address: India Infoline Limited, 

75, Nirlon Complex, off. Western

Express Highway, Goregaon (east), 

Mumbai 400 063.

Contacts: Tel: +91 22 6648 9000

Fax: +91 22 2685 0451

E-mail: shareholders@indiainfoline.com

6. Subsidiary company
The Company has one material non-

listed Indian subsidiary whose turnover

or net worth (i.e. paid-up capital and

free reserves) exceeds 20% of the

consolidated turnover or net worth

respectively, of the listed holding

company and its subsidiaries in the

immediately preceding accounting year.

Mr. Nilesh Vikamsey, an Independent

Director on the Board of India Infoline

Ltd (holding company), is also a

Director on the Board of India Infoline

Investment Services Ltd (material non-

listed Indian subsidiary).

The financial statements including

particulars of investments made by all

the unlisted subsidiary companies are

reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The Company has a system of placing

the minutes and statements of all the

significant transactions of all the

unlisted subsidiary companies in the

meeting of Board of Directors.

7. Disclosures
(a) Basis of related party
transactions
The statement of transactions with the

related parties, if any, is duly placed

before the Audit Committee on a

quarterly basis. During the year under

review, there are no materially

significant related party transactions

entered into by the Company with its

promoters, Directors or the management

or their relatives, etc. that may have

conflict with the interests of the

Company. All the transactions are on

arms’ length basis and in the normal

course of business. 

The related party transactions have been

disclosed under Notes to Accounts No
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17 of Schedule N forming part of the

annual accounts.

(b) Disclosure of accounting
treatment
There is no deviation in following 

the treatments prescribed in any

Accounting Standard (AS) in the

preparation of the financial statements

of the Company.

(c) Disclosure on risk management
The internal auditors and statutory

auditors test and ensure that the

Company has adequate systems of

internal control to ensure reliability of

financial and operational information.

The Company adheres to strict 

policies to ensure compliance 

with all the regulatory/ statutory

requirements. The procedures and

policies for risk assessment and

minimisation are regularly reviewed by

the Board.

The management understands that

information is the prime business asset

and has therefore laid down strict

policies and procedure to safeguard the

Company’s information. The InfoSec

policy of the Company is uploaded on

the Company’s intranet for all employees

to adhere to.

TUV, the reputed German certification

body, has awarded the coveted ISO

27001:2005 international certification

to the Company's broking services,

demat services and the software

development centre of the Company in

the head office and its Mumbai offices

this year. This demonstrates full

compliance of all the prescribed

management systems which ensure

security of the information assets

therein.

(d) Proceeds from preferential issue 
The Company has fully utilised Rs

397.8 mn raised through conversion of

equity warrants in August 2007, issued

on February 2006 on preferential basis

as per SEBI guidelines, Rs 484.0 mn

received as application money for

preferential allotment of equity warrants

made in July 2007 as per SEBI

guidelines, Rs 113.7 mn received as

application money for preferential

allotment of equity warrants under 

SEBI guidelines made in November

2007, Rs 5,550.0 mn  raised through

issue of 37,00,000 equity shares 

of the Company on January, 2008 on

preferential basis as per SEBI guidelines

for the specified purposes mentioned in

the respective notice to shareholders.

The details of the utilisation of proceeds

of money raised as above are disclosed

in the annual report of the Company for

the year ended 2008.

(e) Compensation paid to Non-
Executive Directors
The Non-Executive Directors and

Independent Directors are paid Rs

20,000 each towards sitting fees for

attending the Board meeting in

accordance with the resolution passed

in the meeting of Board of Directors on

February 11, 2005 and Rs 20,000

each towards sitting fees for attending

the Audit Committee meetings, and Rs

10,000 each towards attending other

committee meetings, in accordance with

the resolution passed in the meeting of

Board of Directors on March 21, 2005.

The Non-Executive Directors and

Independent Directors are paid

commission of a sum not exceeding Rs

2 mn per annum in aggregate, subject

to a maximum ceiling of 1% of the net

profits of the Company computed under

the applicable provisions of the

Companies Act, 1956, and approved by

the shareholders at the Extraordinary

General Meeting held on January 25,

2006. The payment of the commission

is decided based on the contribution

made by the Non Whole time Directors

and the time spent on the Company

affairs.

The details of employee stock options

granted to Independent Directors are

given elsewhere in the report.

(f) Details of non-compliance
No strictures/ penalties have been

imposed on the Company by stock

exchanges or the Securities and

Exchange Board of India or any statutory

authority, on any matter related to the

capital markets during the last three

years.

(g) Code of conduct
The Board of Directors has adopted the

code of conduct for Board members and

the senior management personnel. The

said code has been communicated to

the Directors and members of the senior

management, and they have affirmed

their compliance with the said code.

The code adopted has been posted on

the Company’s website

www.indiainfoline.com. 

Code of conduct and corporate
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disclosure practices for prevention
of insider trading
The Company has adopted the code of

conduct and corporate disclosure

practices for prevention of insider

trading, for monitoring adherence to the

rules for the preservation of price-

sensitive information, pre-clearance and

monitoring of trade. The Company has

appointed the Company Secretary as the

Compliance Officer to ensure

compliance of the said code by all the

Directors, senior management personnel

and employees likely to have access to

price-sensitive information.

(h) Details of compliance with
mandatory requirements and
adoption of non-mandatory
requirements of Clause 49 of the
Listing Agreement
The Company has duly complied with

all the mandatory requirements of

Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement.

Besides complying with all the

mandatory requirements of Clause 49,

we also have a Remuneration

Committee of the Board (known as

Compensation/ Remuneration

Committee). All the members of the

Remuneration Committee were present

at the Annual General Meeting of the

Company.

(i) CEO/CFO certificate
The certificate required under Clause

49(V) of the Listing Agreement duly

signed by the CEO and CFO has been

given to the Board and the same is

annexed to this report.

(j) Means of communication to the
stakeholders
The primary source of information to the

shareholders, customers, analysts and

other stakeholders of the Company and

to the public at large is through the

website of the Company

www.indiainfoline.com. The annual

report, quarterly results, shareholding

pattern, material events, copies of press

releases, etc., are regularly sent to stock

exchanges and uploaded on the

Company’s website. The Company also

regularly files its quarterly reports,

annual reports and shareholding pattern

on the SEBI website through the

electronic data information filling and

retrieval system (EDIFAR).

The quarterly and annual results of the

Company are published in widely

circulated national newspapers like

Economic Times and Maharashtra

Times (Marathi). The Company also

regularly makes presentation to the

analysts in their meetings held from

time to time, transcripts of which are

uploaded in the Company’s website.

All the above special resolutions were

passed on show of hands.

Postal ballot
During the year under review, in

pursuance to Section 192A of the

Companies Act, 1956, and Companies

(Passing of Resolution by Postal Ballot)

Rules, 2001, we have conducted one

postal ballot for seeking approval of

shareholders by way of Special

Resolution. The summary of the result

was as follows:

8. General Body Meeting
The following table gives the details of the last three Annual General Meetings of the Company:

Date of AGM Location No. of special resolutions passed

June 20, 2007 Maharashtra Chambers of Commerce, K. Dubhash Marg, 1

Fort, Mumbai 400 001.

July 24, 2006 International Conventional Hall, 1st Floor, 

Bombay Stock Exchange Building, P. J. Towers, None

Fort, Mumbai 400001

August 10, 2005 Building No. 75, Nirlon Complex, 

Off Western Express Highway, Goregaon (East), 4

Mumbai  400063.
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All the three aforesaid resolutions were

approved by shareholders with the

overwhelming requisite majority.

A postal ballot form was sent to all the

shareholders along with the notice and

explanatory statement dated December

17, 2007, for obtaining approval of the

members. 

The Board had appointed Mr. Nilesh

Shah, the practicing Company

Secretary, as scrutiniser for conducting

the postal ballot process in a fair and

transparent manner.

The shareholders were requested to read

the instructions printed in the postal

ballot form and return the form duly

complete, in the attached self-addressed

postage prepaid envelope to reach the

scrutiniser on or before January 23,

2008.

The scrutiniser submitted his report to

the Chairman of the Board and the

results of the postal ballot were

announced on January 25, 2008

through the Notice Board at the

Registered Office of the Company, the

website of the Company

www.indiainfoline.com and press

advertisements as specified in the

notice.

|India Infoline Limited

Sr. Date of Particulars of In favour (%) Against (%)

no. declaration of result resolution passed

1. January 25, 2008 Special resolution for alteration of Main Object 21,049,303 112 

Clause of the Memorandum of Association (99.12%) (0.88%)

2. January 25, 2008 Special resolution for alteration of the Ancillary 21,049,303 112

Object Clause of the Memorandum of Association (99.12%) (0.88%)

3. January 25, 2008 Special Resolution for increasing limits for loans/ 21,049,208 207

investments/ corporate guarantee (98.69%) (1.31%)

9. General shareholders’ information
1. Annual General Meeting July 7, 2008 at 4:00 p.m. at Kamalnayan Bajaj hall, Ground

floor, Bajaj bhavan, Nariman Point, Mumbai - 400 021

2. Financial Calendar (2008-09) Financial Year April 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009.

13th Annual General Meeting –  July 7, 2008

Results for the quarter Ended 30.06.2008 – before 31.07.2008

Results for the quarter Ended 30.09.2008 – before 31.10.2008

Results for the quarter Ended 31.12.2008 – before 31.01.2009

Results for the quarter Ended 31.03.2008 – before 30.04.2009

3. Book closure date June 30, 2008 to July 7, 2008 (both days inclusive)

4. Dividend payment date On or after July 16, 2008

5. Listing of equity shares on stock exchanges at National Stock Exchange of India Limited

The Bombay Stock Exchange Limited   

6. Stock code National Stock Exchange of India Limited - INDIAINFO

The Bombay Stock Exchange Limited - 532636   

7 Demat ISIN numbers in NSDL & CDSL for equity shares ISIN No. INE530B01016

8 Registrar & Transfer Agent Intime Spectrum Registry Private Limited, C-13, Pannalal Silk 

Mills Compound, L. B. S. Marg, Bhandup (West), 

Mumbai – 400 078. Tel :+91 22 2596 3838
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9 Share transfer system The Company’s shares are compulsorily traded in dematerialised 
form. In the case of transfers in physical form, which are lodged at 
the Registrar & Transfer Agent’s Office, these are processed within 
a period of 30 days from the date of receipt.

All share transfers and other share related issues are approved in 
the Share Transfer and Investor Grievance Committee Meeting, 
which is normally convened as and when required.

11 Dematerialisation of shares As on March 31, 2008, 99.20% of the paid-up share capital of 
the Company was in dematerialised form. Trading in Equity shares 
of the Company is permitted only in dematerialised form through 
CDSL and NSDL as per notification issued by the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India.

12 Correspondence for dematerialisation, Intime Spectrum Registry Private Limited 
transfer of shares, non –receipt  of dividend C-13, Pannalal Silk Mills Compound,
on shares, and any other query relating to L. B. S. Marg, Bhandup (West), Mumbai – 400 078.
the shares of the Company Tel: +91 22 2596 3838

13 Any query on Annual Report Mr. Nimish Mehta, Compliance Officer, 
contact at registered office 75, Nirlon Complex, Off Western Express Highway, Goregaon 

(East), Mumbai – 400 063. shareholders@indiainfoline.com

14 Outstanding convertible  i) Preferential allotment of 11,000,000 equity warrants was made
instruments, conversion date and likely to the promoters and others on July 4, 2007. Each equity warrant will be
impact on equity exercisable into one equity share to be issued in one or more tranches at the

price of Rs 440 per share within a period of 18 months from the date of
allotment. Against these, application money of 10% of the exercisable price
has been received. If the applicants opt for conversion of equity warrants into
the equity shares, the paid-up share capital of the Company will increase
accordingly.

ii) Preferential allotment of 1,500,000 equity warrants was made to India
Infoline Employee Trust on November 1, 2007. Each equity warrant will be
exercisable into one equity share to be issued in one or more tranches at the
price of Rs 758 per share within a period of 18 months from the date of
allotment. Against these, application money of 10% of the exercisable price
has been received. If the applicants opt for conversion of equity warrants into
the equity shares the paid-up share capital of the Company will increase
accordingly.

iii) There are 2,000 unexercised employee stock options under the
Company’s ESOP plan, 2000 and 90,000 unexercised employee stock
options under the Company’s ESOP plan, 2005. The Company has also
granted 2,362,500 stock options under its ESOP plan, 2005 and 655,000
stock options under its ESOP plan, 2007 which will vest into the grantees in
tranches. Each option granted is convertible into one equity share of the
Company. Upon exercise of options by grantees, the paid-up share capital of
the Company will accordingly increase.
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10. Shareholding pattern
The detailed shareholding pattern of the Company as on March 31, 2008, is as under:

Category No. of shares held Percentage of shareholding

Shareholding of promoter and promoter group

Indian 19,104,276 33.46%

Foreign – 0.00%

Sub total (A)  : 19,104,276 33.46%

Public shareholding (Institutions)

Mutual funds / UTI 3,842,604 6.73%

Financial institutions / banks 30,300 0.05%

Central / state government(S) – 0.00%

Venture capital funds – 0.00%

Insurance companies 55,000 0.10%

FIIs 15,726,081 27.54%

Foreign venture capital – 0.00%

Any other – 0.00%

Sub total (B)  : 19,653,985 34.42%

Public shareholding (Non-Institutions)

Bodies corporate 2,568,903 4.50%

Individual 6,636,832 11.62%

Clearing member 107,340 0.19%

Market maker – 0.00%

Foreign nationals 54,000 0.09%

Non Resident Indians (Repatriable) 1,887,346 3.31%

Non-Resident Indians (Non-Repatriable) – 0.00%

Foreign companies 6,225,017 10.90%

Overseas bodies corporate 850,034 1.49%

Trusts 15,200 0.03%

Sub total (C)  : 18,344,672 32.13%

Grand total (A)+(B)+(C) : 57,102,933 100.00%
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11. Distribution of shareholding as on March 31, 2008
The distribution of shareholders as on March 31, 2008 is as follows:

No. of equity shares held (Range) No. of shareholders % of shareholders No. of shares % of shareholding

1 – 5,000 16,843 95.26% 896,399 1.57%

5,001 – 10,000 262 1.48% 202,724 0.35%

10,001 – 20,000 180 1.02% 275,736 0.48%

20,001 – 30,000 82 0.46% 204,551 0.36%

30,001 – 40,000 28 0.16% 99,646 0.17%

40,001 – 50,000 46 0.26% 215,947 0.38%

50,001 – 100,000 63 0.35% 460,043 0.81%

100,001 & above 180 1.01% 54,747,887 95.88%

Total 17,684 100.00% 57,102,933 100.00%

1. Stock market data
Table below gives the monthly high and low quotations of shares traded at the Stock Exchange, Mumbai and the National Stock

Exchange of India for the current year. The chart below plots the monthly closing price of India Infoline Limited versus the BSE -

Sensex and NSE - S&P CNX Nifty for the year ended March 31, 2008.

Month BSE NSE Total Volume

on BSE 

High (Rs) Low (Rs) Volume High (Rs) Low (Rs) Volume and NSE

Apr-07 477.80 321.55 2,708,724 479.90 321.00 4,306,072 7,014,796 

May-07 676.00 403.00 9,637,724 677.00 401.00 17,055,604 26,693,328 

Jun-07 793.80 583.00 15,044,910 794.95 583.10 27,370,790 42,415,700 

Jul-07 853.00 698.00 15,269,898 853.00 698.50 25,836,576 41,106,474 

Aug-07 752.00 508.10 9,761,943 750.00 499.00 19,978,614 29,740,557 

Sep-07 888.75 660.00 8,539,837 887.00 666.25 17,235,968 25,775,805 

Oct-07 1,150.50 791.00 6,497,107 1,146.90 781.00 11,271,947 17,769,054 

Nov-07 1,318.00 910.00 2,096,500 1,324.00 965.00 5,036,299 7,132,799 

Dec-07 1,967.00 1,251.00 2,272,256 1,971.70 1,251.00 5,352,995 7,625,251 

Jan-08 1,974.90 1,000.00 2,206,055 1,974.95 1,010.00 6,360,596 8,566,651 

Feb-08 1,282.40 970.25 1,298,409 1,284.50 965.00 3,868,393 5,166,802 

Mar-08 1,071.00 660.00 2,606,405 1,090.00 656.00 6,018,203 8,624,608
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Annexure 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial
Officer (CFO) Certification

We, Nirmal Jain, Chairman and Managing Director and Kapil

Krishan, Chief Financial Officer, of India Infoline Ltd, to the

best of our knowledge and belief, certify that:

(a) We have reviewed the financial statements and the cash

flow statement for the year and that to the best of our

knowledge and belief:

(i) these statements do not contain any materially untrue

statement or omit any material fact or contain statements that

might be misleading;

(ii) these statements together present a true and fair view of

the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with the existing

accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations.

(b) There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no

transactions entered into by the Company during the year

which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s code

of conduct.

(c) We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining

internal controls and that we have evaluated the effectiveness

of the internal control systems of the Company and we have

disclosed to the auditors and the Audit Committee, deficiencies

in the design or operation of internal controls, if any, of which

we are aware and the steps we have taken or propose to take

to rectify these deficiencies. 

(d) We  have indicated to the auditors and the Audit

committee

(i) significant changes in internal control during the year;

(ii) significant changes in accounting policies during the year

and that the same have been disclosed in the notes to the

financial statements; and 

(iii) instances of significant fraud of which we have become

aware and  the involvement therein, if any, of the management

or an employee having a significant role in the Company’s

internal control.

Nirmal Jain Kapil Krishan 

Chairman and Managing Director Chief Financial Officer

Mumbai, April 26, 2008
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India Infoline Ltd share price versus 
the BSE Sensex

India Infoline Ltd share price versus 
the NSE S&P CNX Nifty
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Annexure 

Declaration on Compliance with the Code of Conduct

This is to confirm that the Company has adopted a code of

conduct for its Board members and the senior management,

and the same is available on the Company’s website. I confirm

that the Company has in respect of the financial year ended

March 31, 2008, received from the senior management team

of the Company and the members of the Board, a declaration

of compliance with the code of conduct as applicable to them.

For the purpose of this declaration, the term senior

management means the direct reportees to the Chairman and

the Managing Director.

For India Infoline Ltd

Mumbai, Nirmal Jain

April 26, 2008 Chairman and Managing Director

Auditor’s Certificate on Compliance of conditions of
Corporate Governance
To the Members of

India Infoline Limited

We have examined the compliance of conditions of corporate

governance by India Infoline Limited, for the year ended 31st

March 2008 as stipulated in Clause 49 of the Listing

Agreement entered into by the Company with the stock

exchanges.

The compliance of conditions of corporate governance is the

responsibility of the Management. Our examination was limited

to procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the

Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of

corporate governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression

of opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and

according to the explanations given to us, we certify that the

Company has complied in all material respect with the

conditions of corporate governance as stipulated in the above

mentioned Listing Agreement.

We state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to

the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or

effectiveness with which the management has conducted the

affairs of the Company.

Sharp & Tannan Associates

Chartered Accountants

By the hand of

Place: Mumbai Tirtharaj Khot

Date: April 26, 2008 Partner

Membership No.: 37457
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We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of India Infoline

Limited as at March 31, 2008, and also Profit and Loss Account

and also the Cash Flow Statement of the Company for the year

ended on that date, annexed thereto. These financial statements

are the responsibility of the Company's management and our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements based on our audit. 

We have conducted our audit in accordance with auditing

standards generally accepted in India. Those standards require

that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of

material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test

basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In accordance with the provisions of Section 227 of the

Companies Act, 1956, we report that: 

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order,

2003, issued by the Central Government of India under sub-

section (4A) of section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956,

and on the basis of such checks of the books and records of

the Company as we considered appropriate and according to

the information and explanation given to us, we enclose in

the Annexure a statement on the matters specified in

paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order. 

2. Further, to our comments in the Annexure referred to above,

we report that: 

i) we have obtained all the information and explanations

which to the best of our knowledge and belief were

necessary for the purpose of our audit; 

ii) in our opinion, proper books of account as required by

law have been kept by the Company so far as appears

from our examination of the books;

iii) the balance sheet, profit and loss account and also cash

flow statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement

with the books of account; 

iv) in our opinion, the balance sheet, profit and loss account

and also cash flow statement dealt with by this report

comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-

section (3C) of Section 211 of the Companies Act,

1956; and

v) on the basis of written representations received by the

Company from its Directors as on March 31, 2008 and

taken on record by the Board of Directors, we report that

none of the director is disqualified as on March 31,

2008 from being appointed as a Director in terms of the

clause (g) of sub section (1) of  section 274 of the

Companies Act, 1956;

In our opinion and to the best of our information and

according to the explanations given to us, the said

accounts, read together with the significant accounting

policies and notes appearing thereon, give the

information required by the Companies Act, 1956, in the

manner so required and give a true and fair view in

conformity with the accounting principles generally

accepted in India: 

a. in case of the balance sheet, of the state of affairs of

the Company as at March 31, 2008; 

b. in case of the profit and loss account, of the profit for

the year ended on that date; and

c. in case of the cash flow statement, of the cash flows

for the year ended on that date. 

Sharp & Tannan Associates 

Chartered Accountants

By the hand of 

Place: Mumbai Tirtharaj Khot 

Date: April 26, 2008 Partner

Membership No.: 37457

To the Members,  
INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED

Auditors’ Report
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1. a) The Company has been maintaining proper records to
show full particulars including quantitative details and
situation of the fixed assets.  

b) We are informed that the Company has formulated a
programme of physical verification of all the fixed assets
in a phased manner. We are also informed that a
physical verification of the fixed assets have been
carried out by management during the year and there
are no material discrepancies observed between  assets
physically verified and book balances. 

c) The Company has not disposed of any substantial part
of its fixed assets so as to affect its going concern
status.  

2. The Company is not carrying on any manufacturing or
trading activity. Therefore, the provisions of sub clause (a),
(b), and (c), of clause (ii) of paragraph 4 of the Order are
not applicable to the Company. 

3. a) The Company has granted loans to Three Companies
covered in the register maintained under Section 301
of the Companies Act, 1956. The maximum amount
involved during the year were Rs. 3,597,243,684/-
and the year-end balance of loans granted to such
companies was Rs. 689,954,405/-. 

b) In our opinion, the rate of interest and other terms and
conditions of such loans are not, prima facie,
prejudicial to the interest of the Company. 

c) There are no stipulations as to repayment of principal
and interest amounts. 

d) There is no overdue amount in excess of one Rs.1 lakh
in respect of loan granted to Companies listed in the
register maintained under Section 301 of the
Companies Act, 1956 since repayment schedule is not
stipulated. 

e) The Company has not taken any loans from the
companies, firms or other parties covered in the register
maintained under Section 301 of the Companies Act,
1956. As the Company has not taken any loans, the
provisions of sub clause (e), (f) and (g) of clause (iii) of
paragraph 4 of the Order are not applicable to the
Company. 

4. In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, there are adequate internal control
systems commensurate with the size of the Company and
nature of its business, for the purchase of fixed assets and
sale of services. Further, on the basis of our examination of
the books and records of the Company ,and according to the
information and explanations given to us, we have neither

come across nor have we been informed of any continuing
failure to correct of major weaknesses in the aforesaid
internal control systems. 

5. a) In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the particulars of contracts or
arrangements that need to be entered into a Register in
pursuance of Section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956
and those brought to our notice, have been so entered. 

b) In our opinion and according to the information and
explanations given to us, the transactions in pursuance
of such contracts or arrangements entered in the
register maintained under section 301 of the
companies Act, 1956 and exceeding the value of
rupees five lakhs in respect of any party during the
year, have been made at prices which are not
comparable since the prevailing market prices of such
services, in view of the management, are not readily
available. 

6. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the
public of the nature, which attracts the provisions of Section
58A, 58AA or any other relevant provision of the Companies
Act, 1956 and the rules made there under. Therefore, the
provision of clause (vi) of paragraph 4 of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.  

7. In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit system
commensurate with its size and nature of its business.  

8. As per the information and explanations given to us, in
respect of the class of industry the Company falls under, the
maintenance of cost records has not been prescribed by the
Central Government under section 209 (1) (d) of the
Companies act, 1956. Therefore, the provision of clause
(viii) of paragraph 4 of the Order is not applicable to the
Company. 

9. a) According to the information and explanations given to
us and the records of the Company examined by us, in
our opinion, the Company is generally regular in
depositing undisputed statutory dues including
Provident Fund, Investor Education and Protection
Fund, Employees’ State Insurance, Income tax, Sales
tax, Wealth tax, Service tax, Customs duty, Excise duty,
Cess and other material statutory dues as applicable
with the appropriate authorities. Based on the
information furnished to us, there are no undisputed
statutory dues as on March 31, 2008, which are
outstanding for a period exceeding six months from the
date they became payable. 

b) According to the information and explanations given to
us and the records of the Company examined by us, the

Annexure to the Auditors’ Report

Annexure referred to in paragraph 1 of our report dated 26 April 2008, to the members of India 
Infoline Ltd. 
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particulars of sales tax/excise duty/service tax /income
tax /custom duty/wealth tax/ cess as at March 31,
2008 which have not been deposited on account of a

dispute pending, and amount involved and the forum
where dispute is pending are as under: 

Name of the Nature of the Amount (Rs.) Period to Forum where
Statute disputed dues of Tax which the Dispute is pending

amount relates

Income Tax Bad Debts Disallowed and 34,13,731 AY 2005-2006 Income Tax
Act, 1961 Depreciation on BSE Appellate Tribunal

Membership Card

Credit of TDS Certificates not 1,37,04,418 AY 2006-2007 Company is in Process
given of Filing Application 

U/S.154 of the Income
Tax Act, 1961

10. At the end of the financial year, the Company has neither
accumulated losses exceeding fifty percent of its net worth
nor incurred any cash loss during the financial year and in
the immediately preceding financial year.

11. According to the information and explanations given to us,
the Company has not defaulted in repayment of its dues to
its financial institution or bank as at balance sheet date. 

12. We are of the opinion that the Company has maintained
adequate records where the Company has granted loans
and advances on the basis of security by way of pledge of
shares, debentures and other securities.

13. The Company is not a chit fund or a nidhi / mutual benefit
fund / society. Therefore, the provisions of sub clause (a),
(b), (c) and (d) of clause (xiii) of paragraph 4 of the Order
are not applicable to the Company.

14. Based on our examination of the records and evaluation of
the related internal controls, the Company has maintained
proper records of transactions and contracts in respect of its
dealing in shares, securities, debentures and other
investments, as applicable, and timely entries have been
made therein. The aforesaid securities have been held by
the Company in its own name, except to the extent of the
exemption granted under Section 49 of the Companies Act,
1956.

15. The Company has granted a Corporate Guarantee to a bank
in respect of a loan availed by its subsidiary company.
Based on the information and explanations given to us, we
are of the opinion that the terms and conditions on which
the guarantee is given are prima facie, not prejudicial to the
interest of the Company.

16. The Company has not availed any term loan during the
year. Therefore, the provisions of clause (xvi) of paragraph
4 of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

17. According to the information and explanations given to us
and on an overall examination of the balance sheet of the
Company, we report that no funds raised on short-term
basis have been used for long-term investments.

18. According to the information and explanations given to us,
the Company has not made preferential allotment of shares
to parties covered in the Register maintained under section
301 of the Companies Act, 1956.

19. The Company has issued unsecured debentures during the
year. Since, these debentures are unsecured, the Company
is not required to and has not created a charge in respect of
these debentures.

20. The Company has not raised any money through a public
issue during the year. Therefore, the provision of clause (xx)
of paragraph 4 of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

21. During the course of our examination of the books and
records of the Company, carried out in accordance with the
generally accepted auditing practices in India, and
according to the information and explanation given to us,
we have neither come across any instances of material
fraud on or by the Company, noticed or reported during the
year nor have we been informed of such case by
management.

Sharp & Tannan Associates 
Chartered Accountants

By the hand of

Place: Mumbai Tirtharaj Khot 
Date: April 26, 2008. Partner

Membership No.: 37457
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As per our attached report of even date

For Sharp & Tannan Associates For India Infoline Limited

Chartered Accountants

By the hand of

Tirtharaj Khot Nirmal Jain R. Venkataraman Kapil Krishan Nimish Mehta

Partner Managing Director Executive Director Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Membership No. 37457

Place : Mumbai

Dated : April 26, 2008

Schedule As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Shareholders' funds

Share Capital A 571,029,330 501,671,980 

Reserves and Surplus B 9,327,546,337 2,351,781,592 

Equity Share Warrants C 597,700,000 10,496,275,667 44,200,000 2,897,653,572 

Loan Funds

Secured Loans D – 446,823,557 

Unsecured Loans E 1,305,676,323 1,305,676,323 362,696,475 809,520,032 

Total  11,801,951,990  3,707,173,604 

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Fixed Assets (Including Intangibles) F

Gross Block 983,180,924 730,990,618 

Less : Depreciation and Amortisation (350,766,596) (243,849,039)

Net Block 632,414,328 487,141,579 

Capital work-in-progress 4,906,179 637,320,507 – 487,141,579

Investments G 9,156,801,378 1,714,503,772 

Deferred Tax Assets 25,893,936 5,557,808

Current Assets, Loans and Advances H

Sundry Debtors 3,428,126,990 1,307,232,094 

Cash and Bank Balances 2,143,711,902 950,793,117 

Stock on Hand 13,085,124 –

Loans and Advances 3,112,993,717 2,197,398,251

8,697,917,733 4,455,423,462 

Less :Current Liabilities & Provisions I

Current Liabilities 5,148,542,843 2,445,196,842 

Provisions 1,567,438,721 510,256,175

6,715,981,564 2,955,453,017

Net Current Assets 1,981,936,169 1,499,970,445

Total 11,801,951,990 3,707,173,604 

Significant Accounting policies and notes to Accounts N 

(Amount in Rupees)

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008
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As per our attached report of even date

For Sharp & Tannan Associates For India Infoline Limited

Chartered Accountants

By the hand of

Tirtharaj Khot Nirmal Jain R. Venkataraman Kapil Krishan Nimish Mehta

Partner Managing Director Executive Director Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Membership No. 37457

Place : Mumbai

Dated : April 26, 2008

Schedule 2007-2008 2006-2007

INCOME 

Equity brokerage & related income 5,896,589,460 2,313,537,976 

Mutual Funds etc. distribution 190,421,516 –

Merchant banking income 74,047,981 28,200,000

Online & other media – 356,066,086

Other income J 563,342,452 169,368,086

6,724,401,409 2,867,172,148

EXPENDITURE

Direct cost K 1,666,175,875 738,203,422

Employee cost L 1,347,855,834 558,777,659

Administration & other expense M 937,829,789 586,787,672

Interest 211,626,394 63,945,341

Depreciation & amortisation F 194,396,457 123,268,482

4,357,884,349 2,070,982,576

Profit before tax 2,366,517,060 796,189,572

Less: Provision for taxation - Current 793,391,149 260,690,493

- Fringe benefit tax 10,865,146 11,917,407

- Deferred tax (20,336,128) 2,364,980

- Short or Excess Provision of Income Tax 5,284,756 –

Net profit after tax 1,577,312,137 521,216,692

Exceptional Item (Net of Tax) (290,444,000) –

Profit after tax after Exceptional Item 1,286,868,137 –

Net profit after tax for available Appropriations 1,286,868,137 521,216,692

APPROPRIATIONS

Dividend

- Interim dividend – 149,612,079

- Proposed final dividend 342,617,598 –

Dividend distribution tax

- Interim dividend – 20,983,095

- Proposed final dividend 58,227,861 –

Addition due to Merger with India Infoline Securities Pvt. Ltd. – 93,027,410

Transfer to General Reserve 131,000,000 53,000,000

Balance of Profit  brought forward from previous year 474,119,968 83,471,040

Balance of Profit carried forward 1,229,142,646 474,119,968

Earning Per Share before exceptional item - Basic 29.77 11.25

- Diluted 24.68 10.33

Earning Per Share after exceptional item - Basic 24.29 11.25

- Diluted 20.13 10.33

Face Value Per Share 10.00 10.00 

Significant Accounting policies and notes to Accounts N

(Amount in Rupees)

Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008
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As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

Authorised

100,000,000 (Previous Year - 80,000,000) Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each 1,000,000,000 800,000,000 

Issued, Subscribed and Paid Up

57,102,933 (Previous Year - 50,167,198) Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid -up 571,029,330 501,671,980 

Total 571,029,330 501,671,980 

Schedule – A SHARE CAPITAL

(Amount in Rupees)

Securities Premium Account

Opening Balance 1,783,694,414  1,124,870,894 

Addition During The Year 6,029,767,600  658,823,520 

Deduction During The Year – –

7,813,462,014 1,783,694,414 

General Reserve

Opening Balance 83,000,000 30,000,000 

Addition during the year 131,000,000 53,000,000 

214,000,000 83,000,000 

Employee Stock options outstanding 242,814,500 48,375,000 

Less : Deferred Employee Compensation Expense 171,872,823 37,407,790 

70,941,677 10,967,210 

Profit and Loss Account 1,229,142,646 474,119,968 

Total 9,327,546,337  2,351,781,592 

Schedule – B RESERVES AND SURPLUS

Equity Share Warrants (Application money received against Equity Warrants) 597,700,000 44,200,000

Schedule – C EQUITY SHARE WARRANTS

Overdraft  from Banks

Secured against pledging of fixed deposits – 57,480,949 

Secured against margins and collaterals – 389,342,608 

Total – 446,823,557 

Schedule – D SECURED LOANS

1% Optionally Convertible Bonds – 100,112,631 

Non Convertible Debentures 154,113,699 262,583,844 

Commercial Paper 1,150,000,000 –

Others 1,562,624 –

Total 1,305,676,323 362,696,475 

Schedule – E UNSECURED LOANS

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008
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(Amount in Rupees)

GROSS BLOCK (AT COST) DEPRECIATION NET BLOCK 
Assets As at Additions Deductions As at Upto Additions Deductions Upto As at As at

31.03.2007 during the during the 31.3.2008 31.03.2007 during the during the 31.03.2008 31.03.2008 31.03.2007
year year year year

Tangible Assets
Computers 246,791,870 188,889,960 99,717,911 335,963,919 115,938,014 84,837,155 48,902,217 151,872,952 184,090,967 130,853,856 
Electrical Equipment 43,492,153 53,161,282 23,600,181 73,053,254 10,282,488 10,846,061 3,364,199 17,764,350 55,288,904 33,209,665 
Furniture & Fixture 288,836,036 148,654,256 116,903,167 320,587,125 59,381,959 58,102,787 27,679,643 89,805,103 230,782,022 229,454,077 
Office Equipment 107,753,686 94,176,032 31,712,658 170,217,060 31,945,592 25,913,160 7,532,841 50,325,911 119,891,149 75,808,094 
Premises 14,074,920 14,074,920 527,810 527,810 13,547,110 –
Vehicles 7,100 – – 7,100 7,100 7,100 – –
Sub Total 686,880,845 498,956,450 271,933,917 913,903,378 217,555,153 180,226,973 87478900 310,303,226 603,600,152 469,325,692 
Intangible Assets
Software 31,687,815 25,167,773 56,855,588 21,325,101 11,685,092 33,010,193 23,845,395 10,362,714 
Non Compete Fees 12,421,958 12,421,958 4,968,785 2,484,392 7,453,177 4,968,781 7,453,173 
Sub Total 44,109,773 25,167,773 – 69,277,546 26,293,886 14,169,484 – 40,463,370 28,814,176 17,815,887 
Grand Total 730,990,618 524,124,223 271,933,917 983,180,924 243,849,039 194,396,457 87,478,900 350,766,596 632,414,328 487,141,579
Previous Year 87,481,776 671,608,844 28,100,001 730,990,618 52,308,658 202,780,382 11,240,001 243,849,039 487,141,579 

Schedule – F FIXED ASSETS

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

Schedule – G INVESTMENTS
Unquoted, Non - Trade, Current  
(valued At cost or market value whichever is lower)
1) Canara Robeco Mutual Fund

Canara Robeco Multicap Dividend Plan - 
Payout NAV Rs. 11.52 (P.Y. : 9.94) 10 50,000 500,000 50,000 500,000 

2) Kotak Mutual Fund
Kotak Flexi Debt Scheme - (Daily Dividend 
Reinvestment) NAV Rs. 10.0311 10 49,992,289 501,477,651 – –

3) Reliance Mutual Fund
Liquid Plus Fund-institutional option - (Daily 
Dividend Reinvestment) NAV Rs.1001.1364 1,000 552,846 553,474,140 – –
Liquidity Fund - daily dividend Reinvestment 
Option, NAV Rs.10.0031 10 1,352,065 13,524,838 – –

1,068,976,629 500,000 
Un-Quoted, Non Trade, Long Term (Valued at cost)
1) 16 % Debenture of Ordyn Technology Pvt. Ltd.

Series A  Non Convertible Debentures 100 1,500,000 150,000,000 1,500,000 150,000,000 
Series B  Optionable Convertible Debentures 100 500,000 50,000,000 500,000 50,000,000 

2) India Infoline Private Equity Fund (Trust) 100,200,000 – –
300,200,000 200,000,000 

Unquoted, Trade, Long Term (Valued At Cost)
Investments in Subsidiaries:
India Infoline Investment Services Ltd. 10 18,200,000 6,414,038,775 5,000,000 1,371,990,000 
India Infoline Marketing Services Ltd. 10 17,000,000 610,700,000 – –
IIFL Realty Ltd. 10 5,050,000 500,500,000 – –
IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd., S$.1 7,300,000 199,760,872 – –
India Infoline Commodities Ltd 10 200,000 20,000,000 200,000 20,000,000 
IIFL Wealth Management Ltd. 10 50,000 12,500,000 – –
India Infoline Commodities DMCC. AED 1000 950 11,755,102 950 11,755,102 
India Infoline Media & Research Services Ltd. 10 50,000 500,000 50,000 500,000 
IIFL Ventures Ltd. 10 50,000 500,000 – –
IIFL Capital Ltd. 10 50,000 500,000 – –
India Infoline Distribution Company Ltd 10 – – 1,400,100 49,999,700 
India Infoline Insurance Services Ltd 10 – – 481,330 10,000,000 
India Infoline Insurance Brokers Ltd. 10 – – 50,000 5,000,000 
India Infoline Housing Finance Ltd. 10 – – 2,000,000 20,000,000 
Moneyline Credit Ltd. 100 – – 6,500,000 7,888,970 
Equity Shares of Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd 
includes written down value of the Membership card 1 10,000 16,870,000 10,000 16,870,000 

7,787,624,749 1,514,003,772 
Total Investments 9,156,801,378 1,714,503,772 

Face Value Number Amount Number Amount

As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007
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As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

A) Current Assets

I) Sundry Debtors (Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated)

Outstanding for a period exceeding six months 32,294,519 29,535,496

Considered doubtful 16,200,001 7,375,518 

48,494,520 36,911,014

Other Debts 3,395,832,471 1,277,696,598 

Provision for Doubtful Debts (16,200,001) (7,375,518)

3,428,126,990 1,307,232,094

II) Cash and Bank Balance

Cash on Hand 6,468,692 5,783,918

Bank Balances

With Schedule Banks :

– In Current Accounts 609,714,509 265,451,842

– in Fixed Deposits 1,527,528,701 679,557,357 

2,143,711,902 950,793,117

Stock On Hand Qty Face Value

National Thermal Power Corporation Ltd 55,250 10 10,737,837 –

Bharat Petroleum Corporation Ltd 1,750 10 719,687 –

HCL Technologies Ltd. 6,500 2 1,627,600 –

13,085,124 –

B) Loans And Advances (Unsecured, Considered good, unless otherwise stated)

Loans to Subsidiaries – 631,664,573 

Advances to Subsidiaries 783,269,651 485,259,249 

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received. 486,386,406 83,863,315

Deposits with stock exchanges and others 434,316,212 203,179,883 

Advance Income Tax, Refund & Tax deducted at Source 1,152,857,649 410,343,115 

Other Loans & Advances 256,163,799 383,088,116

3,112,993,717 2,197,398,251 

Total 8,697,917,733 4,455,423,462 

Schedule – H CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND ADVANCES

(Amount in Rupees)

A) Current Liabilities

Sundry Creditors

Total Outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises. – –

Total Outstanding dues of creditors other then micro and small enterprises 3,055,546,254 1,798,431,569 

Dues to Subsidiary – 417,299,788 

Income Received in Advance – 651,601 

Interest Accrued but not due – 524,160 

Other Liabilities 2,092,996,589 228,289,724 

5,148,542,843 2,445,196,842 

B) Provisions

Provision for Gratuity 13,644,968 9,702,687 

Provision for Leave Encashment 15,553,348 7,460,884 

Provision for Taxation 1,137,394,946 493,092,604 

Proposed Dividend 342,617,598 –

Provision for Dividend Distribution Tax 58,227,861 –

1,567,438,721 510,256,175 

Total 6,715,981,564 2,955,453,017 

Schedule – I CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008
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2007-2008 2006-2007

Financing Income (Includes T.D.S Rs. 5,56,12,341/- P.Y. Rs. 2,68,82,120) 414,297,734 130,656,309

Sub letting income – 10,030,628

Miscellaneous income 149,044,718 5,252,649 

Client referral fees – 11,278,500

Call centre income – 12,150,000

Total 563,342,452 169,368,086 

Schedule – J OTHER INCOME

(Amount in Rupees)

Brokerage rebate and remisier expenses 606,836,443 394,734,033 

Exchange and statutory charges 1,059,339,432 343,469,389 

Total 1,666,175,875 738,203,422 

Schedule – K DIRECT COST

Salaries and bonus 1,208,510,771 504,934,893 

Contribution to provident fund and other funds 45,577,886 19,636,438 

Gratuity 4,476,884 7,977,204 

Staff welfare expenses 29,315,826 15,261,914 

Deferred employee compensation expense 59,974,467 10,967,210 

Total 1,347,855,834 558,777,659 

Schedule – L EMPLOYEE COST

Advertisement expenses 65,169,538 25,980,730 

Rent expenses 201,162,914 142,207,632 

Electricity expenses 48,138,978 27,936,563 

Communication expenses 144,078,198 143,515,100 

Printing and stationery 48,034,733 44,126,125 

Postage and courier 35,972,641 12,949,006 

Provision for doubtful debts 8,824,483 –

Bank charges 16,595,750 19,588,595 

Repairs and maintenance:

- Computers 619,176 5,453,532 

- Others 13,429,797 14,048,973 6,827,695 

Travelling and conveyance 64,442,557 28,625,662 

Legal and professional charges 180,675,352 41,203,255 

Remuneration to auditors

- Audit fees 1,480,000 600,000 

- Certification work and other matters 563,879 81,116 

- Out of pocket expenses 92,527 2,136,406 189,247 

Office expenses 34,672,415 24,058,377 

Software charges 61,394,844 42,758,974 

Miscellaneous expenses 12,482,007 20,686,063 

Total 937,829,789 586,787,672 

Schedule – M ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES

Schedules forming part of the Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008
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Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet & Profit and Loss Accounts
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account
for the Year ended March 31, 2008.

A. Significant Accounting Policies:  

1) Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared under historical cost convention on an accrual basis. 

2) Use of Estimates

The presentation of financial statements in conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles requires estimates and assumptions

to be made that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities on the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Difference between the actual result and estimates are recognised in the period in which

the results are known / materialised.

3) Revenue Recognition

Brokerage income earned on secondary market operations is accounted (inclusive method) on trade dates. 

Depository & related income is accounted (inclusive method) on accrual basis.

4) Fixed Assets and Depreciation

Fixed assets are stated at cost of acquisition less accumulated depreciation thereon. Depreciation is charged using the straight line method

based on the useful life of fixed assets as estimated by the management as specified below, or the rates specified in accordance with the

provisions of schedule XIV of the Companies Act, 1956, which-ever is higher. 

Depreciation is charged from the quarter in which new assets are acquired. No depreciation is charged from the quarter in which assets are

sold.

Individual assets costing less than Rs.5,000/- has been depreciated in full in the year of purchase. 

Estimated useful life of the assets is as under:

5) Investments

Investments are classified into current and long-term investments. Current investments are stated at lower of cost or market value. Long-

term investments are carried at cost less provisions, if any, for permanent diminution in the value of such Investment.

6) Foreign exchange transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the prevailing rates at the time transactions were effected. Foreign currency assets &

liabilities outstanding at the year-end are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on that day; gain / loss on transactions are accounted in

the Profit & Loss account. 

7) Retirement Benefits

The Company’s contribution towards Provident Fund and Family Pension Fund is charged against revenue on actual basis.

The Company has provided Gratuity and leave encashment on the basis of actuarial valuation.

8) Deferred Employee Stock Compensation 

The Company has formulated an Employees stock Option Scheme. The Scheme provides that employees are granted an option to acquire

equity shares of the Company that vests in a granted manner. The options may be exercised within a specified period. The Company follows

the intrinsic value method as prescribed by the guidance note on “Accounting for stock options” issued by the Institute of Chartered

Accountants of India (“ICAI”) to account for its stock-based employees compensation plans. 

9) Leases

Lease rentals in respect of operating lease arrangements are charged to the Profit & Loss Account in accordance with Accounting Standard

19 – Leases, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

10) Taxes on Income

Provision for current tax is computed in accordance with relevant tax provisions.

Deferred tax is recognised for all timing differences between accounting income & taxable income and is quantified using enacted /

substantially enacted tax rates as at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised subject to the management judgement that

the realisation is virtually / reasonably certain. 

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES

Furniture and fixtures 5 years 

Computer equipment 3 years 

Software 3 years 

Office equipment 5 years 

Premises 20 years
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Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet & Profit and Loss Accounts
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account
for the Year ended March 31, 2008.

B. Notes to accounts  

1) The Company has provided a Corporate Guarantee on behalf of wholly owned subsidiary India Infoline Commodities Ltd. to the extent of 

Rs. 80,000,000 (Previous year Rs. 80,000,000)

2) Interest expenses include the interest on Debentures Rs. 98,489,300 (Previous year Rs. 20,539,725) and Discount on Commercial paper

Rs. 75,839,398/- (Previous year nil).

3) The Company provides for the use of its subsidiaries certain facilities like use of premises, infrastructure and other facilities and services

and the same are termed as ‘Shared Services’. Hitherto, such shared services consisting of administrative and other revenue expenses paid

for by the Company were identified and recovered from them based on reasonable management estimates in accordance with Board

Resolution passed in this regard, which are constantly refined in the light of additional knowledge gained relevant to such estimation. During

the year ended March 31, 2008, these expenses are recovered on an actual basis and the estimates are used only where actual were

difficult to determine. 

4) Employee Stock Option Scheme (ESOS/ ESOP)

The Company during the financial year 1999-2000 had announced an Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP 2000), which provided for grant

of share options to employees of the Company. The plan had reserved a total of 815,000 shares (2,445,000 shares after giving effect to

Bonus shares) The Company has granted the options in three tranches being 1,137,000 options on March 1, 2000; 979,250 options on

April 1, 2003, and finally 694,200 options on October 1, 2004 from the ESOPs including lapsed options from the earlier offerings. As on

date 2,000 options are in force and 299,340 options have lapsed. No further option shall be granted under the said scheme (ESOP 2000)

in terms of the disclosures made in the prospectus dated April 11, 2005 issued by the Company.  

The Company pursuant to approval of “Employee Stock Option Plan 2005” (ESOP 2005) at the Extra ordinary General Meeting of the

shareholders of the Company held on January 25, 2006 provided for issue of 2,500,000 options entitling to a 2,500,000 shares to the

employees of the Company and its subsidiaries including directors of the Company (except an employee or director who is a promoter or

belongs to the promoter group or a director who either by himself or through his relatives or through anybody corporate, directly or indirectly

holds more than10% of the outstanding equity shares of the Company at any time) whether in India or at overseas location, during the year

the Company has granted 1,000,000 options (in addition to 1,500,000 options granted earlier) including lapsed options from the earlier

offerings under this plan.

The Company pursuant to approval of “Employee Stock Option Scheme 2007” (ESOP 2007) at the Extra ordinary General Meeting of the

shareholders of the Company held on October 20, 2007 provided for issue of 1,500,000 options entitling to 1,500,000 shares to the

employees of the Company and its subsidiaries including directors of the Company (except an employee or director who is a promoter or

belongs to the promoter group or a director who either by himself or through his relatives or through anybody corporate, directly or indirectly

holds more than 10% of the outstanding equity shares of the Company at any time) whether in India or at overseas location, during the

year the Company has granted 655,000 options under this plan.

5) Upon conversion of 1,000 1% Optionally Convertible Bonds by DSP Merill Lynch Capital Ltd, the Company has allotted 588,235 equity

shares on June, 2007.

6) 2,600,000 equity share were allotted upon conversion of equity warrants issued to promoters in February, 2006. 

7) Pursuant to the approval of shareholders, at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on January 17, 2008 the Company

has issued 3,700,000 equity shares on preferential basis to Orient Global Tamarind Fund Pte. Ltd. at a price of Rs.1,500 per share.

8) During the year, with a view to consolidate the shareholdings of all the finance subsidiary companies and focus expansion the Company

transferred its investments in financial subsidiary companies viz., India Infoline Distribution Company Ltd, Moneyline Credit Ltd and India

Infoline Housing Finance Ltd to India Infoline Investment Services Ltd (subsidiary company).

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES (Contd..)

Name of Subsidiary Amount Disinvested

India Infoline Housing Finance Ltd. 20,000,000 

India Infoline Distribution Co. Ltd. 49,999,700 

Moneyline Credit Ltd. 7,888,970 

(Amount in Rupees)
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Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet & Profit and Loss Accounts

9) During the year, with a view to focus expansion of the insurance business, the Company transferred its investments in insurance subsidiary

companies viz., India Infoline Insurance Services Ltd and India Infoline Insurance Brokers Limited to India Infoline Marketing Services

Limited (subsidiary company).

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account
for the Year ended March 31, 2008.

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES (Contd..)

Name of Subsidiary Amount Disinvested

India Infoline Insurance Brokers Ltd. 5,000,000

India Infoline Insurance Services Ltd. 10,000,000

(Amount in Rupees)

10) During the year, the Company has formed new subsidiaries as mentioned below:

Name of Subsidiary Amount invested Nature of Business

India Infoline Marketing Services Ltd. 610,700,000 Holding company of insurance activities

IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd. 199,760,872 Financial services activities in Asia

IIFL Wealth Management Ltd. 12,500,000 Wealth Management activities for HNI

IIFL Realty Ltd.* 500,500,000 Invest in real estate infrastructure

IIFL Ventures Ltd.* 500,000 Invest in venture capital activities

IIFL Capital Ltd.* 500,000 Newly formed company

(Amount in Rupees)

*These subsidiaries have not commenced operations till March 31, 2008

11) Deferred Tax Assets

Particulars 2007-2008 2006-2007

On Gratuity 4,637,925 3,297,944

Depreciation 15,749,631 (247,074)

Provision for doubtful debts 5,506,380 2,506,938

Total 25,893,936 5,557,808

(Amount in Rupees)

13) At balance sheet date, there were outstanding commitments for capital expenditure to the tune of RS. 22,371,790 of the total contractual

obligation entered during the year. 

14) The Company operates in only one geographic segment i.e. ‘India’. Hence separate information on geographical segment is not required.

The accounting policies adopted for segment reporting are in line with the accounting policies adopted for preparation of financial

information of the Company.

15) The Company has neither received any notice / order / demand from any statutory authorities nor there were any instance of non-compliance

with requirements of regulatory authorities that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance

except Demand notice issued by Income Tax Department under section 156 of Income Tax Act, 1961 (“the Act”) amounting to 

Rs. 3,413,731 for A.Y 2005-2006. The Company has filed an appeal with the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal against the said demand.

The Company has received intimation under section 143(1) of the Act, in respect of A.Y. 2006-2007, demanding a sum of 

Rs. 13,704,418. The Company is in process of filing application for rectification of the said intimation under section 154 of Income Tax

Act, 1961.

Minimum Lease Rentals 2007-2008 2006-2007

Due for:

- Upto one year 13,147,543 43,739,236

- One to five years 207,726,387 20,377,000

- Over five years – –

Total 220,873,930 64,116,236

(Amount in Rupees)

12) The Company has taken office premises on operating lease at various locations. Lease rent in respect of the same have been charged to

Profit and Loss account .The agreements are executed for a period ranging from one to five years with a renewable clause. Some agreements

have a clause for a minimum lock-in period. The minimum Lease rentals outstanding as at March 31, 2008, are as under:
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Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet & Profit and Loss Accounts
Significant Accounting Policies and Notes forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account
for the Year ended March 31, 2008.

16) Utilisation of Preferential Allotment proceeds

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES (Contd..)

Preferential Allotment

Equity 5,550,000,000

Equity warrants (Allotment) 397,800,000

Equity warrants (10% Advance) 597,700,000

Total Mobilisation 6,545,500,000

Utilisation 

Capital Expenditure 81,591,062

Deposits with Exchange and other Working Capital 1,690,208,938

Long term business commitment 4,773,700,000

Total Utilisation 6,545,500,000

(Amount in Rupees)

17) Related Party Disclosures:

Related party disclosures as on March 31, 2008.

a) Related parties where control exists:

Name of relationship Name of party

Subsidiaries India Infoline Investment Services Ltd 

India Infoline Media and Research Services Ltd 

India Infoline Marketing Services Ltd

India Infoline Commodities Ltd

India Infoline Commodities DMCC

IIFL Wealth Management Ltd 

IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd

IIFL Realty Ltd

IIFL Ventures Ltd

IIFL Capital Ltd

Step down subsidiaries India Infoline Insurance Services Ltd

India Infoline Insurance Brokers Ltd

India Infoline Distribution Company Ltd 

India Infoline Housing Finance Ltd

Moneyline Credit Ltd 

IIFL Inc.

b) Key Management Personnel        

Mr. Nirmal Jain

Mr. R. Venkataraman

Other related party

Mrs. Madhu Jain (wife of Mr. Nirmal Jain)
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Significant Accounting Policies and Notes forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account
for the Year ended March 31, 2008.

11) Deferred Tax Assets

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES (Contd..)

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet & Profit and Loss Accounts

c) Significant Transactions with Related Parties

Significant transactions with related parties (figure in bracket represents previous year figures)
(Amount in Rupees)

Nature of Transaction Subsidiaries Key Managerial Other Related Total
Personnel Parties

Investment (refer schedule G) 6,366,509,647 – – 6,366,509,647
(1,094,644,072) – – (1,094,644,072)

Share Capital (refer Schedule A) – 358,739,610 83,260,390 442,000,000
– – – –

Purchase of Securities 7,279,561,440 49,860 – 7,279,611,300
(9,759,417,939) (121,122,003) – (9,880,539,942)

Sale of Securities 7,606,690,247 315,366 – 7,607,005,613
(9,472,034,336) (119,021,705) – (9,591,056,041)

Sale of Investments 128,015,012 – – 128,015,012
– – – –

Brokerage Income 220,981 732 – 221,712
(2,812,915) (83,766) – (2,896,681)

Remuneration – 20,931,762 – 20,931,762
– (16,717,500) – (16,717,500)

Reimbursement of Expenses – – – –   
– (49,200) – (49,200)

Interest Income 123,909,910 – – 123,909,910
(69,438,891) – – (69,438,891)

Processing Fees recovered 147,932,859 – – 147,932,859
– – – –

Client Referral Income – – – –
(11,278,500) – – (11,278,500)

Call Centre Income – – – –
(12,150,000) – – (12,150,000)

Corporate Guarantee 80,000,000 – – 80,000,000
(80,000,000) – – (80,000,000)

Advances given/Reimbursement of Expenses 1,033,157,115 – – 1,033,157,115
(2,779,059,208) – – (2,779,059,208)

Advances taken/allocation of expenses 485,669,030 – – 485,669,030 
(2,906,654,104) – – (2,906,654,104)

Outstanding as on March 31, 2008 (Amount in Rupees)
Nature of Transaction Subsidiaries Key Managerial Others Related Total

Personnel Parties

Creditors – 439 – 439

(417,299,788) – – (417,299,788)

Loans & Advances 783,269,651 – – 783,269,651

(1,116,923,822) – – (1,116,923,822)

Investments 7,770,754,749 – – 7,770,754,749

(1,497,133,772) – – (1,497,133,772)

Guarantees 80,000,000 – – 80,000,000

(80,000,000) – – (80,000,000)

18) The Company is recognising and accruing the employee benefits as per accounting standard (AS) -15 On “Employee Benefits”
Details are given below:-

Assumptions For the year

Discount Rate Previous year 8.00%

Salary Escalation Previous year 5.00%

Discount Rate Current year 8.00%

Salary Escalation Current year 5.00%
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Significant Accounting Policies and Notes forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account
for the Year ended March 31, 2008.

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES (Contd..)

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet & Profit and Loss Accounts

Change in Benefit Obligation For the year

Liability at the beginning of the year 9,702,687

Interest Cost 1,701,105

Current Service Cost 11,828,409

Benefit Paid (534,603)

Less: actuarial gain on obligations 9,052,630

Liability at the end of the year 13,644,968

Amount Recognised in the Balance Sheet For the year

Liability at the end of the year 13,644,968

Fair Value of Plan Assets at the end of the year –

Difference (13,644,968)

Amount of liability recognised in the Balance Sheet 13,644,968

Expenses Recognised in the Income Statement For the year

Current Service Cost 11,828,409

Interest Cost 1,701,105

Expected Return on Plan Assets –

Less: actuarial gain 9,052,630

Expense Recognised in P& L 4,476,884

Balance Sheet Reconciliation For the year

Opening Net Liability 9,702,687

Expense as above 4,476,883

Employers Contribution 534,603

Amount Recognised in Balance Sheet 13,644,968

19) Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share [“EPS”] computed in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS) 20 ‘Earnings per share”

Particulars 2007-2008 2006-2007

Basic

Profit after tax as per Profit and Loss account Before Exceptional Item A 1,577,312,137 521,216,692 

Number of Shares Subscribed B 52,989,506 46,334,726 

Basic EPS (Rupees) A/B 29.77 11.25 

Profit after tax as per Profit and Loss account C 1,286,868,137 521,216,692 

Basic EPS (Rupees) C/B 24.29 11.25 

Diluted

Profit after tax as per Profit and Loss account Before Exceptional Item A 1,577,312,137 525,658,745 

Number of Shares Subscribed 52,989,506 46,334,726 

Add : Potential Equity Shares on Account conversion of Employees Stock Options, 

Promoter warrants, OCB etc. 10,932,230 4,554,619 

Weighted Number of shares Outstanding B 63,921,736 50,889,345 

Diluted EPS (Rupees) A/B 24.68 10.33 

Profit after tax as per Profit and Loss account C 1,286,868,137 525,658,745 

Diluted EPS (Rupees) C/B 20.13 10.33 
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Significant Accounting Policies and Notes forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account
for the Year ended March 31, 2008.

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES (Contd..)

21) Directors Remuneration

Computation of Net Profit in accordance with Section 349 of the Companies Act, 1956

20) Loans and Advances Includes Dues from Companies under same Management

Sl. No. Particulars 2007-2008 2006-2007

1 India Infoline Investment Services Ltd. Outstanding at year end – 631,664,573 

Maximum Amount Outstanding –   976,437,812 

2 India Infoline Insurance Services Ltd. Outstanding at year end –   250,973,826 

Maximum Amount Outstanding –   338,741,823 

3 India Infoline Distribution Company Ltd. Outstanding at year end 47,879,819 116,906,341 

Maximum Amount Outstanding 117,209,560 287,452,727 

4 India Infoline Insurance Brokers Ltd. Outstanding at year end –   –   

Maximum Amount Outstanding –   174,170 

5 India Infoline Media & Research Services Ltd. Outstanding at year end 17,377,674 112,547,512 

Maximum Amount Outstanding 421,105,897 112,547,512 

6 India Infoline Commodities DMCC Outstanding at year end 26,640,047 4,831,570 

Maximum Amount Outstanding 26,640,047 4,831,570 

7 IIFL Capital Ltd. Outstanding at year end 824,217 –   

Maximum Amount Outstanding 824,217 –   

8 IIFL Realty Ltd. Outstanding at year end 689,954,403 –   

Maximum Amount Outstanding 689,954,405 –   

9 IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd. Outstanding at year end 335,490 –   

Maximum Amount Outstanding 335,490 –   

10 IIFL Ventures Ltd. Outstanding at year end 258,000 –   

Maximum Amount Outstanding 258,000 –   

Particulars 2007-2008 2006-2007

Wholetime Directors 

Salaries and Allowances 20,896,880 16,717,500

Company Contribution to Provident Fund 34,882 48,480

Perquisites – 49,200

Non-Wholetime Directors 

Commission 1,500,000 2,000,000

(Amount in Rupees)

Particulars 2007-2008 2006-2007

Profit before tax as per Profit and Loss Account (after exceptional item) 1,926,517,060 796,189,572

Add:

Depreciation charged to the Accounts 194,396,457 123,268,482

Managing and Whole -time Directors' remuneration              20,931,762 16,815,180

Directors sitting fees 900,000 814,480

2,142,745,279 937,087,714

Less:

Depreciation as per section 350 of the Companies Act, 1956 71,944,183 50,578,557

Excess of expenditure over income as per Section 349 – –

Net profit as per section 349 of the Companies Act, 1956 2,070,801,096 886,509,157

Maximum permissible remuneration under section 198 of the companies 

Act, 1956 @ 10% of the profit computed above to Whole Time Directors 207,080,110 88,650,916

Maximum permissible remuneration under section 198 of the companies 

Act, 1956 @ 1% of the profit computed above to Non-Whole Time Directors 20,708,011 8,865,092

(Amount in Rupees)

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet & Profit and Loss Accounts

Inside_Pages_2Col.qxp:Inside pages  6/16/08  3:08 PM  Page 88



89Annual Report 2007-08 |

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account
for the Year ended March 31, 2008.

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES (Contd..)

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet & Profit and Loss Accounts

22) Information under paragraphs 3 and 4 of part II to schedule VI of the Companies Act, 1956 is stated to the extent applicable.

Particulars 2007-2008 2006-2007

Earnings in Foreign Currency

Investment Banking & Research Income 33,940,273 –

Online Media – 3,405,946

Expenses in Foreign Currency

Professional Fees 1,674,569 3,299,822

Travelling Expenses 12,916,143 1,605,265

Membership & Subscription 1,381,193 –

Legal Expenses 7,664,263 –

Wire Service 451,998 –

Salaries 3,339,718 3,108,218

(Amount in Rupees)

Details of dividend remitted in foreign currency.

Particulars 2007-2008 2006-2007

Type of Dividend Interim Dividend 

Number of Non-resident shareholder – 5

Number of shares held by them – 981,000

Gross amount of dividend – 2,943,000

(Amount in Rupees)

Financing income includes dividend on current investments of Rs. 47,844,562 (previous year Rs. 4,814,096) ; profit on sale of

investments Rs. 74,950,110 (previous year Rs. 72) and interest income Rs. 275,808,967 (previous year Rs. 125,842,213)

The Company purchased & redeemed units of various mutual funds during the year

For the year ended 31.03.2008 For the year ended 31.03.2007

Quantity (‘000) Value (Rs. Mn.) Quantity (‘000) Value (Rs. Mn.)

Purchases 5,988,046 64,995 240,819 2,777 

Sales 5,936,149 63,926 240,819 2,777 

Quantitative detail of opening stock, purchases, sales and closing stock of shares (including derivatives)

These shares were purchased / sold on arbitrage basis.

For the year ended 31.03.2008 For the year ended 31.03.2007

Quantity Value (in Rs.) Quantity Value (in Rs.)

Opening – – – –

Purchases 20,144,174 8,686,176,762 – –

Sales 20,146,658 8,688,785,733 – –

Profit / (Loss) 15,694,095 –

Closing Stock 63,500 13,085,124 – –
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23) Exceptional item of Rs 290,444,000 (net of tax) relates to one time sign on bonus paid to senior management personnel inducted to

strengthen the Company’s institutional equities business.

24) There are no dues to micro & small enterprises (MSEs) outstanding for more than 45 days based on information available with the Company.

25) Previous year figures have been re-grouped, re-classified & re-arranged, wherever considered necessary to confirm to current years

presentation.

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes forming part of the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account
for the Year ended March 31, 2008.

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES (Contd..)

As per our attached report of even date

For Sharp & Tannan Associates For India Infoline Limited
Chartered Accountants
By the hand of

Tirtharaj Khot Nirmal Jain R. Venkataraman Kapil Krishan Nimish Mehta
Partner Managing Director Executive Director Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Membership No. 37457

Place : Mumbai
Dated : April 26, 2008

Investments Purchased and sold during the year :

Security Name Purchase Sale

Quantity Value (in Rs.) Quantity Value (in Rs.)

Simplex Project Ltd 1,840 340,400 1,840 472,142 

Power Grid Corporation of India Ltd 534,574 27,797,848 534,574 52,289,510 

Consolidated Construction Consortium Ltd 25,503 13,006,530 25,503 23,897,354 

Religare Enterprises Ltd 2,584 478,040 2,584 1,495,148 

BGR Energy Systems Ltd 5,915 2,839,200 5,915 5,250,059 

Transformers and Rectifiers (India) Ltd 2,579 1,199,235 2,579 2,080,838 

Total 572,995 45,661,253 572,995 85,485,051 

Schedules forming part of the Balance Sheet & Profit and Loss Accounts
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Cash Flow Statement for the year ended March 31, 2008

As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net profit before taxation, and extraordinary item 1,926,517,060 796,189,572 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation & Amortisation 194,396,457 123,268,482 

Provisions for Gratuity 4,476,884 7,977,204 

Provisions for Leave Encashment 12,736,547 8,232,126 

Foreign exchange loss – (32,003)

Provision for Doubtful Debts 8,824,483 –

Financing income (414,297,734) (130,656,309)

Loss / (Profit) on Sale of Investments (74,950,110) –

Interest expense 211,626,394 63,945,341 

India Infoline Securities Pvt. Ltd. (Reserves) – 93,027,410 

Operating profit before working capital changes 1,869,329,981 961,951,823 

(Increase) / Decrease in sundry debtors (2,129,719,379) (1,252,356,853)

(Increase) / Decrease in Loans & Advances (1,179,805,278) (740,149,801)

(Increase) / Decrease in Group Co. Balances (83,645,617) 644,452,456 

Increase / (Decrease) in Provisions 1,039,969,115 291,054,475 

Increase / (Decrease) in Current Liabilities 2,719,800,329 2,006,100,337 

Cash generated from operations 2,235,929,151 1,911,052,437 

Cash flow before extraordinary item 2,235,929,151 1,911,052,437 

Foreign Exchange Loss – 32,003 

Tax (Paid) / Refund (742,514,534) (292,335,251)

Net cash from operating activities 1,493,414,617 1,618,749,189 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of fixed assets (319,407,612) (567,754,597)

Sale of Investments 167,838,780 –

Purchase of intangibles (25,167,773) (7,482,348)

Purchase of Investments (7,535,186,276) (712,012,175)

Financing income 414,297,734 130,656,309 

Net cash from investing activities (7,297,625,147) (1,156,592,810)

(Amount in Rupees)
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As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of share capital 6,054,924,950 709,486,990 

Issue of Share Warrants 597,700,000 –

(Repayment) / Proceeds of borrowings 596,156,241 681,809,890 

Conversion of optionally convertible bonds (99,999,950) (699,999,990)

Deferred Employee Compensation 59,974,467 10,967,210 

Interest paid (211,626,394) (63,945,341)

Dividend Paid – (170,595,174)

Net cash used in financing activities 6,997,129,314 467,723,586 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,192,918,785 929,879,965 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period (see note 1) 950,793,117 20,913,151 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (see note 1) 2,143,711,902 950,793,117 

Net increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Opening Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand and balances with banks 950,793,117 20,913,151 

Closing Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand and balances with banks 2,143,711,902 950,793,117 

2,143,711,902 950,793,117 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,192,918,785 929,879,965 

(Amount in Rupees)

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended March 31, 2008

1. Cash flow statement has been prepared under the Indirect Method as set out in the Accounting Standard (AS-3) "Cash Flow

Statement" issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2. Previous year's figure are re-grouped / re-arranged wherever considered necessary.

As per our attached report of even date

For Sharp & Tannan Associates For India Infoline Limited
Chartered Accountants
By the hand of

Tirtharaj Khot Nirmal Jain R. Venkataraman Kapil Krishan Nimish Mehta
Partner Managing Director Executive Director Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Membership No. 37457

Place : Mumbai
Dated : April 26, 2008
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Public Issue

Bonus Issue

3 1 0 3

Registration No.

Balance Sheet Date

I. Registration Details

II. Capital Raised during the year (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Total Liabilities

III. Position of Mobilisation and Deployment of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

2 0 0 8

Date Month Year

Private Placement

Paid-up Capital

Sources of Funds

Total Assets

Reserves & Surplus

IV. Performance of Company (Amount in Rs. Thousands)

Product Description Item Code No. (ITC Code)

V. Generic Names of Three Principal Products / Services of Company (as per monetary terms)

Net Fixed Assets Investments

Turnover

Profit/Loss before Tax 
(Please tick Appropriate box 
+ for Profit – for Loss)

Total Expenditure

Profit/ Loss after Tax
(please tick Appropriate box 
+ for Profit – for Loss)

Application of Funds

1 1 8 0 1 9 5 2

9 3 7 9 7

5 7 1 0 2 9

6 7 2 4 4 0 1

+ 2 3 6 6 5 1 7

4 3 5 7 8 8 4

+ 1 2 8 6 8 6 8

Basic Earnings Per Share in Rs. Dividend

Brokerage Income & Related Income

2 4 . 2 9 3 4 2 6 1 8

N . A

6 3 7 3 2 1 9 1 5 6 8 0 1

Net Current Assets Deferred Tax Assets1 9 8 1 9 3 6 2 5 8 9 4

Misc. Expenditure N I LAccumulated Losses N I L

6 0 4 7 8 0 0

ESOP 7 1 2 5

Rights Issue N I L

State Code 1 1

N I L

Equity Warrants Application 5 9 7 7 0 0

N I L

1 1 8 0 1 9 5 2

9 3 2 7 5 4 7

Secured Loans Unsecured LoansN I L 1 3 0 5 6 7 6

Equity Warrants 5 9 7 7 0 0

As per our attached report of even date

For Sharp & Tannan Associates For India Infoline Limited
Chartered Accountants
By the hand of

Tirtharaj Khot Nirmal Jain R. Venkataraman Kapil Krishan Nimish Mehta
Partner Managing Director Executive Director Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Membership No. 37457

Place : Mumbai
Dated : April 26, 2008

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile

Balance Sheet Abstract and Company’s General Business Profile
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Consolidated Auditors’ Report

We have examined the attached Consolidated Balance Sheet of

India Infoline Ltd and (1) Consolidated financial statements of

India Infoline Investments Services Ltd, for its subsidiaries (a)

India Infoline Distribution Company Ltd; (b) India Infoline

Housing Finance Ltd, (c) Moneyline Credit Ltd; (2) Consolidated

financial statements of India Infoline Marketing Services Ltd, for

its subsidiaries (a) India Infoline Insurances Services Ltd, (b)

India Infoline Insurance Brokers Ltd, (3) India Infoline

Commodities Ltd, (4) India Infoline Media and Research

Services Ltd, (5) India Infoline Commodities DMCC, (6) IIFL

Capital Ltd (7) IIFL Wealth Management Ltd (8) IIFL Realty Ltd

(9) IIFL Ventures Ltd (10) IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd (11) IIFL Inc.

(collectively referred to as the Group), as at March 31 2008, the

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account for the year ended on that

date annexed thereto, and the Consolidated Cash Flow

Statement for the year ended on that date. These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial

statement based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards

generally accepted in India. Those standards require that we

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material

respects, in accordance with an identified financial reporting

framework and are free of material misstatements. An audit also

includes examining, on test basis, evidence supporting the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit

also includes assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, as well as

evaluating the overall financial statements. We believe that our

audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In respect of the financial statements of subsidiaries incorporated

outside India namely IIFL Inc., IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd, and India

Infoline Commodities DMCC, we have not carried out the audit.

Of the above, the financial statements of India Infoline

Commodities DMCC, have been audited by other auditor, whose

report has been furnished to us. In case of remaining two

companies, the financial statements have been reviewed by the

management and therefore, insofar as it relates to the amounts

included in respect of these subsidiaries, the same are based

solely on the report of the other auditor and financial statements

reviewed by the management. The details of Assets and

Revenue in respect of these subsidiaries to the extent to which

they are reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements are

given below:

Amount in Rs.

Name of Foreign Subsidiaries Total Assets Total Revenues

A. Audited by other Auditor

India Infoline Commodities 

DMCC 1,01,19,410 75,53,136

B. Reviewed by Management

IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd 26,86,43,847 8,83,42,654

IIFL Inc. 28,18,566 NIL

We report that the consolidated financial statements have been

prepared by the Company in accordance with the requirement of

the Accounting Standard (AS) 21, “Consolidated Financial

Statement”, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of

India, and on the basis of the separate audited financial

statements of the Group included in the consolidated financial

statements.

We report that on the basis of the information and explanation

given to us and on the separate audit report on individual

audited financial statements of the Group, we are of the opinion

that the consolidated financial statements, read together with

significant accounting policies and notes appearing thereon, give

true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles

generally accepted in India:

a) in the case of Consolidated Balance Sheet, of the state of

affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2008;

b) in case of Consolidated Profit and Loss Account, of the profit

of the Group for the year ended on that date; and

c) in the case of the Consolidated Cash Flow Statements, of the

consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended on

that date. 

Sharp & Tannan Associates 

Chartered Accountants

By the hand of 

Place: Mumbai Tirtharaj Khot 

Date: April 26, 2008 Partner

Membership No.: 37457

To the Members,  
INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

As per our attached report of even date

For Sharp & Tannan Associates For India Infoline Limited

Chartered Accountants

By the hand of

Tirtharaj Khot Nirmal Jain R. Venkataraman Kapil Krishan Nimish Mehta

Partner Managing Director Executive Director Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Membership No. 37457

Place : Mumbai

Dated : April 26, 2008

Schedule As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

SOURCES OF FUNDS

Shareholders' funds

Share Capital A 571,029,330 501,671,980

Reserves and Surplus B 16,540,283,885 2,705,022,995

Equity Share Warrants C 597,700,000 17,709,013,215 44,200,000 3,250,894,975 

Loan Funds

Minority Interest 115,513,129

Secured Loan D 1,000,000,000 1,454,077,886

Unsecured Loan E 5,650,042,970 6,650,042,970 362,696,475 1,816,774,361

Total 24,474,569,314 5,067,669,336

APPLICATION OF FUNDS

Goodwill (On Consolidation) 1,292,501 1,292,501

Fixed Assets (Including Intangibles) F

Gross Block 1,473,588,527 918,359,961

Less : Depreciation and Amortisation (495,663,768) (301,105,702)

Net Block 977,924,759 617,254,259

Capital work-in-progress 1,214,123,802 2,192,048,561 – 617,254,259

Investments G 9,908,520,372 264,485,121

Deferred Tax Assets 88,954,297 8,676,191

Less: Deferred Tax Liabilities (347,999) 88,606,298 (2,379,725) 6,296,466

Current Assets, Loans and Advances H 

Sundry Debtors 3,854,751,901 1,846,320,606

Cash and Bank Balances 3,564,754,503 1,266,759,432

Stock on Hand 13,085,124 –

Loans and Advances 12,713,491,213 4,089,784,724

20,146,082,741 7,202,864,762

Less : Current Liabilities & Provisions I

Current Liabilities 6,014,283,254 2,343,633,758

Provisions 1,919,978,011 680,890,015

7,934,261,265 3,024,523,773

Net Current Assets 12,211,821,476 4,178,340,989

Miscellaneous Expenditure (To the extent not written off) 72,280,106 –

Total 24,474,569,314 5,067,669,336

Significant Accounting policies and notes to Accounts N 

(Amount in Rupees)
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

As per our attached report of even date

For Sharp & Tannan Associates For India Infoline Limited

Chartered Accountants

By the hand of

Tirtharaj Khot Nirmal Jain R. Venkataraman Kapil Krishan Nimish Mehta

Partner Managing Director Executive Director Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Membership No. 37457

Place : Mumbai

Dated : April 26, 2008

Schedule 2007-2008 2006-2007

INCOME 
Equity brokerage & related income 5,896,589,460 2,313,537,976 
Financing & investing 1,937,463,082 352,399,150 
Life insurance agency income 1,065,489,201 592,936,058 
Online & other media income 782,916,367 645,115,915
Mutual funds distribution, etc. 190,915,924 150,092,004 
Commodities brokerage 166,389,995 120,310,658
Merchant banking income 161,449,815 28,200,000
Other Income J 34,672,969 54,688,687

10,235,886,813 4,257,280,449
EXPENDITURE
Direct cost K 2,169,754,090 917,843,164
Employee cost L 2,425,742,810 1,063,100,922
Administration & other expense M 1,615,279,088 863,696,501
Interest 912,581,498 117,120,194
Depreciation and amortisation 282,036,977 149,202,302
Preliminary expenses 2,960,767 303,500

7,408,355,230 3,111,266,583
Profit before tax 2,827,531,583 1,146,013,866
Less:  Provision for taxation - Current 948,281,959 367,040,488 

- Fringe benefit tax 25,121,208 18,983,844 
- Deferred tax (net) (82,323,404) 3,833,503
- Short or excess provision of income tax 6,879,290 –

Net profit after tax 1,929,572,530 756,156,031
Exceptional item (Net of Tax) (290,444,000) –
Profit after tax after exceptional item 1,639,128,530 –
Less : Minority Interest (40,359,099) –
Net profit after tax for available appropriation 1,598,769,431 756,156,031
APPROPRIATIONS
Dividend

- Interim dividend – 149,612,079
- Proposed final dividend 342,617,598 –

Dividend distribution tax
- Interim dividend – 20,983,095
- Proposed final dividend 58,227,861 –

Transfer to general reserve 131,000,000 53,000,000
Transfer to special reserve 63,200,000 18,517,079
Add Brought forward loss of Moneytree Consultancy Services Pvt. Ltd. – 1,928,036
Balance of profit brought forward from previous year 809,528,716 293,556,902
Balance of profit carried forward 1,813,252,688 809,528,716
Earning Per Share before exceptional item - Basic 35.65 16.32 

- Diluted 29.56 14.95
Earning Per Share after exceptional item - Basic 30.17 16.32 

- Diluted 25.01 14.95
Face Value per Share 10.00 10.00
Significant Accounting policies and notes to Accounts N 

(Amount in Rupees)
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As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

Authorised

100,000,000 (Previous Year - 80,000,000) Equity Shares of Rs.10 each 1,000,000,000 800,000,000 

Issued, Subscribed and Paid Up

57,102,933 (Previous Year - 50,167,198) Equity Shares of Rs.10 each fully paid -up 571,029,330 501,671,980 

Total 571,029,330 501,671,980 

Schedule – A SHARE CAPITAL

(Amount in Rupees)

Securities Premium Account

Opening Balance 1,783,694,414 1,124,870,894 

Addition during the year 12,564,222,931 658,823,520

Closing Balance 14,347,917,345 1,783,694,414

General Reserves : 

Opening Balance 83,000,000 30,000,000

Addition during the year 131,000,000 53,000,000

Closing Balance 214,000,000 83,000,000

Special Reserves :

Opening Balance 18,517,079 –

Addition during the year 63,200,000 18,517,079

Closing Balance 81,717,079 18,517,079

Employee Stock Options Outstanding 242,814,500 48,375,000

Less : Deferred Employee Compensation Expenses (171,872,823) (37,407,790)

Closing Balance 70,941,677 10,967,210

Foreign Exchange Fluctuation Reserve

Opening Balance (587,955) –

Addition during the year 13,139,520 –

Closing Balance 12,551,565 (587,955)

Profit and Loss Account 1,813,252,688 809,528,716

Preacquisition profit of Moneyline Credit Ltd. (96,469) (96,469)

Total 16,540,283,885 2,705,022,994 

Schedule – B RESERVES AND SURPLUS

Equity Share Warrants (Application money received against Equity Warrants) 597,700,000 44,200,000

Schedule – C EQUITY SHARE WARRANTS

Overdraft from Banks (Secured against pledging of fixed deposits) – 150,974,080

Overdraft from Banks (Secured against margins & collaterals) – 389,342,608

Loan from Others (Secured against pledge of shares) – 913,761,198

Secured Non-Convertible Redeemable Zero Coupon Debentures (NCDs) 1,000,000,000 –

(Secured Against Immovable Property Stock & Book Debts)

Total 1,000,000,000 1,454,077,886 

Schedule – D SECURED LOANS

1% Optionally Convertible Bonds – 100,112,631

Commercial Papers 3,700,000,000 –

Non Convertible Debentures 1,948,480,346 262,583,844

Others 1,562,624 –

Total 5,650,042,970 362,696,475 

Schedule – E UNSECURED LOANS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Balance Sheet
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(Amount in Rupees)

GROSS BLOCK (AT COST) DEPRECIATION NET BLOCK 

Assets As at Additions Deductions As at Upto For the Deductions Upto As at As at

31.03.2007 31.03.2008 31.03.2007 year 31.03.2008 31.3.2008 31.3.2007

Tangible Assets

Computers 310,025,211 298,517,225 99,717,911 508,824,525 136,683,976 126,786,330 48,902,217 214,568,089 294,256,436 173,341,235 

Electrical Equipment 63,742,580 78,318,277 23,600,181 118,460,676 12,664,731 18,133,388 3,364,210 27,433,909 91,026,767 51,077,850 

Furniture & Fixture 343,704,368 272,029,737 116,903,167 498,830,938 73,505,751 83,819,583 27,679,643 129,645,691 369,185,247 270,198,617 

Office Equipment 139,954,731 138,535,051 31,712,658 246,777,124 39,934,062 36,967,361 7,532,841 69,368,582 177,408,542 100,020,668 

Premises 14,219,920 14,219,920 529,623 529,623 13,690,297 –

Vehicles 766,699 766,699 766,698 766,698 1 1 

Sub Total 858,193,589 801,620,210 271,933,917 1,387,879,882 263,555,218 266,236,285 87,478,911 442,312,592 945,567,290 594,638,371 

Intangible Assets

Software 32,780,290 25,542,273 58,322,563 22,417,576 11,716,300 34,133,876 24,188,687 10,362,714 

Non Compete fees 27,386,082 27,386,082 15,132,908 4,084,392 19,217,300 8,168,782 12,253,174 

Sub Total 60,166,372 25,542,273 – 85,708,645 37,550,484 15,800,692 – 53,351,176 32,357,469 22,615,888 

Grand Total 918,359,961 827,162,483 271,933,917 1,473,588,527 301,105,702 282,036,977 87,478,911 495,663,768 977,924,759 617,254,259 

Previous Year 370,429,500 569,371,213 28,404,871 911,395,837 156,303,379 149,202,304 11,364,103 294,141,578 617,254,259

Schedule – F FIXED ASSETS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Schedule – G INVESTMENTS
Unquoted, Non - Trade, Current  
(valued At cost or market value whichever is lower)
1) Birla Sunlife Mutual Fund

BSL Interval Income - Instl Dividend, 
NAV Rs.10.0083 10 25,158,913 251,797,945 – –
Birla Income Plus Plan B : Growth 
NAV Rs.34.66  (P.Y. Rs.30.29) (P.Y.3724.86) 10 3,724.86 102,000 3,724.86 102,000 
Birla Mid-Cap Fund Plan B : Growth 
NAV Rs.79.67 (P.Y. Rs.60.03) 10 5,457.99 115,000 5,457.99 115,000 

2) Kotak Mutual Fund
Kotak Flexi Debt Scheme - (Daily 
Dividend Reinvestment) NAV Rs.10.0311 10 49,992,289 501,477,651 – –

3) Reliance Mutual Fund
Liquid Plus Fund-institutional option - (Daily 
Dividend Reinvestment) NAV Rs.1001.1364 1,000 1,332,132 1,333,646,190 – –
Liquidity Fund - daily dividend Reinvestment 
Option, NAV Rs.10.0031 10 3,413,157 34,142,149 – –
Reliance Fixed Horizon - Inst. Dividend, 
NAV Rs.10.0128 10 150,011,410 1,502,034,247 – –

4) Canara Robeco Mutual Fund
Canara Robeco Multicap Dividend Plan - 
Payout NAV Rs. 11.52 (P.Y. : 9.94) 10 50,000 500,000 50,000 500,000 

5) LIC Mutual Fund
Liquid Fund - Dividend Plan, 
NAV Rs.10.9801 (P.Y:10.9801) 10 42,134 462,639 39,639.09 435,241 

6) JM Financial Mutual Fund
JM Interval Fund - Inst.Dividend Plan, 
NAV Rs.10.0112 10 25,103,919 251,320,352 – –

7) Mirae Mutual Fund
Mirae Asset Liquid Fund - Inst.Dividend, 
NAV Rs.1001.3985 1,000 499,900 500,599,377 – –

8) Tata Mutual Fund
TATA Dynamic Bond Fund - Dividend, 
NAV Rs.10.5204 10 95,569,845 1,005,432,999 – –
TATA Fixed Income Fund - Daily Dividend, 
NAV Rs.10.0280 10 50,193,814 503,343,569 – –

9) Certificates of Deposit
Andhra Bank 100,000 20,000 1,826,764,831 – –
UCO Bank 100,000 20,000 1,833,231,424 – –

9,544,970,373 1,152,241 

Face Value Number Amount Number Amount

As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007
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Face Value Number Amount Number Amount

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Schedule – G INVESTMENTS (Contd..)
Quoted, Non - Trade, Current  

(valued At cost or market value whichever is lower)

Equity Shares 

Nirlon Ltd.                                                     10 700,000 46,479,999 – –

Gayatri Projects Ltd.                               10 – – 90,000 20,713,500 

Mangalam Cement Ltd.                                  10 – – 40,000 5,480,000 

Nirlon Ltd.                                                     10 – – 50,000 2,702,500 

Opto Circuits India Ltd.                                             10 – – 5,548 1,650,530 

Tanla Solution Ltd.                                   2 – – 20,000 6,972,000 

Tech Mahindra Ltd. 10 – – 5,000 7,135,500 

Voltamp Transformer Ltd.                        10 – – 3,000 1,808,850 

46,479,999 46,462,880 

Un-Quoted, Non Trade, Long Term (valued at cost) 

1) 16 % Debenture of Ordyn Technology Pvt. Ltd.

Series A Non Convertible Debentures 100 1,500,000 150,000,000 1,500,000 150,000,000 

Series B Optionable Convertible Debentures 100 500,000 50,000,000 500,000 50,000,000 

2) India Infoline Private Equity Fund (Trust) 100,200,000 –

300,200,000 200,000,000 

Un-Quoted, Trade, Long Term (valued at cost) 

1) Equity Shares of Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd 

includes written down value of the Membership card 1 10,000 16,870,000 10,000 16,870,000 

Total Investments 9,908,520,372 264,485,121 

As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

(Amount in Rupees)

As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

A) Current Assets

I) Sundry Debtors (Unsecured, Considered good, unless otherwise stated)

Outstanding for a period exceeding six months 47,658,676 35,658,711

Considered doubtful 18,200,001 9,375,518 

Other Debts - Unsecured and considered good 3,807,093,225 1,810,661,895 

Provision for doubtful debts (18,200,001) (9,375,518)

3,854,751,901 1,846,320,606

II) Cash and Bank Balance

Cash on Hand 7,862,427 7,246,679 

Bank Balances

With Schedule Banks :

- in Current Accounts 1,349,996,818 436,737,142 

- in Fixed Deposits 1,921,526,104 817,995,996

With Other 

- in Current Accounts 14,880,056 4,779,615 

- in Fixed Deposits 270,489,098 –

3,564,754,503 1,266,759,432

Stock on Hand Qty Face Value

National Thermal Power Corporation Ltd 55,250 10 10,737,837 –

Bharat Petroleum Corporation Ltd 1,750 10 719,687 –

HCL Technologies Ltd. 6,500 2 1,627,600 –

13,085,124 –

B) Loans and Advances (Unsecured, Considered good, unless otherwise stated)

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received 617,553,849 97,879,833

Other Deposits 575,730,096 293,402,516

Advance Income Tax, Refund & Tax Deducted at Source 1,574,996,287 575,884,133

Loans 9,366,899,803 2,650,059,918

Other Loans & Advances 578,311,178 472,558,324

12,713,491,213 4,089,784,724 

Total 20,146,082,741 7,202,864,762 

Schedule – H CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND ADVANCES
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As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

A) Current Liabilities
i) Sundry Creditors

Total Outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises. –
Total Outstanding dues of creditors other then micro and small enterprises 3,206,111,233 1,985,396,565 

ii) Other Liabilities 2,808,172,021 357,061,432
iii) Income received in advance – 651,601 
iv) Interest accrued but not due – 524,160

6,014,283,254 2,343,633,758 
B) Provisions

Provision for taxation 1,472,286,146 659,966,154 
Provision for gratuity 21,969,669 11,636,959 
Provision for leave Encashment 24,876,737 9,286,902 
Proposed final dividend 342,617,598 –
Provision for dividend distribution tax 58,227,861 –

1,919,978,011 680,890,015
Total 7,934,261,265 3,024,523,773 

Schedule – I CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

(Amount in Rupees)

2007-2008 2006-2007

Share of profit in partnership firm 10,128,265 9,791,915 
Sub letting income – 10,030,628 
Miscellaneous income 24,544,704 34,866,144 
Total 34,672,969 54,688,687 

Schedule – J OTHER INCOME

Brokerage related Expenses 641,342,299 420,213,925 
Exchange and statutory Charges 1,095,773,998 358,392,696 
Marketing and commission expenses 382,303,464 121,848,771 
Investment and financing related cost 50,334,329 17,387,771
Total 2,169,754,090 917,843,164  

Schedule – K DIRECT COST

Salaries and bonus 2,217,225,872 967,782,112 
Contribution to provident Fund and other funds 69,195,330 45,044,560 
Gratuity 10,867,312 8,605,343 
Staff welfare expenses 68,479,829 30,701,697 
Deferred employee compensation expenses 59,974,467 10,967,210 
Total 2,425,742,810 1,063,100,922 

Schedule – L EMPLOYEE COST

Advertisement expenses 90,974,706 32,429,377 
Rent expenses 365,790,954 213,579,412 
Electricity expenses 88,011,052 41,480,455 
Communication expenses 322,332,822 210,939,808 
Postage and courier 47,544,962 19,966,467 
Printing and stationery 82,587,351 75,214,729 
Provision for doubtful debt 26,599,886 –
Bank charges 18,838,685 21,635,054 
Repairs and maintenance

Computers 1,707,050 9,996,442 
Others 22,457,637 24,164,687 7,169,895 

Travelling and conveyance 100,080,688 51,571,928 
Legal and professional charges 247,616,530 60,076,572 
Remuneration to auditors

Audit Fees 2,485,260 874,080 
Certification work and other matters 646,379 117,086 
Out of pocket expenses 132,419 3,264,058 208,800 

Office expenses 79,211,459 37,525,904 
Software charges 67,266,893 42,835,020 
Miscellaneous expenses 50,994,355 38,075,472 
Total 1,615,279,088 863,696,501 

Schedule – M ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
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Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008
and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Accounts

A. Significant Accounting Policies:  

1) Basis of Consolidation

a) Basis of Preparation:

The individual Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008 of India Infoline

Ltd (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries (‘companies and / or subsidiaries’), collectively referred to as ‘Group’, have been consolidated

as per principles of consolidation enunciated in Accounting Standard (AS) 21- ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ issued by the

Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

b) Principles of Preparation:

The financial statements of the group companies of India Infoline Ltd are prepared according to uniform accounting policies, in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in India. The effects of all inter-group transactions and balances have been

eliminated on consolidation.

c) List of Subsidiaries Consolidated:

The individual Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008 and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008 of following

subsidiaries are included in consolidation.

India Infoline Investment Services Ltd. and its subsidiaries 

India Infoline Marketing Services Ltd. and its subsidiaries

India Infoline Commodities Ltd. 

India Infoline Media and Research Services Ltd.

India Infoline Commodities DMCC

IIFL Wealth Management Ltd.

IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd. and its subsidiary

IIFL Capital Ltd.

IIFL Realty Ltd.

IIFL Ventures Ltd.

2) Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared under historical cost convention on an accrual basis

3) Use of Estimates

The presentation of financial statements in conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles requires estimates and assumptions

to be made that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities on the date of the financial statements, the reported amount of revenues

and expenses and the disclosures relating to contingent liabilities as of the date of the financial statements. Examples of such estimates

include the useful lives of fixed assets and intangible assets, provision for advances/ doubtful debts, etc. Actual results can differ from these

results. 

4) Revenue Recognition

a) Revenue from Online Media is recognised pro-rata, over the contractual /subscription period. 

b) Brokerage income earned on secondary market operations is accounted (inclusive method) on trade dates. Depository income is

accounted (inclusive method) on an accrual basis.

c) The revenue of commission on sale of non-equity investment instruments at the Company’s Investor Points or Online on its holding

Company’s website is recognised on submission of forms by the customers along with payment at Investor Point or Online, as the case

may be, provided that collection of the related recoverable, if any, is probable.

d) Insurance agency income on first year premium on insurance policies is recognised (inclusive method), when an insurance policy sold

by the Company is accepted by the principal insurance company. Renewal commission on policies is accounted for on receipt basis.

e) Brokerage income from commodities trading is accounted for on the dates of respective trades.

f) Mortgages and loan : 

Income and expenses are recognised on the accrual basis except to the extent mentioned herein

Future accrual of interest is suspended for accounts that are contractually delinquent by more than 90 days. Suspended income on

such accounts is recognised as and when collected.

Processing fees received from customers is recognised as income over the tenure of the loan by applying the IRR, implicit in the
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Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008
and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES (Contd..)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Accounts

Furniture and fixtures 5 years 

Computer equipment 3 years 

Non-Compete Fees 5 years

Software 3 years 

Office equipment 5 years 

Premises 20 years

6) Investments

Investments are classified into current and long-term investments. Current investments are stated at lower of cost or market value. Long-

term investments are carried at cost less provisions, if any, for permanent diminution in the value of such Investments.

7) Foreign Exchange Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the prevailing rates at the time transactions are effected. Foreign currency assets &

liabilities outstanding at the year-end are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on that day. Any gain or loss on transactions are

accounted in the Profit & Loss account. 

8) Retirement Benefits

The Company’s contribution towards Provident Fund and family pension fund is charged against revenue on actual basis.

The Company has provided Gratuity and leave encashment on the basis of actuarial valuation.

9) Deferred Employee Stock Compensation

The Company has formulated an Employees stock Option Scheme. The Scheme provides that employees are granted an option to acquire

equity shares of the Company that vests in a granted manner. The options may be exercised within a specified period. The Company follows

the intrinsic value method as prescribed by the guidance note on “Accounting for stock options” issued by the Institute of chartered

accountants of India (“ICAI”) to account for its stock-based employees compensation plans. 

10) Leases

Lease rentals in respect of operating lease arrangements are charged to the Profit & Loss Account on accrual basis in accordance with

Accounting Standard 19 – Leases, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

agreement on the diminishing balance of the financed amount, so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment

outstanding on the contracts. The unamortised balance is being disclosed as part of current liabilities. However, if the case is

foreclosure or written off, unamortised portion of such processing fee is recognised as income at the time of such foreclosure or write-

off.

Dealer / agent commission paid or payable is recognised as expense over the tenure of the loan by applying the IRR, implicit in the

agreement on the diminishing balance of the financed amount, so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment

outstanding on the contracts. The unamortised balance is being disclosed as part of loans and advances. However, if the case is

foreclosed /written off, the unamortised portion of such dealer / agent commission is recognised as charge to the Profit and Loss

Account at the time of such foreclosure or write-off.

Loan acquisition costs such as credit verification, front end sales and processing, agreement stamping and incentives of the sales

personnel, other than dealer / agent commission stated above, are recognised as expense over the tenor of the loan by applying the

IRR, implicit in the agreement on the diminishing balance of the financed amount so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return

on the net investment outstanding on the contracts. The unamortised balance is being disclosed as part of loans and advances.

However, if the case is foreclosed or written off, the unamortised portion of such loan acquisition costs, is recognised as charge to the

Profit and Loss Account at the time of such foreclosure or write-off.

5) Fixed Assets and Depreciation

Fixed assets are stated at cost of acquisition less accumulated depreciation thereon. Depreciation is charged using the straight line method

based on the useful life of fixed assets as estimated by the management as specified below, or the rates specified in accordance with the

provisions of schedule XIV of the Companies Act, 1956, which-ever is higher. 

Depreciation is charged from the quarter in which new assets are acquired. No depreciation is charged from the quarter in which assets are

sold.

Individual assets costing less than Rs.5,000/- has been depreciated in full in the year of purchase. 

Estimated useful life of the assets is as under:
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Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008
and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Accounts

11) Taxes on Income

Provision for current tax is computed in accordance with relevant tax regulations. 

Deferred tax is recognised for all timing differences between accounting income & taxable income and is quantified using enacted /

substantively enacted tax rates as at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised subject to the management judgment that

the realisation is virtually / reasonably certain. 

12) Preliminary Expenses

Preliminary Expenses are written off in the financial year in which it is incurred.

B. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1) Interest expenses include the interest on Debentures Rs. 328,978,466/- (previous year Rs. 205,639,725) and Discount on Commercial

paper Rs. 182,084,744 /- (previous year nil).

2) The Company shares with its subsidiaries, certain premises, infrastructure and other services and the same are termed as ‘Shared Services’.

Hitherto, such shared services consisting of administrative and other revenue expenses paid for by the Company were identified and

recovered from subsidiaries based on a reasonable management estimates in accordance with Board Resolution passed in this regard from

time to time.  These are constantly refined in the light of additional knowledge gained relevant for such estimation. During the year ended

March 31, 2008, these expenses are recovered on an actual basis and the estimates are used only where actuals were difficult to determine. 

3) Employee Stock Option Scheme (ESOS/ ESOP)

The Company during the financial year 1999-2000 had announced an Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP 2000), which provided for grant

of share options to employees of the Company. The plan had reserved a total of 815,000 shares (2,445,000 shares after giving effect to

Bonus shares) The Company has granted the options in three tranches being 1,137,000 options on March 1, 2000; 979,250 options on

April 1, 2003, and finally 694,200 options on October 1, 2004 from the ESOPs including lapsed options from the earlier offerings. As on

date 2,000 options are in force and 299,340 options have lapsed. No further option shall be granted under the said scheme (ESOP 2000)

in terms of the disclosures made in the prospectus dated April 11, 2005 issued by the Company.  

The Company pursuant to approval of “Employee Stock Option Plan 2005” (ESOP 2005) at the Extra ordinary General Meeting of the

shareholders of the Company held on January 25, 2006 provided for issue of 2,500,000 options entitling to 2,500,000 shares to the

employees of the Company and its subsidiaries including directors of the Company (except an employee or director who is a promoter or

belongs to the promoter group or a director who either by himself or through his relatives or through anybody corporate, directly or indirectly

holds more than10% of the outstanding equity shares of the Company at any time) whether in India or at overseas location, during the year

the Company has granted 1,000,000 options (in addition to 1,500,000 options granted earlier) including lapsed options from the earlier

offerings under this plan.

The Company pursuant to approval of “Employee Stock Option Scheme 2007” (ESOP 2007) at the Extra ordinary General Meeting of the

shareholders of the Company held on October 20, 2007 provided for issue of 1,500,000 options entitling to a total of 1,500,000 shares

to the employees of the Company and its subsidiaries including directors of the Company (except an employee or director who is a promoter

or belongs to the promoter group or a director who either by himself or through his relatives or through anybody corporate, directly or

indirectly holds more than10% of the outstanding equity shares of the Company at any time) whether in India or at overseas location, during

the year the Company has granted 655,000 options under this plan.

4) Upon conversion of 1,000 1% Optionally Convertible Bonds by DSP Merill Lynch Capital Ltd, the Company has allotted 588,235 equity

shares on June, 2007.

5) 2,600,000 equity share were allotted upon conversion of equity warrants issued to promoters in February, 2006. 

6) Pursuant to the approval of shareholders, at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on January 17, 2008 the Company

has issued 3,700,000 equity shares on preferential basis to Orient Global Tamarind Fund Pte. Ltd. at a price of Rs.1,500 per share.

7) During the year, with a view to consolidate the shareholdings of all the finance subsidiary companies and focus expansion the Company

transferred its investments in financial subsidiary companies viz., India Infoline Distribution Company Ltd, Moneyline Credit Ltd and India

Infoline Housing Finance Ltd to India Infoline Investment Services Ltd (subsidiary company).

8) During the year, with a view to focus expansion of the insurance business, the Company transferred its investments in insurance subsidiary

companies viz., India Infoline Insurance Services Ltd and India Infoline Insurance Brokers Ltd to India Infoline Marketing Services Ltd

(subsidiary company).

9) During the year, the Company has formed new subsidiaries as mentioned below.
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Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008
and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES (Contd..)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Accounts

Particulars 2007-2008 2006-2007

Depreciation 15,728,100 (247,417)

On Gratuity 6,743,650 3,954,289

Provision for doubtful debts 11,548,239 2,506,938

Preliminary Expenses 560,341 82,656

Other 54,025,968 –

Total 88,606,298 6,296,466

(Amount in Rupees)

14) The Company has neither received any notice / order / demand from any statutory authorities nor there do any instance of non-compliance

with requirements of regularity authorities that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance except

the following :-

a) India Infoline Ltd has received Demand notice issued by Income Tax Department under section 156 of IT Act, 1961 amounting to Rs.

3,413,731 for A.Y 2005-2006. The Company has filed an appeal with the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal against the said demand. 

b) India Infoline Ltd has received intimation under section 143(1) of the IT Act, 1961 in respect of A.Y. 2006-2007, demanding a sum of

Rs. 13,704,418. The Company is in process of filing application for rectification of the said intimation under section 154 of Income Tax

Act, 1961.

c) India Infoline Distribution Company Ltd has received intimation under section 143(1) of the IT Act, 1961 in respect of A.Y. 2006-2007,

demanding a sum of Rs. 18,868,113. The Company is in process of filing application for rectification of the said intimation under section

154 of Income Tax Act, 1961.

10) The Company has adopted the revised accounting standard AS-11,”The effects of changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” issued by the ICAI

for consolidating its investment in foreign subsidiary. As required by the standard, the exchange gain/loss on translation of financial

statements of the foreign subsidiary for the purpose of consolidation is taken to Foreign Currency Translation Reserve and disclosed

separately in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

11) At balance sheet date, there were outstanding commitments for capital expenditure  to the tune of RS. 4,83,21,709  of the total contractual

obligation entered during the year.

12) Deferred Tax Asset

Name of Subsidiary Amount invested Nature of Business

India Infoline Marketing Services Ltd. 610,700,000 Holding company of insurance activities

IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd 199,760,872 Financial services activities in Asia

IIFL Wealth Management Ltd. 12,500,000 Wealth Management activities for HNI

IIFL Realty Ltd.* 500,500,000 Invest  in real estate infrastructure

IIFL Ventures Ltd.* 500,000 Invest in venture capital activities

IIFL Capital Ltd.* 500,000 Newly formed company

*These subsidiaries have not commenced operations till March 31, 2008

(Amount in Rupees)

13) The Company has taken office premises on operating lease at various locations. Lease rent in respect of the same have been charged to

Profit and Loss account. The agreements are executed for a period ranging from one to five years with a renewable clause. Some agreements

have a clause for a minimum lock-in period. The minimum Lease rentals outstanding as at March 31, 2008, are as under:

Minimum Lease Rentals 2007-2008 2006-2007

Due for

- Upto one year 19,266,835 44,517,741

- One to five years 212,198,256 20,377,000

- Over five years 70,000 –

Total 231,535,091 64,894,741

(Amount in Rupees)
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Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008
and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Accounts
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

15) Segment Reporting
Segment information for the year ended March 31, 2008. Primary segment information (by business segment)

(Amount in Rupees)
Equity Life

Sl. brokerage and Financing insurance Online & other Commodities

No. Particulars related income income  agency income media  brokerage Others Total 

I Segment Revenue

External 6,248,955,197 1,937,463,083 1,065,489,201 782,916,367 166,389,995 34,672,969 10,235,886,813

(2,463,629,980) (281,784,526) (592,936,058) (645,115,915) (120,310,658) (153,503,312) (4,257,280,449)

Inter-segment 

Total Revenue 6,248,955,198 1,937,463,083 1,065,489,201 782,916,367 166,389,995 34,672,969 10,235,886,814

(2,463,629,980) (281,784,526) (592,936,058) (645,115,915) (120,310,658) (153,503,312) (4,257,280,449)

ii Segment Result 2,219,970,028 599,502,815 32,816,940 86,447,877 10,675,056 16,294,439 2,965,707,155

(590,279,466) (141,783,011) (220,242,943) (372,239,291) (27,213,471) (155,338,467) (1,507,096,649)

Less: Unallocated Expenses 366,549,180

(297,137,444)

Operating Profit 2,219,970,028 599,502,815 32,816,940 86,447,877 10,675,056 16,294,439 2,599,157,978

(590,279,466) (141,783,011) (220,242,943) (372,239,291) (27,213,471) (155,338,467) (1,209,959,205)

Interest Expense 211,626,394

(63,945,339)

Profit before Tax 2,387,531,581

(1,146,013,866)

Less: Current Tax 748,403,052

(389,857,835)

Net Profit after Tax 1,639,128,529

(756,156,031)

iii Segment Assets 9,546,877,818 19,170,118,483 697,218,150 717,666,575 255,994,963 1,517,169,492 31,905,045,481

(2,387,631,608) (3,020,468,852) (469,613,422) (241,111,521) (173,115,252) (1,390,411,386) (7,682,352,040)

Unallocated Corporate assets 503,759,755

(412,220,797)

Total Assets 32,408,805,235

(8,094,572,837)

iv Segment Liabilities 17,595,660,270 11,006,758,728 697,218,150 1,876,721,537 235,994,963 70,592,703 31,482,946,351

(2,382,081,517) (1,015,025,336) (11,669,075) (107,898,117) (194,288,503) (7,322,696) (3,718,285,244)

Unallocated Corporate 925,858,885

Liabilities (1,125,392,618)

Total Liabilities 32,408,805,235

(4,843,677,862)

v Capital Expenditure 429,300,174 9,279,564 81,322,012 38,140,880 – 1,193,974,538 1,752,017,168

(427,276,449) (201,769) (100,317,570) – (40,900) (16,972,505) (544,809,193)

Unallocated Capital 104,824,845

Expenditure (24,562,020)

Total Capital Expenditure 1,856,842,013

(569,371,213)

vi Depreciation 194,396,457 1,560,835 13,956,865 26,240,205 343,603 236,497,965

(93,085,366) (30,265) (12,885,746) – (391,902) (13,079,923) (119,473,202)

Unallocated Depreciation 45,539,013

(29,729,100)

Total Depreciation 282,036,978

(149,202,302)

vii Non-Cash expenditure

other than depreciation
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Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES

Disclosure of Transactions with related parties

Notes:

i) Figures in brackets indicate previous year figures.

ii) The transaction between group companies comprise of extension and return of temporary advances of funds, allocation of

expenses, reimbursement of expenses, etc as identified by the Company’s management from the Holding / Subsidiary Company’s

Current Account. 

(Amount in Rupees)
Nature of Transaction Key Managerial Others Related Total

Personnel Parties

Creditors 4,697 439 4,697

– – –

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Accounts
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

16) Related Party Disclosures for the year ended March 31, 2008

a) Name of the Related parties with whom transactions have been entered during the year and description of relationship.

i) Key Management Personnel         

Key Management Personnel Directorship Held

Mr. Nirmal Jain India Infoline Limited and its all subsidiaries (except Moneyline Credit Ltd., 
India Infoline Media and Research Services Ltd. and IIFL Inc.)

Mr. R. Venkataraman India Infoline Limited and its all subsidiaries (except Moneyline Credit Ltd., 
India Infoline Media and Research Services Ltd., IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd. and 
IIFL Inc.)

Mrs. Madhu Jain Wife of Mr. Nirmal Jain
Mrs. Aditi Venkataraman Wife of Mr. R. Venkataraman

ii) Other related Parties       

b) Disclosure of Transactions with related parties (Amount in Rupees)
Nature of Transaction Key Managerial Others Related Total

Personnel Parties

Share Capital (Refer Schedule A) 358,739,610 83,260,390 442,000,000 

–   –   –   

Purchases of Securities & Commodities 49,860 95,483,701 95,533,561 

(121,122,003) (182,863,873) (303,985,876)

Sale of Securities & Commodities 315,366 95,120,868 95,436,234 

(119,021,705) (186,221,661) (305,243,366)

Brokerage Income 732 168,296 169,028 

(83,766) (133,125) (216,891)

Remuneration 21,158,091 –   21,158,091 

(16,717,500) (16,717,500)

Reimbursement of Expenses –   –   –   

(49,200) –   (49,200)
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Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008
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Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Account
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

Expenses Recognised in the Income Statement For the year

Current Service Cost 15,847,614

Interest Cost 2,177,382

Less: Actuarial gain 7,157,684

Expense Recognised in P& L 10,867,312

17) The Company is recognising and accruing the employee benefits as per accounting standard (AS) -15 On “Employee Benefits”
Details are given below:-

Assumptions For the year

Discount Rate Previous year 8.00%

Salary Escalation Previous year 5.00%

Discount Rate Current year 8.00%

Salary Escalation Current year 5.00%

The summary of Consolidated Financial Statements represents consolidation of accounts of the Company with its following subsidiaries,

as detailed below:

Subsidiary Proportion of ownership interest

31.03.2008 31.03.2007

India Infoline Media & Research Services Ltd. 100% 100%

India Infoline Commodities Ltd. 100% 100%

India Infoline Commodities DMCC. 100% 100%

IIFL Wealth Management Ltd. 100% –

IIFL Realty Ltd. 100% –

IIFL Ventures Ltd. 100% –

IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd. 100% –

IIFL Capital Ltd. 100% –

IIFL Inc. 100% –

India Infoline Marketing Services Ltd. 89% –

India Infoline Insurance Services Ltd. 89% 100%

India Infoline Insurance Brokers Ltd. 89% 100%

India Infoline Investment Services Ltd. 76.74% 100%

India Infoline Distribution Company Ltd. 76.74% 100%

India Infoline Housing Finance. Ltd. 76.74% 100%

Moneyline Credit Ltd. 76.74% 100%

Change in Benefit Obligation For the year

Liability at the beginning of the year 11,636,960

Interest Cost 2,177,382

Current Service Cost 15,847,614

Benefit Paid (534,603)

Less: Actuarial gain on obligations 7,157,684

Liability at the end of the year 21,969,669

Amount Recognised in the Balance Sheet For the year

Liability at the end of the year 21,969,669

Fair Value of Plan Assets at the end of the year –

Difference (21,969,669)

Amount Recognised in the Balance Sheet 21,969,669
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

Significant Accounting Policies and Significant Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2008
and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended March 31, 2008

Schedule – N SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES

19) Financing income includes Dividend on current investments of Rs. 235,727,8711 (previous year Rs. 7,943,917) and profit on sale of

investments Rs. 83,430,254 (previous year Rs. 40,511,619).

20) The Company purchased & redeemed units of various mutual funds during the year

Nature of Transaction For the year ended 31.03.2008 For the year ended 31.03.2007

Quantity (‘000) Value (Rs. Mn) Quantity Value (Rs. Mn)

Purchases 13,875,515 177,667 324,074 3,619 

Sales 13,474,237 171,782 324,035 3,618 

18) Basic and Diluted Earning per share [“EPS”] computed in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS) 20 ‘Earnings per share”

Particulars 2007-2008 2006-2007

Basic 

Profit after tax as per Profit and Loss account Before Exceptional items A 1,889,213,431 756,156,031 

Number of Shares Subscribed B 52,989,506 46,334,726 

Basic EPS (Rupees) A/B 35.65 16.32 

Profit after tax as per Profit and Loss account C 1,598,769,429 756,156,031 

Basic EPS (Rupees) C/B 30.17 16.32 

Diluted

Profit after tax as per Profit and Loss account Before Exceptional items A 1,889,213,431 760,598,084 

Number of Shares Subscribed 52,989,506 46,334,726 

Add : Potential Equity Shares on Account conversion of 

Employees Stock Options,Promoter warrants, OCB etc. 10,932,230 4,554,619 

Weighted Number of shares Outstanding B 63,921,736 50,889,345 

Diluted EPS (Rupees) A/B 29.56 14.95 

Profit after tax as per Profit and Loss account C 1,598,769,429 760,598,084 

Basic EPS (Rupees) C/B 25.01 14.95 

21) Exceptional item of Rs 290,444,000 (net of tax) relates to one time sign on bonus paid to senior management personnel inducted to

strengthen the Company’s institutional equities business.

22) There are no dues to micro & small enterprises (MSEs) outstanding for more than 45 days based on information available with the Company.

23) Figures pertaining to subsidiary companies have been reclassified wherever necessary to bring them in line with parent company’s financial

statements.

24) Figures for the previous year have been re-grouped, re-classified & re-arranged, wherever considered necessary.

As per our attached report of even date

For Sharp & Tannan Associates For India Infoline Limited

Chartered Accountants

By the hand of

Tirtharaj Khot Nirmal Jain R. Venkataraman Kapil Krishan Nimish Mehta

Partner Managing Director Executive Director Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Membership No. 37457

Place : Mumbai

Dated : April 26, 2008

Balance Sheet Reconciliation For the year

Opening Net Liability 11,636,960

Expense as above 10,867,312

Employers Contribution 534,603

Amount Recognised in Balance Sheet 21,969,669
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net profit before taxation, and extraordinary item  2,387,531,583 1,146,013,866 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation & Amortisation 282,036,977 149,202,302 

Provisions for gratuity 10,867,312 8,605,343 

Provisions for leave encashment 21,761,890 8,875,641 

Financing Income (1,937,463,082) (352,399,150)

Share of profit in partnership firm (10,128,265) (9,791,915)

Interest expense 912,581,498 86,400,452 

Operating profit before working capital changes  1,667,187,913 1,036,906,539 

(Increase) / Decrease in Sundry Debtors  (2,008,431,295) 1,732,755,497 

(Increase) / Decrease in Loans & Advances (8,540,672,451) (2,045,576,256)

Increase / (Decrease) in Provisions 1,206,458,794 (59,316,048)

Increase / (Decrease) in Current Liabilities 3,269,804,037 (144,584,737)

Cash generated from operations  (4,405,653,001) 520,184,994 

Cash Flow before Extraordinary Item (4,405,653,001) 520,184,994 

Tax (Paid) / Refund (999,112,154) (322,088,230)

Net cash from operating activities (5,404,765,155) 198,096,764 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Purchase of fixed assets  (1,831,289,006) (552,099,336)

Purchase of intangible assets (25,542,273) –

Purchase of Investments (9,644,035,251) (26,694,501)

Pre acquisition Profit on purchase of Moneyline Credit Ltd. – (96,469)

Share of profit in partnership firm 10,128,265 9,791,915 

Financing income 1,937,463,082 352,399,150 

Net cash from investing activities (9,553,275,183) (216,699,241)

(Amount in Rupees)
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INDIA INFOLINE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

As at 31.03.2008 As at 31.03.2007

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of share capital 6,054,924,950 709,486,990 

Conversion of Optionally Convertible Bonds (99,999,950) (699,999,990)

Issue of Warrants 597,700,000 –

Proceeds from issuance of minority share capital 6,609,609,361 –

Deferred employee compensation 59,974,467 10,967,210 

Foreign exchange fluctuation 13,139,520 (587,955)

(Repayment) / Proceeds of borrowings 4,933,268,559 713,220,068 

Dividend paid – (170,595,174)

Interest paid (912,581,498) (86,400,452)

Net cash used in financing activities 17,256,035,410 476,090,697 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,297,995,071 457,488,219 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period (see note 1) 1,266,759,432 809,271,213 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (see note 1) – –

Opening Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand and balances with banks 1,266,759,432 804,052,316 

Short-term investment – 5,218,897 

1,266,759,432 809,271,213 

Closing Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand and balances with banks 3,564,754,503 1,266,759,432 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,297,995,071 457,488,219 

1. Cash flow statement has been prepared under the Indirect Method as set out in the Accounting Standard (AS-3) "Cash Flow

Statement" issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

2. Previous year's figure are re -group/re-arranged wherever considered necessary.

(Amount in Rupees)

As per our attached report of even date

For Sharp & Tannan Associates For India Infoline Limited
Chartered Accountants
By the hand of

Tirtharaj Khot Nirmal Jain R. Venkataraman Kapil Krishan Nimish Mehta
Partner Managing Director Executive Director Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Membership No. 37457

Place : Mumbai
Dated : April 26, 2008
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